UC Berkeley UC Berkeley Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Biotransformation of Persistent Groundwater Contaminants: Trichloroethene and Poly- and Perfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs)

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/5g9813bv

Author Harding, Katie Colleen

Publication Date 2014

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

Biotransformation of Persistent Groundwater Contaminants: Trichloroethene and Poly- and Perfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs)

By

Katie Colleen Harding

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of

the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Engineering - Civil and Environmental Engineering

in the

Graduate Division

of the

University of California, Berkeley

Committee in charge:

Professor Lisa Alvarez-Cohen, Chair Professor David L. Sedlak Professor Mary K. Firestone

Fall 2014

Biotransformation of Persistent Groundwater Contaminants: Trichloroethene and Poly- and Perfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs)

© 2014

Katie Colleen Harding

Abstract

Biotransformation of Persistent Groundwater Contaminants: Trichloroethene and

Poly- and Perfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs)

by

Katie Colleen Harding

Doctor of Philosophy in Engineering - Civil and Environmental Engineering

University of California, Berkeley

Professor Lisa Alvarez-Cohen, Chair

Trichloroethene (TCE) is one of the most commonly detected groundwater contaminants in the United States and has been characterized by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency as carcinogenic to humans. Past TCE storage and disposal procedures following use in dry-cleaning operations and metal degreasing has resulted in numerous contaminated sites where TCE and chlorinated transformation products, such as dichloroethene (DCE) and vinyl chloride (VC), are detected in soil, groundwater, and air. Poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) are key constituents of aqueous film-forming foams (AFFFs) and are responsible for the surface tension reduction properties that facilitate rapid foam spreading over ignited liquid fuels. Various PFASs have been detected in the soil and groundwater of AFFF-impacted sites, while certain PFASs, such as the eight-carbon homologs perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) and perfluorosulfonic acid (PFOS), have been linked to adverse human health effects.

The use of AFFF to extinguish chlorinated solvent-fueled fires has led to the cocontamination of TCE and PFASs at sites where foam wastewater and fuel were allowed to infiltrate the subsurface. Historically, groundwater and soil remediation at these sites was optimized for achieving TCE reductive dechlorination to ethene. However, due to recent increases in activities for measuring and characterizing PFAS contamination, particularly in groundwater and soils beneath firefighter training sites, greater attention is being paid to the fate and transformation of PFASs, as well as their effects on TCE-dechlorinating microbial communities. The *in situ* biotransformation of AFFF-derived PFAS compounds and the effects of AFFF and PFAS transformation products on TCE bioremediation must be understood.

The biotransformation of a principle PFAS compound used in multiple AFFF formulations, fluorotelomer thioether amido sulfonate (FtTAoS), was investigated under aerobic conditions in soil microcosms amended with AFFF. The aerobic biotransformation pathways for 4:2, 6:2, and 8:2 FtTAoS were determined by direct LC-MS/MS quantification of intermediate and end products and through the characterization of previously unidentified intermediate products with high resolution MS measurements. FtTAoS was biotransformed under aerobic conditions to a fluorotelomer sulfonate, two fluorotelomer carboxylic acids, and a suite of

perfluorinated carboxylic acids. The detection of two intermediate compounds, corresponding to singly- and doubly-oxygenated species of FtTAoS, suggest that the first two reactions in the biotransformation pathways are sequential oxygen additions to the thioether group. This is likely followed by a third oxygenation and cleavage between the resulting sulfonate and the amidosulfonate group to form a fluorotelomer sulfonate. The perfluorinated carboxylic acids appear to be the end products of FtTAoS biotransformation and were persistent in live microcosms. An oxidative assay employing PFAS oxidation by hydroxyl radical was applied to microcosm samples to indirectly quantify the total concentration of polyfluorinated compounds present during FtTAoS biotransformation for closure of the mass balance. The assay produced a full mass recovery of PFAS oxidation products before and after complete FtTAoS biotransformation even though only 10% (mol/mol) of the initial amended FtTAoS was accounted for by directly-measured PFASs.

The effects of AFFF and various PFASs on anaerobic TCE dechlorination were investigated in a Dehalococcoides (Dhc)-containing microbial community that dechlorinated TCE to ethene. When AFFF formulations from three different manufacturers: 3M, National Foam, and Ansul were amended to the cuture's growth medium as the sole carbon and energy source, varying yet sufficient quantities of hydrogen and acetate were produced to support dechlorination during all three foam-amendments. However, TCE dechlorination only occurred under 3M AFFF amendment, while no dechlorination was observed under National Foam and Ansul AFFF amendments. All PFAS compounds were persistent in the anaerobic communities and did not transform biologically or abiotically. The degradation of diethylene glycol butyl ether (DGBE), the primary glycol ether solvent in most AFFFs, produced less hydrogen and acetate when amended alone than in AFFF-amended microcosms, suggesting that smaller quantities of other organic carbon substances in the foams, such as hydrocarbon surfactants, may be more easily fermentable. Amendment of 16 mg/L 6:2 fluorotelomer sulfonamido betaine (6:2 FtSaB) slowed TCE dechlorination while 32 mg/L FtSaB completely inhibited dechlorination, suggesting dechlorination did not occur in the National Foam AFFF-amended experiment due to the presence of its most abundant PFAS. In cultures amended with perfluroalkyl acids, 110 mg/L total perfluorosulfonic acids did not inhibit TCE dechlorination, while 110 mg/L total perfluorocarboxylic and perfluorosulfonic acids did, suggesting that inhibition is dependent on PFAS structure as well as concentration.

Carbon stable isotope analysis is a frequently employed tool used to confirm and quantify *in situ* bioremediation of PCE and TCE to ethene. The impact of growth condition on the carbon isotope fractionation of TCE by Dhc was investigated by quantifying fractionation while Dhc was grown in pure and co-cultures as well as in mixed communities. Enrichment factors were not significantly affected by changes in any of the tested growth conditions for the pure cultures, co-cultures or the mixed communities, indicating that despite a variety of temperature, nutrient, and co-factor-limiting conditions, carbon isotope fractionations remain consistent for given Dhc cultures. However, the fractionation factors for the pure and co-cultures were outside the range of those quantified for the mixed communities, indicating that the fractionation may be strain-dependant.

dedicated to my Dad

Table of Contents

LIST OF FIGURES	IV
LIST OF TABLES	VI
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	VII
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND OBJECTIVES	1
1.1 MOTIVATION	2
1.2 Research Objectives	3
1.3 BACKGROUND ON POLY- AND PERFLUOROALKYL SUBSTANCES (PFASS)	4
1.3.1 Fluorochemical types and uses	4
1.3.2 Human Health Effects and Toxicology	
1.3.3 Composition of AFFF and PFASs in AFFF	
1.3.4 Environmental Occurrence of PFASs Due to AFFF contamination	12
1.3.5 Biological Transformation of PFASs	13
1.4 BACKGROUND ON TRICHLOROETHENE	17
1.4.1 TCE Uses and Human Health Effects	17
1.4.3 Environmental Occurrence and Co-Contamination with AFFF	19
1.4.4 Anaerobic Biodegradation by Dehalococcoides organisms	20
1.4.5 Stable Carbon Isotope Fractionation	23
CHAPTER 2: AEROBIC BIOTRANSFORMATION OF FLUOROTELOMER THIOAMIDO	SULFONATE
IN AFFF-AMENDED MICROCOSMS	26
2.1 INTRODUCTION	27
2.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	28
2.2.1 Chemicals and Standards	28
2.2.2 Microcosm Set-up and Growth Conditions	29
2.2.3 LC/MS-MS and HRMS Analyses	30
2.2.4 Total Oxidizable Precursor Assay	31
2.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	32
2.3.1 Organic Carbon Disappearance and FtTAoS Biotransformation	32
2.3.2 Intermediate Product Identification	35
2.3.3 FtTAoS Biotransformation Pathways	36
2.3.4 Precursor Oxidation Assay and Mass Balance	38
2.4 Environmental Implications	40
CHAPTER 3: EFFECTS OF PERFLUOROALKYL ACIDS (PFAAS) ON TCE DECHLORINA	TION BY A
DEHALOCOCCOIDES ENRICHMENT CULTURE	41
3.1 INTRODUCTION	42
3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	43
3.2.1 PFAA Preparation and Aqueous Analysis	43
3.2.2 Reductive Dechlorination in the Presence of Soil	43
3.2.3 Reductive Dechlorination without Soil	44
3.2.4 Chloroethene, Hydrogen, and Methane Measurement	44
3.2.5 Cellular Preparation, Harvest, and Protein Measurements	45
3.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	46
3.3.1 Effect of PFAAs on Reductive Dechlorination in the Presence of Soil.	46
3.3.2 Effect of PFAAs on Reductive Dechlorination in Soil-Free Cultures.	48
3.3.3 Effect of PFAAs on Enrichment Culture Growth	49
3.4 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS	51

CHAPTER 4: EFFECTS OF AQUEOUS FILM-FORMING FOAM (AFFF) ON TCE DECHLO	RINATION
BY A DEHALOCOCCOIDES ENRICHMENT CULTURE	52
4.1 INTRODUCTION	53 54
4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	54 54
4.2.1 Chemiculs	54 55
4.2.2 Culture drowth conditions	57
4 3 RFSIII TS	57
4.3.1 AFFF Amendment Experiments	58
4.3.3 PFAS and AFFF Component Amendment Experiments	63
4.4 DISCUSSION	66
4.5 Environmental Implications	69
CHAPTER 5: EFFECTS OF VARYING GROWTH CONDITIONS ON TCE STABLE CARBO	N ISOTOPE
FRACTIONATION BY DEHALOCOCCOIDES CULTURES	70
5.1 INTRODUCTION	71
5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	73
5.2.1 Chemicals	73
5.2.2 Culture Growth Conditions	73
5.2.3 TCE Degradation Rate Calculation	74
5.2.4 Experimental Methods and Isotopic Quantification	74
5.2.5 Enrichment Factor Calculation	75
5.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	76
5.3.1 Effects of Growth Conditions on TCE Fractionation by Dhc195	79
5.3.2 Effects of Co-Culture Growth on TCE Fractionation by Dhc195	81
5.3.3 Effects of Growth Condition on TCE Fractionation by Enrichment Cultures	82
5.4 Environmental Implications	84
CHAPTER 6: SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	85
6.1 SUMMARY	86
6.2 BIOTRANSFORMATION OF FLUOROTELOMER THIOAMIDO SULFONATE IN AFFF	86
6.3 EFFECTS OF AFFF AND PFASS ON TCE DECHLORINATION	87
6.4 IMPACT OF VARYING GROWTH CONDITIONS ON TCE ISOTOPE FRACTIONATION	88
6.5 FUTURE RESEARCH RECOMMENDATIONS	88
REFERENCES	90
APPENDIX: CHAPTER 2	108
APPENDIX: CHAPTER 3	121
APPENDIX: CHAPTER 4	125
APPENDIX: CHAPTER 5	137

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: Structures of PFOA and PFOS	. 5
Figure 1.2: Structures of 6:2 FtS and 8:2 FtOH	.5
Figure 1.3: Structures of N-EtFOSE and FOSA	.6
Figure 1.4: Structure of diethylene glycol butyl ether (DGBE)	. 8
Figure 1.5: Structres of PFAS compounds in AFFF formulations	. 11
Figure 1.6: Proposed aerobic biotransformation pathway of 6:2 FtS	. 16
Figure 1.7: TCE reductive dechlorination pathways in Dehalococcoides	. 23
Figure 2.1A-C: 6:2, 8:2, and 4:2 FtTAoS biotransformation in aerobic soil microcosms	. 33
Figure 2.2A-C: FtS, FtCA, FtUCA, and PFCA production in aerobic soil microcosms	. 34
Figure 2.3A-B: LC/MS-MS responses of molecular ions 602 and 618	. 35
Figure 2.4: Proposed 4:2, 6:2, and 8:2 FtTAoS biotransformation pathways	. 37
Figure 2.5: Total oxidizable precursor assay results during FtTAoS biotransformation in	
live microcosms	. 39
Figure 3.1: Approximated K _{oc} values in dechlorinating microbial community with soil	. 46
Figure 3.2: TCE concentrations in soil Dhc cultures with and without PFAAs	. 47
Figure 3.3A-B: cDCE and vinyl chloride in soil Dhc cultures with and without PFAAs	. 48
Figure 3.4: TCE concentrations in soil-free Dhc cultures with and without PFAAs	. 49
Figure 3.5A-B: cDCE and vinyl chloride in soil-free Dhc cultures with and without PFAAs	. 49
Figure 3.6: Optical density and ATP in soil-free Dhc cultures with and without PFAAs	. 51
Figure 3.7: EPS concentrations in soil-free Dhc cultures with and without PFAAs	. 51
Figure 4.1A-D: TCE, cDCE, VC, and methane concentrations in	
AFFF-amended Dhc cultures	. 61
Figure 4.2A-B: Hydrogen and acetate concentrations in AFFF-amended Dhc cultures	. 62
Figure 4.3A-D: ICE, cDCE, VC, and ethene concentrations in DGBE-amended Dnc cultures	5 63
Figure 4.4A-C: Methane, hydrogen, and acetate concentrations in	61
DGBE-amended Dirc cultures	. 64
Figure 4.5: ICE concentrations in Dhe cultures amended with AFFF components	. 65
Figure 4.0. TCE concentrations in Drc cultures amended with PFAAs	. 00
Dhe pure and an aultures under verying growth conditions	70
Figure 5.2: Devloigh regression plot for stable earbon isotope fractionation by	. 19
Dhe anrichment cultures	70
Figure 5.2: Polationship between TCE anrichment factors and TCE degradation rate in	. 79
Dhe cultures	81
Figure A21: Headenage exugen concentrations in acrobic AFEF emended microacesms	110
Figure A2.2: Dissolved organic carbon in aerobic AFFE-amended microcosms	110
Figure A2.3: 1.2 and 8.2 EtS concentrations in aerobic AFFE-amended microcosms	113
Figure A2.3. 4.2 and 0.2 Its concentrations in acrobic AFFF-amended microcosms	113
Figure A2.5: 7:3 EtCA and 8:2 EtUCA concentrations in aerobic AFFF-amended microcosm	c114
Figure A2.6: 6:2 FtCA and 8:2 FtCA concentrations in aerobic AFFF-amended microcosms	114
Figure A2.7: Average LC/MS-MS response of molecular ion 586 in aerobic microcosms	115
Figure A2.8: Average LC/MS-MS response of molecular ion 686 in aerobic microcosms	115
Figure A2.9. Average LC/MS-MS response of molecular ion 702 in aerobic microcosms	116
Figure A2.10: Average LC/MS-MS response of molecular ion 718 in aerobic microcosms	116
Figure A2.11: LC/MS-MS chromatograph of m/z 586, 602, 628 in aerobic microcosms	. 117

Figure A2.12: LC/MS-MS chromatograph of m/z 702, 728 in aerobic microcosms	117
Figure A2.13: LC/MS-MS product ion scans of m/z 602 and 618 in aerobic microcosms	118
Figure A2.14: Proposed aerobic biotransformation pathway for 4:2 FtTAoS	119
Figure A2.15: Proposed aerobic biotransformation pathway for 8:2 FtTAoS	120
Figure A2.16: Total oxidizable precursor assay results in aerobic autoclaved microcosms	121
Figure A2.17: Total oxidizable precursor assay results in aerobic medium microcosms	121
Figure A3.1: PFAA concentrations before and after methanol evaporation	124
Figure A3.2: PFAA Methane concentration in PFAA-amended Dhc cultures	125
Figure A4.1: Ethene concentration in AFFF-amended Dhc cultures	127
Figure A4.2: Hydrogen production in AFFF-amended Dhc cultures	127
Figure A4.3: Dhc 16S rDNA gene quantification in AFFF-amended cultures	128
Figure A4.4A-B: Concentrations of PFAS compounds in live 3M AFFF-amended	
Dhc cultures	129
Figure A4.5: Concentrations of PFAS compounds in control 3M AFFF-amended	
Dhc cultures	130
Figure A4.6A-B: Concentrations of PFAS compounds in live and control National Foam	
AFFF-amended Dhc cultures	131
Figure A4.7A-B: Concentrations of PFAS compounds in live and control Ansul AFFF-amend	ded
Dhc cultures	132
Figure A4.8: Hydrogen production in DGBE-amended Dhc cultures	133
Figure A4.9A-C: Concentrations of cDCE, VC, and ethene in AFFF component-amended	
Dhc cultures	134
Figure A4.10A-B: Concentrations of methane and hydrogen in AFFF component-amended	
Dhc cultures	135
Figure A4.11A-C: Concentrations of cDCE, VC, and ethene in PFAA-amended Dhc cultures	136
Figure A4.12A-B: Concentrations of methane and hydrogen in PFAA-amended Dhc cultures	137
Figure A5.1-A5.13: Stable carbon isotope fractionation of TCE during different growth	
conditions and Rayleigh regression plots139-	-142
Figure A5.14: TCE concentration in Dhc pure and co-cultures	143
Figure A5.15: cDCE concentration in Dhc pure and co-cultures	143
Figure A5.16: VC concentration in Dhc pure and co-cultures	144
Figure A5.17: TCE concentration in Dhc enrichment cultures	145
Figure A5.18: cDCE concentration in Dhc enrichment cultures	145
Figure A5.19: VC concentration in Dhc enrichment cultures	146
Figure A5.20: Product isotope ratios during TCE dechlorination by LoTCEB12/Parent	146

List of Tables

Table 1.1: Composition of five AFFF formulations	8
Table 1.2: DGBE and organic carbon content of various AFFF formulations	9
Table 1.3: Chemical properties of TCE	17
Table 1.4: Previously-reported carbon isotope Rayleigh enrichment values (ɛ) for TCE	
dechlorination by Dhc	25
Table 5.1: Carbon isotope Rayleigh enrichment factors (ϵ) obtained in this study for Dhc gro	own
under varying growth conditions	78
Table 5.1: Carbon isotope Rayleigh enrichment factors (ϵ) obtained in this study for Dhc gro	own
under varying growth conditions	78
Table A2.1: Agilent LC/MS-MS parameters for measurement of 4:2 FtS	111
Table A2.2: Shimadzu LC/MS-MS parameters for measurement of FtCAs and FtUCAs	111
Table A2.3: Solvent gradient program for Shimadzu LC/MS-MS FtCA and FtUCA	
quantification	111
Table A2.4: Calibration and quantification parameters for 4:2 and 8:2 FtTAoS	112
Table A2.5: HRMS measurements for m/z 602 and 618 in aerobic microcosms	117
Table A3.1: PFAA analytes used for Dhc culture amendment	123

Acknowledgements

The completion of this dissertation would not have been possible without the support of many people, to whom I am forever indebted for their research contributions, support, and friendship. They have helped make my years at Berkeley both worthwhile and memorable.

First, I would like to thank my advisor Lisa Alvarez-Cohen for her mentorship, guidance, and patience during my Ph.D. Her flexibility and willingness to support me during project changes and varying research directions is greatly appreciated. I have looked to her as an outstanding example of what a woman in science and engineering can achieve. I am also grateful to David Sedlak for his collaboration and guidance in the AFFF work as well as his thoughtful discussions during my oral exam and review of this work. Additionally, I would like to thank Mary Firestone, a dissertation and exam committee member, who has helpfully critiqued the progress of this research.

I would like to thank Mark Conrad and Markus Bill at Lawrence Berkeley National Lab for their assistance with the isotope analyses and their willingness to spend time with me in their lab. I am grateful to Tim Buscheck and Jim Stambolis from Chevron ETC for securing the funding for my early research studies and allowing me to intern in their groundwater hydrology group. Not only was the internship an interesting and impactful professional experience, the people in this group were among the first friends I made in California.

I am grateful for the opportunity to have worked with Jennifer Field at Oregon State University, who was an important collaborator and source of technical advice on fluorochemical analyses. Without her the PFAS biotransformation work would not have been possible. I would also like to thank Tess Weathers and Josh Sharp at Colorado School of Mines for their collaboration and contributions to the TCE and PFAS co-contamination studies presented in Chapter 3.

My labmates in O'Brien Hall – past and present –have perhaps had the greatest influence on day-to-day research progress and successes. I owe a debt of gratitude to all of the support and assistance I received over the years from these bright researchers. Erika Houtz quickly became one of my best friends both inside the lab and out. She was instrumental in the PFAS biotransformation studies in Chapter 2, and I thank her for taking the time to teach me all about fluorochemical analysis. Shan Yi and Weiqin Zhuang are two of the nicest people I have met in Berkeley and their guidance and willingness to help have been inseparable from any of my research successes. I am thankful for the mentorship of Patrick Lee and Kristin Robrock, who were among my earliest graduate school role models. Many thanks are also owed to Yujie Men, Vanessa Brisson, Xinwei Mao, Christopher Sales, Alexandra Polasko, Renato Montagnolli, Tiffany Louie, Benoit Stenuit, and Kimberly West. Without them, time spent in the laboratory would not have been nearly as fun or productive. Thanks to Laura Rosen and Lowry Kirkby, who were the best roommates, running buddies, and friends anyone could wish for.

I am immensely grateful to my mom and dad for their unconditional love and support. My dad's passion for science is infectious and likely played a significant role in my brothers and I pursuing graduate degrees in science and engineering. I am grateful for the countless ways my parents have supported us and every sacrifice they made in order to ensure us an education. It seems nearly impossible to express sufficient gratitude for their selflessness.

And last, but certainly not least, thanks to Nikola for his love and encouragement during the last five years. His humor, intelligence, and kindness are unmatched, and his companionship has enriched my life in innumerable ways.

Katie C. Harding September 2014 **CHAPTER 1: Introduction and Objectives**

1.1 Motivation

Trichloroethene (TCE) and poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) are environmental contaminants that have been associated with adverse human health effects after exposure through contaminated water supplies [Emmett *et al.* 2006, Vieira *et al.* 2013, ATSDR 1997]. TCE occurence in groundwater was documented as early as the 1960s [Middleton and Walton 1961] and its widespread contamination at sites with historic spills and underground releases is now recognized [Westrick 1984, ATSDR 1997, USGS 2006]. The study and characterization of naturally occurring *Dehalococcoides* (Dhc) organisms that reductively dechlorinate TCE to its innocuous ethene end product has led to the implementation of stimulated anaerobic bioremediation as a cost-preferred and sustainable treatment strategy for TCE remediation in groundwater. The development of molecular and isotopic tools to monitor stimulated chloroethene bioremediation has aided efforts to further quantify *in situ* TCE dechlorination and to predict the activities of complex microbial communities [Lovely *et al.* 2003, Stroo *et al.* 2006, Hunkeler *et al.* 2005]. This has allowed practitioners to more accurately model the subsurface remediation rate at a given site.

In contrast, relatively little is known about the environmental fate and transformation of poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs), particularly those found in aqueous film-forming foams (AFFF). Although perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs) have been in use since the 1940s [Prevedouros *et al.* 2006, Paul *et al.* 2009], reporting of their detection and quantification in environmental samples and biota gained momentum only in the late 1990s [Schultz *et al.* 2006, Boulanger *et al.* 2005, Houde *et al.* 2006, Kato *et al.* 2011, Glynn *et al.* 2012]. The absence of authentic analytical standards for many compounds has also precluded their routine monitoring in environmental media. Furthermore, the structures of many of the PFAS compounds present in AFFF were only recently elucidated, and commercial analytical standards for some of these compounds are not currently available [Place *et al.* 2012, D'Agostino *et al.* 2014].

There is significant potential for the co-contamination of TCE and PFASs to occur in areas where AFFF was used to extinguish chlorinated solvent fires. Firefighter training activities conducted on U.S. military bases have led to widespread groundwater and soil contamination by TCE and PFASs after AFFF wastewater and fuels were left to infiltrate unlined training pits. As increased monitoring of PFASs in environmental samples has occurred in recent years, sites with well-delineated chlorinated solvent plumes are now know to possess PFAS contamination [McGuire et al. 2014]. Remediation activities at these sites have typically been aimed at removing chlorinated solvents and hydrocarbons with little regard for the impact of AFFF components on performance outcomes. Additionally, PFAS biotransformation in these environments and the impacts of biotransformation products on TCE remediation have not been well characterized. Understanding PFAS biotransformation pathways and their expected product formations is of high importance for the successful remediation of PFASs, while understanding the impacts of PFASs on dechlorinating microbial communities is needed for the effective remediation of TCE. The application of an *in situ* remediation strategies that account for the fate and transformation processes of both target contaminants are essential for the successful coremediation of TCE and PFASs.

1.2 Research Objectives

The goals of this research were to understand the transformation of TCE and PFASs under conditions representative of AFFF-impacted field sites. It was first hypothesized that the fluorotelomer compounds in AFFF biotransform aerobically in surficial soil and oxic groundwater to form PFAAs. It was then hypothesized that certain AFFF components, including PFAA biotransformation products, may impact TCE dechlorinating microbial communities following infiltration into or generation of anaerobic, subsurface zones. Finally, it was investigated whether the stable carbon isotope fractionation of TCE, a widely used monitoring tool to assess biodegradation, will vary under different Dhc growth conditions. If AFFF impacts Dhc metabolism and growth, and isotopic fractionation proves to vary under various Dhc growth conditions, there would be implications for the use of carbon isotope measurement to quantify TCE bioremediation at AFFF-impacted sites.

The following listed objectives sought to address these hypotheses with the aim of acquiring a holistic understanding of the varying processes that occur in aerobic and anaerobic groundwater contaminated with TCE and AFFF. Each objective represents a subsequent chapter of this thesis.

- 1) Determine the capability of AFFF-derived PFAS compounds to biotransform under aerobic conditions that are representative of the surficial soil and oxic groundwater in which the compounds can be found. (Chapter 2)
- 2) Characterize the effects of PFAAs on TCE dechlorination in anaerobic mixed microbial communities in order to describe the impact of PFAS biotransformation products on the dechlorination activity of Dhc. (Chapter 3)
- Assess the impacts of AFFF and high concentrations of PFASs on TCEdechlorinating microbial communities to characterize the effects of infiltration of both un-reacted AFFF and biotransformed AFFF-derived PFASs, into anaerobic aquifers. (Chapter 4)
- 4) Evaluate whether sub-optimal and varying growth conditions impact the TCE stable carbon isotope fractionation by Dhc to determine if isotope fractionation can be applied at AFFF-impacted sites where Dhc growth and dechlorination may be negatively impacted. (Chapter 5)

1.3 Background on poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs)

1.3.1 Fluorochemical types and uses

Poly- and perfluorinated alkyl substances (PFASs) represent a large class of fluorinated compounds that all possess a fluoroalkyl chain ranging in length from three (C_3) to eighteen (C_{18}) carbons and a non-fluorinated moiety varying in size, structure, and charge. PFASs have been manufacturered for a variety of industrial and commercial uses, including textile stain repellants, food contact paper coatings, pesticides, and active ingredients in aqueous film-forming foams (AFFF) [Prevedouros et al. 2006, Paul et al. 2009, Moody et al. 2000]. Due to the strength of the C-F bond and rigidness imparted by the conjugation of multiple CF₂ groups, the fluoroalkyl chains of the compounds are resistant to transformation and degradation under a variety of chemical and thermal conditions [Schröder and Meesters 2005, Kissa et al. 2001]. Unlike their hydrocarbon analogues, PFASs are both hydrophobic and oleophobic, making them useful for water and oil-repellant applications [Kissa et al. 2001]. Although there are many types of PFASs that have been historically manufactured and are in current production [Prevedouros et al. 2006], three primary classes are relevant to the research conducted in this study due to their presence in AFFF or their potential to be biotransformation products of AFFF-derived PFASs: perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs), fluorotelomers, and perfluorosulfonamides. PFAAs and perfluorosulfonamides are considered to be "per"-fluoroalkyl substances, while fluorotelomers are considered to be "poly"-fluoroalkyl substances due to molecular structural differences that are described by Buck et al. [Buck et al. 2011].

PFAAs: Perfluoroalkyl acids refer to a family of compounds that contain a perfluorinated alkyl chain directly adjacent to a charged functional moiety, which is a carboxylic, sulfonic, or phosphonic group. Perfluorinated carboxylates (PFCAs) and perfluorinated sulfonates (PFSAs) are the most widely used and detected PFAAs [Prevedouros et al. 2006, Paul et al. 2009], and in this study the term PFAA refers to PFCAs and PFSAs only. The eight carbon-based (C_8) PFAAs, perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) and perfluorooctane sulfonic acid (PFOS) (Figure 1.1), are the most abundant and well known of the alkyl acids, although shorter (C_3-C_7) and longer (C_9-C_{18}) chains are also produced. PFAAs have been shown to be highly resistant to chemical and biological transformation [Rayne et al. 2009], making them persistent in the environment and potentially able to undergo long-term transport through certain ecosystems. PFAAs have been measured globally in environmental samples and wildlife, with some detections occurring in remote, unpopulated regions far from known point sources [Armitage et al. 2009a-b, Ellis et al. 2004, Houde et al. 2010]. They have been widely detected in surface waters and urban runoff [Murakami et al. 2009b, Houtz et al. 2010], groundwaters and soil [Murakami et al. 2009a, Moody et al. 2003], wildlife [Giesy and Kannan 2001, Houde et al. 2006], and humans [Kato et al. 2011, Olsen et al. 2012], and as such have gained the most regulatory and research attention of all the PFAS compound classes.



Figure 1.1 Structures of the protonated forms of perfluorooctanoic acid (A), and perfluorooctane sulfonic acid (B).

Fluorotelomers: Fluorotelomer compounds are related to PFAAs in structure, however they contain a non-fluorinated alkyl linkage of two carbons between their perfluoralkyl chains and ionic functional groups (Figure 1.2), and are thus designated as "poly"-fluoroalkyl substances. They are named after the telomerization synthesis process that utilizes the sequential addition of C_2F_4 groups (taxogens) to C_2F_5I (a telogen) to produce even-numbered and linear fluoroalkyl groups [D'Eon and Mabury 2011]. The name of a fluorotelomer compound is typically preceded by an n:2 numeric designation, where n is the number of fluorinated carbons in the fluoroalkyl backbone and 2 refers to the non-fluorinated carbons in the alkyl linkage. The ionic functional groups of fluorotelomer compounds can resemble those of PFAAs, such as fluorotelomer sulfonate (FtS) and fluorotelomer alcohol (FtOH), or they may have varying lengths and structures depending on the compound's desired application. For instance, some fluorotelomer compounds in AFFF, such as fluorotelomer thioamido sulfonate (FtTAoS), contain sulfonate and amide moieties, while certain fluorotelomers with phosphonate groups, such as polyfluoroalkyl phosphate ester (PAP), are often used for food-contact papers [Place *et al.* 2012, D'Agostino *et al.* 2014, D'Eon and Mabury 2007].



Figure 1.2 Protonated forms of two fluorotelomer compounds with different fluoroalkyl chain lengths and functional groups: 6:2 FtS (A) and 8:2 FtOH (B).

Perfluorosulfonamides: Perfluorosulfonamide compounds are defined by a $-SO_2N$ group that links a perfluoroalkyl chain of varying length to an ionic functional group (Figure 1.3). The perfluorinated chains of perfluorosulfonamides are typically produced through electrochemical fluorination by which an alkyl sulfonyl chloride precursor is electrolyzed in an aqueous hydrogen fluoride solution to produce fluorinated analogs that are a mixture of linear (70%) and branched (30%) isomers [Prevedouros *et al.* 2006]. Many of the perfluorosulfonamide compounds that have been detected and quantified in human and environmental samples, such as *N*-methyl-perfluoro-1-octanesulfonamideoacetic acid (*N*-MeFOSAA) and 2-*N*-ethyl-perfluoro-1-octanesulfonamideoacetic acid and until 2002 predominantly been the primary producer of perfluorosulfonamides and until 2002 predominantly manufactured the compounds with C₈ perfluorinated chains. 3M reportedly switched to C₄-based manufacturing by using perfluorobutane sulfonamidoethanol building blocks instead [Martin *et al.* 2010, Olsen *et al.* 2007].



Figure 1.3 Two C_8 perfluorosulfonamide compounds with different functional groups: *N*-EtFOSE (A), and perfluorooctane sulfonamide (FOSA) (B).

1.3.2 Human Health Effects and Toxicology

Most human health and toxico-kinetic studies of PFASs have focused on the effects of PFAAs, particularly PFOA and PFOS. Longer-chained PFAAs (C_8 and greater) tend to bioaccumulate to greater degrees than shorter-chained PFAAs [Conder *et al.* 2008], leading to the migration and biomagnification of longer-chained compounds through food webs [Conder *et al.* 2008, Houde *et al.* 2010]. Both PFCAs and PFSAs show an affinity for binding to β -lipoproteins and liver fatty acid binding proteins (L-FABP) through site-specific interactions [Rand *et al.* 2014, Rand *et al.* 2013], and thus tend to accumulate in the protein-rich areas of human bodies and animals, including the blood, liver, and kidneys [Olsen *et al.* 2005, Kannan *et al.* 2004]. A recent study has pointed to the potential for 8:2 fluorotelomer unsaturated aldehyde (8:2 FTUAL), a metabolic transformation product of 8:2 FtOH, to form covalent bonds with proteins in rat liver microsomes [Rand *et al.* 2013]. It is thought that the PFAS-protein adducts may have greater cellular toxicity than proteins associated with, but not covalently bound to, PFASs due to the potential disruption of protein function and protein inactivation in the adducts [Rand *et al.* 2013].

Adverse human health effects have been documented in populations exposed to PFAAs and associated with whole blood, plasma, or serum concentrations of PFOA and PFOS [Vieira *et al.* 2013, Fei *et al.* 2007, Gallo *et al.* 2012]. High levels of exposure to PFOA from contaminated drinking water was positively associated with kidney and testicular cancer, and likely associated with non-Hodgkin lymphoma, ovarian, and prostate cancer in a population living near a Teflon® manufacturing plant in southeastern Ohio/West Virginia [Vieira *et al.* 2013]. Higher levels of total cholesterol and uric acid were positively correlated to PFOA serum concentrations in both occupationally-exposed adults and the general population [Costa *et al.* 2009, Lin *et al.* 2009, Nelson *et al.* 2009], indicating that fluorochemicals could be a risk factor for metabolic disorders. The plasma concentrations of PFOA in pregnant women have been associated with greater reported times to pregnancy [Fei et al. 2009], while PFOA concentrations were correlated to decreased birth weight of infants [Fei *et al.* 2007]. The health effects of non-PFAA PFAS compounds, such as those found in AFFF (Figure 1.5) have not been examined.

To date, the U.S. EPA does not regulate PFOA or PFOS through a federally mandated maximum contaminant level (MCL) in drinking water. However, due to rising concerns regarding their adverse affects on humans and increased detection in land-applied biosolids [Lau et al. 2007, Renner *et al.* 2009], the EPA issued Provisional Health Advisories (PHAs) of 200 and 400 ng/L for PFOS and PFOA, respectively, to represent acceptable levels of short-term exposure [U.S. EPA 2009]. The Minnesota Department of Health issued its own health risk limits (HRLs) for drinking water of 300 ng/L for PFOS and PFOA, and 7 μ g/L for perfluorobutanoic acid (PFBA) and perfluorobutane sulfonic acid (PFBS). Minnesota has been heavily impacted by the fluorochemical manufacturing activities of the 3M Company since the early 1950s, and PFAAs have been detected in multiple private and public drinking water supplies throughout the state [MPCA 2008]. Additionally, Canada instituted a ban on the manufacture and use of PFOS in 2006 under the Canadian Environmental Protection Act (CEPA) of 1999, with 5-year exemptions given for stockpiled PFOS-based AFFF and PFOS-based fume suppressants used for electroplating [CEPA 1999]. PFOS was also added as a restricted chemical to the Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants in 2009.

1.3.3 Composition of AFFF and PFASs in AFFF

AFFF formulations are complex water-based mixtures used to extinguish fires involving flammable fuels. They were developed in the 1960s as a tool for combating potential hydrocarbon fires at military sites, industrial facilities, and municipalities where large quantities of ignitable fuels are stored and used [Moody *et al.* 2000]. Although the primary components of most formulations include hydrocarbon surfactants, fluorinated surfactants (PFASs), and a glycol-ether based solvent, published MSDS information and recent foam characterization studies [Place *et al.* 2012, D'Agostino *et al.* 2014] indicate that the foams vary according to manufacturer and year of production (Table 1.1 and 1.2). Diethylene glycol butyl ether (DGBE, also sold as Butyl Carbitol[™]) constitutes the major organic solvent of most formulations (Figure 1.4); however, its concentration in neat foam products also appears to vary by manufacturer

(Table 1.2), ranging from 6-8% (mass/mass) in AFFF manufactured by Chemguard to 20% (mass/mass) in 3M AFFF. Ethylene glycol reportedly constitutes up to half of the organic carbon solvent (by weight) in foams manufactured by National Foam [Aer-O-Water 3EM, MSDS No. MNS210].



Figure 1.4 Structure of diethylene glycol butyl ether, an organic solvent present in AFFF at 6-20% by weight.

Composition of AFFF concentrate (% by weight)				t)	
Ingredient	3M Lightwater FC-203CF (3%) ^c	Ansul Ansulite AFC-5-A (3%) ^d	National Foam Aero-O-Water 3EM (3%) [,]	Chemguard (3%) ^f	Buckeye (3%) ^g
Water	69 - 71	75 - 80	62 - 79	70 - 80	> 56
Diethylene glycol butyl ether (DGBE)	20	17	8 - 12	6 - 8	< 19
Ethylene glycol			6 - 8		
Hexylene glycol		0.5			
1-propanol		0.4			
Perfluoroalkyl sulfonate salts (<i>i.e.</i> PFSAs)	0.5 - 1.5				
Hydrocarbon surfactants (proprietary)	$1-5^{\mathrm{a}}$	5 10	6 - 11	proprietary	- 25
Fluorinated surfactants (proprietary)	$1 - 5^{b}$	5 - 10	0.5 - 2	proprietary	< 23
Magnesium sulfate				0.5 – 1.5	
Triethanolamine	0.5 - 1.5				
Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid tetrasodium salt				0.5 - 1.5	

Table 1.1 Composition of five AFFF formulations (3% concentrates) according to published MSDS information. Empty cells indicate the ingredient was not reported in the formulation.

^aReported as "alkyl sulfate salt"

^bReported as "amphoteric fluoroalkylamide derivative"

^c[FC-203CF, MSDS No CKQCB], ^d[Ansulite 3% AFFF AFC-5-A, MSDS]

^e[Aer-O-Water 3EM, MSDS No. MNS210], ^f[Chemguard 3% AFFF C-301MS, MSDS], ^g[BFC-3MS, MSDS]

AFFF Product	Estimated manufacturer year	DGBE (g/L)	Total organic carbon (g/L)	% Total organic carbon from DGBE
3M Lightwater (3%)	1989	244	307	47
3M Lightwater (3%)	1993	214	176	72
3M Lightwater (3%)	1998	226	179	75
Ansul Ansulite (3%)	2008	223	163	81
Ansul Ansulite (3%)	2010	230	166	82
Buckeye (3%)	2003	57	90	37
National Foam Aer-O-Water 3EM (3%)	2003	133	217	36
National Foam Aer-O-Water 3EM (3%)	2008	160	204	46

Table 1.2 DGBE and total organic carbon concentrations in AFFF formulations obtained from various U.S. military bases (Data obtained in this study).

Although most commercial formulations are proprietary, their compositions are driven by performance criteria, such as spreadability, extinguishment time, corrosion rate, and environmental impact as described by biological and chemical oxygen demand (BOD and COD, respectively) [Scheffey *et al.* 1994]. For AFFF purchased by the U.S. military, the largest consumer of AFFF products in the United States, the performance criteria are established by the military specification (Mil-Spec) [MIL-F-24385F 1994]. All AFFF products used for this study are "3% concentrates" (designed for dilution to a 3% AFFF-water mixture vol/vol before application) and meet the U.S. Mil-Spec requirements. The fluorinated and hydrocarbon surfactants in AFFF are important for reducing the air-foam surface tensions and foam-fuel interfacial tensions, which effectively increase the foam's spreading coefficient and allows for enhanced fire suppression and vapor sealing [Scheffey *et al.* 1994].

Recent studies that have characterized the PFAS components of various AFFF formulations by elucidating their chemical formulas with mass spectrometry (MS) and inferring molecular structure with patent information [Place *et al.* 2012, D'Agostino *et al.* 2014] have indicated that PFAS composition in the foams also varies according to manufacturer and year of production. The predominant PFASs in the products of several major AFFF manufacturers were identified [Place *et al.* 2012, D'Agostino *et al.* 2014] (Table 1.3), and key PFAS structural differences were observed among the formulations. PFASs with perfluoroalkyl chains ranging from 4 to 12 carbons were identified in AFFF manufactured by 3M, National Foam, Ansul, and Buckeye. Perfluoroalkyl sulfonamide amino carboxylates (PF_nSAmA) and perfluoroalkyl sulfonamide amino carboxylates (PF_nSAmA) and perfluoroalkyl sulfonamide in 3M

AFFF, while varying perfluorinated chain lengths of certain fluorotelomer compounds, including a fluorotelomer betaine, fluorotelomer thioamido sulfonate (FtTAoS), and fluorotelomer sulfonamide betaine (FtSaB) were identified in Buckeye, Ansul, and National Foam AFFF products, respectively (Table 1.3) [Place *et al.* 2012]. PFCAs and PFSAs were generally not detected or detected in very low concentrations in Buckeye, Ansul, Chemguard, and National Foam AFFF formulations, indicating that the fluorotelomer compounds were likely the singular dominant PFASs in the foams [Houtz *et al.* 2013]. In some 3M formulations, however, PFOS constituted up to 40-50% (mol/mol) of the total PFAS concentration, with PFnSAmA and PF_nSAm comprising approximately half and minor amounts of PFHxS, PFBS, PFOA, and PFNA also being detected in some formulations [Houtz *et al.* 2013].

Figure 1.5 Structures of PFAS compounds found in various AFFF formulations (Adapted from Houtz *et al.* 2013)



3M: Perfluoroalkyl sulfonamide amino carboxylates (PFnSaAmA). n=4,5,6.



3M: Perfluoroalkyl sulfonamido amines (PFnSaAm). n= 4,5,6.



Buckeye: n:1:2 Fluorotelomer betaine. n=5,7,9.



Buckeye: n:3 Fluorotelomer betaine. n=4,7,9.



Ansul, Chemguard: Fluorotelomer thioamido Sulfonates (n:2 FtTAoS). n=4,6,8.



Ansul: Fluorotelomer thio hydroxy ammonium (n:2 FtTHN+). n=6.



National Foam (NF): Fluorotelomer Sulfonamido Betaines (n:2 FtSaB). n=6,8,10,12.



NF: Fluorotelomer Sulfonamido Amines (n:2 FtSaAm). n=6,8.

1.3.4 Environmental Occurrence of PFASs Due to AFFF contamination

PFAS contamination has been associated with environments where the accidental release or intentional deployment of AFFF occurred [Moody et al. 2002, Weiss et al. 2011, Karrman et al. 2011, Awad et al. 2011, Schultz et al. 2004, Moody et al. 2003, Backe et al. 2013, Houtz et al. 2013, McGuire et al. 2014]. Particularly, the repeated application of AFFF for firefighter training purposes has led to the detection of high concentrations of PFAAs in the groundwater and soil beneath training pits on some U.S. military bases [Moody et al. 2003, Schultz et al. 2004, Backe et al. 2013, Houtz et al. 2013, McGuire et al. 2014]. The concentrations in groundwater are often well above the U.S. EPA's PHAs for PFOS and PFOA, and in multiple cases exceed 1 mg/L. C₄-C₆ and C₈ PFSAs and C₆-C₈ PFCAs were detected in groundwater at Naval Air Station Fallon and Tyndall Air Force Base (up to 6.5 mg/L PFOA and 2.3 mg/L PFOS, respectively), while C₆ PFSA (PFHxS) and PFOS and PFOA were detected at the Wurtsmith Air Force Base (up to 105 µg/L PFOA and 110 µg/L PFOS) [Moody et al. 2003]. At two other U.S. military bases (denoted Site A and B), up to 220 µg/L PFOA and 78 µg/L PFOS were detected in groundwater at A, while up to 57 μ g/L PFOA and 65 μ g/L PFOS were detected at B [Backe et al. 2013]. At the Ellsworth Air Force Base, (EAFB) PFAA concentrations in groundwater reached 190 and 100 μ g/L for PFOA and PFOS, respectively, while in surficial soils concentrations approached 20 mg/kg PFOS and 5.2 mg/kg PFOA [Houtz et al. 2013, McGuire et al. 2014]. Notably, in many cases the aqueous concentration of shorter-chained PFAAs (*i.e.* < C₈) were greater than PFOA and PFOS; for instance at Site A, 350 μ g/L PFHxA and 360 µg/L PFHxS were detected [Backe et al. 2013], while at Ellsworth, 320 µg/L PFHxA and 530 µg/L PFHxS were detected in groundwater [Houtz et al. 2013, McGuire et al. 2014].

In addition to the presence of PFAAs at AFFF-impacted sites, some fluorotelomer and perfluorosulfonamide compounds have also been detected in the groundwater, soil, and aquifer sediments of military base firefighter training areas [Moody *et al.* 2003, Backe *et al.* 2013, Houtz *et al.* 2013]. 4:2, 6:2, and 8:2 FtS were detected in the groundwater of Tyndall, Wurtsmith, and Sites A, and B with maximum concentrations of 14 mg/L 6:2 FtS quantified at TAFB [Moody *et al.* 2003, Backe *et al.* 2013]. 6:2 and 8:2 FtS were detected in groundwater, surficial soil, and aquifer sediments extracted from EAFB, with maximum concentrations of 6:2 FtS at 6200 μ g/kg in surface soil, 370 μ g/kg in aquifer solids, and 270 μ g/L in groundwater. 8:2 FtS concentrations at Ellsworth were generally an order of magnitude lower in all three media. 4:2 and 6:2 FtTAoS were detected in groundwater at Site A (maximum concentrations of 490 ng/L and 6.9 μ g/L for 4:2 and 6:2, respectively), while C₄-C₆ PF_nSaAm were also detected at Site A (maximum concentration 54 ng/L PFBSaAm). PFHxSaAm was detected in surficial soil and aquifer sediments at EAFB (maximum concentrations of 1600 and 14 μ g/kg in soil and sediment, respectively). 6:2 FtSaB was also detected in several soil samples collected from airports in Norway where the application of AFFF occurred [Moe *et al.* 2012].

Generally, the concentrations of PFAAs and FtSs at all sites were significantly higher than measured AFFF-derived PFASs. Even when the concentrations of FtSaB, FtTAoS, and PFnSaAmA were measured in soil and sediments, their expected partitioning phase in an aquifer system, they did not exceed method detection limits [Houtz *et al.* 2013, McGuire *et al.* 2014]. With the exception of some 3M AFFF formulations manufactured in the 1960s and 1970s, no

modern AFFF formulations (>1980) are reported to contain significant quantities of PFAAs and FtSs [Place *et al.* 2012, D'Agostino *et al.* 2014, Houtz *et al.* 2013]. This suggests that AFFF-derived PFASs may have been subjected to *in situ* abiotic or biological transformation to various FtS and PFCA compounds at these sites.

1.3.5 Biological Transformation of PFASs

PFAAs: PFAAs have not currently been reported to undergo any significant abiotic or biological transformation under naturally-occurring conditions, making them highly persistent in the environment and mobile within various ecological systems [Schultz et al. 2003, Parsons et al. 2008, Lau et al. 2007]. PFOA biotransformation was tested with soil and sewage-sludge inocula cultured under a range of redox conditions (nitrate-, iron-, sulfate-reducing, and methanogenic) and carbon substrates (acetate, lactate, ethanol, and/or hydrogen), including incubation with TCE to determine if co-metabolic degradation could occur by dehalorespiring organisms, yet, PFOA was persistent in the cultures up to 260 days [Lou et al. 2010]. PFOS degradation was also investigated in aerobic and anaerobic sewage sludge, but did not biotransform after 60-day incubations [Remde and Debus 1996]. In pure culture studies, *Pseudomonas* sp. strain D2 was able to completely defluorinate difluoromethane sulfonate and partially defluorinate 1H,1H,2H,2H-perfluoroctane sulfonate (H-PFOS) under aerobic, sulfur-limiting conditions, but showed no activity with respect to PFOS [Key et al. 1998]. PFOA transformation has been observed in artificial reaction systems employing the catalytic activity of horseradish-peroxidase enzyme (HRP) in the presence of a co-substrate (4-methoxyphenol) [Colosi et al. 2009]. HRP reacted with 4-methoxyphenol to form certain reactive phenolic species that oxidized PFOA to shortened perfluoroalkyl compounds, fluoride, and carbon dioxide [Colosi et al. 2009]. This has pointed to the potential for enzymatic defluorination of PFAAs under the natural conditions that might be encountered in environments laden with phenol-containing organic matter, such as humified soil, but to date none have been reported.

Partial reductive dehalogenation of PFOS was achieved at 30°C and pH 7 with a Ti(III) reducing agent (36 mM) and a vitamin B_{12} catalyst (260 μ M) [Ochoa Herrera *et al.* 2008], prompting hypotheses that anaerobic reductive dechlorination might occur in biological systems by organisms harboring vitamin B_{12} -dependant reductive dehalogenase enzymes. However, the microbial biotransformation of a PFAA has not yet been reported under anaerobic or aerobic culture conditions.

Thermodynamic estimations suggest that the reductive defluorination of a fluoroalkyl chain is an energetically favorable reaction that microorganisms could theoretically gain energy from under anaerobic conditions. Gibb's free energy values (ΔG°) for the reductive dechlorination and defluorination of halobenzoates and halomethanes indicate that although energy obtained from a defluorination reaction is slightly less than that obtained from dechlorination, there is still substantial energy yield potential from defluorination (-156 and -164 kJ/mol acquired from the defluorination and dechlorination of halomethane, respectively, at 25°C, 1 atm, and pH 7) [Parsons *et al.* 2008]. Although there are few reported thermodynamic properties for PFAAs (*i.e.* $\Delta G^{\circ}_{\text{formation}}$), estimated ΔG° ' for the hydrogenolytic defluorination of perfluoro-propane and -ethane to heptafluoro-propane and hexafluoro-ethane (respectively, with

 H_2 electron donor) are negative and similar to those of hydrogenolysis of lesser fluorinated propanes and ethanes [Parsons *et al.* 2008, Dolfing *et al.* 2003, Yamada *et al.* 1999], suggesting that the reductive defluorination of longer-chained PFAAs may also be thermodynamically favorable. Because microbial reductive defluorination has not been reported as it has for reductive dechlorination [McCarty 1997, Quensen *et al.* 1988, Smidt and de Vos 2004] and debromination [He *et al.* 2006, Lee and He 2010b], it is possible that certain enzymatic kinetic limitations or steric hindrances are responsible for a lack of reactive activity on fluoroorganic molecules. Although some naturally-occurring fluorinated organic substances exist (monofluoroacetate produced by plants of *Dichapetalum* genus and tetrafluoroethene production in volcanic gases [Key *et al.* 1997]), microbial metabolic systems may not have sufficiently evolved to capture energy from carbon-fluorine bond cleavage, especially carbons with multiple fluorine substituents.

Activated carbon and membrane treatment have been used to remediate PFAAcontaminated groundwater after pumping to the surface [Yu *et al.* 2009, Tang *et al.* 2006]. Although other *ex-situ* treatment methods, such as subcritical elemental iron reduction, sonolysis, or photocatalysis may eventually become competitive with physical treatment methods, they exhibit little potential for cost effective *in-situ* application [Rayne and Forest 2009, Vecitis *et al.* 2009, Hori *et al.* 2006]. Recent studies found that PFOA can be electrochemically mineralized by a boron-doped diamond film electrode and a Ce-doped nanocrystalline PbO₂ film electrode, suggesting a potential use of electrochemical oxidation as an *in situ* remediation strategy for PFAS-contaminated groundwater [Niu *et al.* 2012].

Fluorotelomers and Persulfonamides: Some fluorotelomer compounds, such as FtOH, FtS, and polyfuorinated phosphate esters (PAPs), have been reported to biotransform in microbial incubations [Dinglasan et al. 2004, Wang et al. 2005, Liu et al. 2010, Lee et al. 2010a, Wang et al. 2011], mammals [Martin et al. 2005, D'Eon and Mabury 2007, Nilsson et al. 2013, Rand et al. 2014], and fish [Butt et al. 2010, Brandsma et al. 2011]. The transformation occurs primarily on the nonfluorinated functional group of the telomer through oxidative cleavage reactions that result in partial defluorination of the perfluoroalkyl tail. Most microbial studies have examined the aerobic biotransformation of 6:2 and 8:2 FtOH, which transforms in an array of mixed cultures (i.e. sludge [Wang et al. 2005], soil [Liu et al. 2010], microbial enrichment culture [Dinglasan et al. 2004] and bacterial isolates [Kim et al. 2012, Kim et al. 2014]) to produce C₄ through C₉ PFCAs and several other fluorocarboxylic acid intermediates. 6:2 FtS was also reported to biotransform in an aerobic sewage sludge through a 6:2 fluorotelomer unsaturated acid (6:2 FtUCA) and 5:3 fluorotelomer carboxylic acid (5:3 FtCA) intermediate to form C₄ to C₆ PFCA end products (Figure 1.6) [Wang *et al.* 2011]. The production of a 5:2 ketone and 5:2 FtOH were also reported (Figure 1.6). In most reported studies, the biotransformation of n:2 fluorotelomers results in the formation of n:2 fluorotelomer unsaturated carboxylic acid, n:2 fluorotelomer saturated carboxylic acid, (n-1):3 fluorotelomer carboxylic acid, and C_n, C_{n-1}, and C_{n-2}PFCAs. Partial defluorination is achieved through these transformation pathways as 2 moles fluoride are released for every mole C_n PFCA produced (1 – CF₂ group removed), while 4 and 6 moles fluoride are released for every mole C_{n-1} and C_{n-2} PFCA produced (2 and 3 – CF₂ groups removed), respectively. The molar recovery of PFCA products was generally less than 10% of the amended fluorotelomer substrate in most systems and the rate of PFCA formation was slower than fluorotelomer disappearance, indicating the transformation of certain intermediates, such as

fluorotelomer carboxylic acids, likely were rate limiting in the biotransformation pathways [Dinglasan *et al.* 2004, Wang *et al.* 2005, Liu *et al.* 2010, Lee *et al.* 2010a, Wang *et al.* 2011].

When 6:2 FtOH biotransformation was examined in three species of alkane-degrading bacteria (*Mycobacterium vaccae* JOB5, *Pseudomonas oleovorans*, and *Pseudomonas butanovora*) and one fluoroacetate-degrading bacterium (*Pseudomonas fluorescens* DSM 8341), different biotransformation pathways were preferred among organisms [Kim *et al.* 2012, Kim *et al.* 2014]. All species oxidized 6:2 FtOH to 5:3 acid, 6:2 FtUCA, PFHxA, and PFPeA, while only JOB5, *P. oleovorans*, and DSM 8341 were capable of oxidizing 6:2 FtUCA to PFBA, and DSM 8341 was only capable of PFBA production in the presence of 1 mM formate, an external reducing energy source [Kim *et al.* 2014]. Furthermore, *P. oleovorans* showed 6-fold greater 6:2 FtOH degradation and PFPeA production in the presence of 1 mM formate or dicyclopropylketone, an alkane hydroxylase inducer [Kim *et al.* 2014]. These studies suggest that fluorotelomer biotransformation may be dependent on a range of conditions, including bacterial strain, enzyme inducing substances, and reducing agents.

One microbial study has been conducted to examine perfluorosulfonamide biotransformation [Rhoads *et al.* 2008]. *N*-EtFOSE was found to aerobically biotransform within ten days in undiluted activated sludge through a series of volatile perfluorinated intermediates to PFOS (yields ranged from 4-50% per mole of amended intermediate) [Rhoads *et al.* 2008] Although *N*-EtFOSE is volatile and likely partitions into the atmosphere of a wastewater treatment activated sludge basin, its biotransformation pathway and the hypothesized transformation pathways of other perfluorosulfonamides may explain increases of PFOS concentrations measured in some wastewater treatment plans [Schultz *et al.* 2006].

It is currently unclear whether microorganisms are utilizing the fluorotelomers as a growth and energy substrate or the biotransformation is occurring co-metabolically with the degradation of other organic carbon sources in the growth medium. 8:2 FtOH biotransformation by an enriched microbial community occurred only under ethanol amendment [Dinglasan *et al.* 2004], while transformation studies with soil, sludge, and wastewater were likely to have alternative carbon forms present [Wang *et al.* 2005, Liu *et al.* 2010, Lee *et al.* 2010a, Wang *et al.* 2011]. All pure culture studies of 6:2 and 8:2 FtOH transformation were conducted with co-substrate amendment, such as n-octane and 1-butanol [Kim *et al.* 2012, Kim *et al.* 2014]. Determining the potential for metabolic transformation of fluorotelomers, particularly AFFF-derived PFASs, may be important for assessing their fate in oligotrophic aquifer systems where the organic constituents of AFFF have already degraded in surficial soils and unreacted fluorotelomer compounds infiltrate the groundwater table.

6:2 FtSaB was found to biotransform *in vivo* in *Mytilus edulis*, a marine bivalve, and *Scophthalmus maximus*, a species of flatfish, when the organisms were exposed to artificial aerated seawater with 40 to 1000 mg/L 6:2 FtSaB. A fluorotelomer sulfonamide, a deacetylated fluorotelomer betaine compound, and two demethylated species of the deacetylated betaine were formed in the mussel and fish tissue following exposure [Moe *et al.* 2012]. No defluorination of 6:2 FtSaB occurred in this biotransformation pathway, as the transformation reactions were limited to the telomer's non-fluorinated functional group only [Moe *et al.* 2012]. However, this study was the first to report the biological transformation of a PFAS fluorotelomer known to constitute the major fluorosurfactant component in AFFF (Figure 1.5).



Figure 1.6 Proposed biotransformation pathway of 6:2 FtS in activated sludge from Wang *et al.* 2011.

1.4 Background on Trichloroethene

1.4.1 TCE Uses and Human Health Effects

Trichloroethene (TCE) is a volatile chlorinated organic compound and industrial solvent that has been used in dry-cleaning operations, metal-degreasing, and in the formulation of paints, varnishes, and adhesives [Doherty 2000a, Doherty 2000b] (Figure 1.7). It was first produced commercially in the United States in the 1920s for use in vapor degreasing processes and then introduced into dry-cleaning fluids in the 1930s; it was subsequently phased out of dry-cleaning in the 1950s and largely replaced with tetrachloroethene (also known as perchloroethene, PCE) [Doherty 2000a, Doherty 2000b]. Currently, most worldwide TCE production and use is for metal degreasing operations in industries that fabricate, assemble, or operate metal parts, such as aircraft and automotive manufacturing, oil production and refining, and electronics assembly [U.S. EPA 2011]. TCE production in the United States increased significantly during and after World War II and reached a peak of approximately 600 million pounds per year in 1970. Production began declining after growing environmental and health concerns in the early 1970s and has declined steadily since that time to under 300 million pounds per year in the late 1990s [Doherty 2000a, Doherty 2000b]. 1,1,1-trichloroethane (TCA) was widely adopted as a replacement solvent for degreasing operations until it became recognized as an atmospheric pollutant and ozone depleting substance. TCA was subsequently phased out under the international Montreal Protocol agreement and production began to decrease correspondingly in the 1990s [Doherty 2000a, Doherty 2000b, Stroo and Ward 2010, U.S. EPA 2001].

TCE Properties	Value	
Molecular weight	131.39	Yaws et al. 1999
hiolocului weight	101.05	14,15 07 1999
Density, 20°C (g/cm ³)	1.46	Yaws <i>et al</i> . 1999
Boiling point °C	87.2	Lide et al. 1998
Henry's Law Constant K _H (atm/M)	12	Yaws et al. 1999
Aqueous solubility, 25°C (mg/L)	1,100	Mackay <i>et al.</i> 1993
Vapor pressure, 25°C (torr)	74.2	Mackay <i>et al</i> . 1993
Octanol/Water Partition Coefficient (log K _{ow})	2.53	Mackay <i>et al</i> . 1993

 Table 1.3 Chemical and physical properties of TCE

The predominant human exposure routes of TCE are inhalation and ingestion [U.S. EPA 2011]. TCE is a lipophilic compound that readily crosses biological membranes and preferentially partitions into fatty tissues. Studies conducted to examine the carcinogenicity and toxicity of TCE in both animals and human populations that have been exposed occupationally or unknowingly have found a large array of adverse health effects [Chiu et al. 2006, Wartenberg] et al. 2000, McLaughlin and Blot 1997, Weisel and Jo 1996, Fisher et al. 1989, Herren-Freund et al. 1987, Stott et al. 1982, U.S. EPA 2011] Until 2011, TCE was designated by the U.S. EPA as a "possible human carcinogen;" however following the completion of their Toxicological Review in September 2011 [U.S. EPA 2011], which examined the weight of evidence for TCE's detrimental human health effects from published epidemiologic, animal, and mechanistic studies, the health risk designation was updated to "carcinogenic in humans through all routes of exposure" [U.S. EPA 2011]. Substantial evidence acquired from a multitude of human epidemiological studies supports a clear causal association between TCE exposure and kidney cancer, mediated through the body's metabolism of TCE and subsequent production of toxicologically active intermediate compounds [Brauch et al. 1999, McLaughlin and Blot 1997]. Exposure has also been strongly linked to non-Hodgkin Lymphoma, liver, and biliary tract cancer, while it is suspected to be associated with bladder, esophageal, prostate, cervical, and breast cancer, and childhood leukemia [Wartenberg et al. 2000, U.S. EPA 2011]. Toxicokinetic modeling and tumor growth following cancer bioassays in rat and mice have supported the labeling of TCE as a known carcinogen in humans [Fisher et al. 1989, Stott et al. 1982].

Non-cancer effects include central nervous system depression, decreased auditory and motor function, decreased fertility, prenatal death or impaired growth, kidney and liver failure, and a potential increase in risk of certain autoimmune diseases, such as scleroderma. A review of TCE's toxicity effects and carcinogenicity can be found in Chiu *et al.* 2013.

The concentration of TCE in drinking water is regulated through the U.S. EPA as an enforceable MCL, which is currently set at 5 μ g/L and applies to public water systems that serve 25 or more people [U.S. EPA 1987 / 40 CFR 141.61]. As this drinking water standard became effective in 1989, prior to the 2011 *Toxicological Review*, some have questioned whether the 5 μ g/L allowed concentration provides adequate drinking water protection in light of the most recent evidence for TCE's toxicity and carcinogenicity. EPA has stated that it would review the MCL and consider it for regulatory revision as part of the Safe Drinking Water Act's (SDWA) six-year review program [U.S. EPA 2010]. Several states have issued or recommended lower MCLs, such as Florida and New Jersey who have implemented TCE drinking water standards of 3 μ g/L and 1 μ g/L, respectively.

1.4.3 Environmental Occurrence and Co-Contamination with AFFF

Due to its relatively high vapor pressure (Table 1.3), most TCE released to topsoil and surface waters volatilizes into the atmosphere where it is present as a vapor phase [U.S. EPA 2011]. Volatilization from surface sources and direct release into the atmosphere have contributed to the detection of TCE in the ambient air in a variety of locations across the U.S., primarily those in industrial and urban centers [ATSDR 1997]. However, the downward migration of some TCE into the subsurface, through vadose zones and into aquifer systems has led to the widespread detection of TCE in groundwater. Its relatively high density and low aqueous solubility (Table 1.3) facilitate the formation of dense non-aqueous phase liquids (DNAPLs) that pool on impermeable clay layers and sorb to subsurface solids, leading to long-term sources of dissolved TCE in groundwater plumes.

To date, TCE is one of the most frequently detected organic contaminants in groundwater in the U.S. [Stroo and Ward 2010, Williams *et al.* 2002, ATSDR 1997, CDHS 1986, USGS 2006, Westerick *et al.* 1984]. In 2006 the United States Geological Society (USGS) completed a national assessment of 55 volatile organic compounds (VOCs), including TCE, PCE, 1,1,1-TCA, and methylene chloride, in thousands of domestic and public well samples collected from 1985-2001 [USGS 2006]. TCE was detected in the water of approximately 1% of domestic wells and over 4% of public well samples at > 0.2 μ g/L [USGS 2006]. TCE concentrations were above the 5 μ g/L MCL in six domestic wells and nine public wells, while TCE had the highest median concentration of the four listed chloroethenes in all wells [USGS 2006]. These results confirmed an earlier monitoring study by the U.S. EPA that found that 2.6% of public water supply systems in 16 states in the U.S. had at least one sample exceed the 0.5 μ g/L [U.S. EPA 2003].

TCE groundwater contamination has been extensively detected in California, a state with one of the highest rates of detection in public and private sources [CA SWRCB 2010, Williams *et al.* 2002, CDHS 1986]. The California Department of Health Services, which also enforces a $5 \mu g/L$ MCL, found that concentrations exceeded the MCL in approximately 245 active and standby public groundwater sources throughout the state in samples acquired prior to 2008 [CA SWRCB 2010]. Wells with the highest TCE concentrations were generally centered in urban and industrial areas, with Los Angeles County reporting the largest number of contaminated wells, followed by San Bernardino and Fresno Counties [CA SWRCB 2010]. As severe drought has persisted in the western U.S. since the beginning of 2013 and a significant deficit in groundwater supplies has been reported (~63 trillion gallons) [Borsa *et al.* 2014], chloroethene contamination in California's aquifers is a pressing concern.

Hazardous waste sites on the National Priorities List (NPL) maintained by the EPA under the Superfund program pose the greatest risk for contaminating potable water supplies. TCE has been reported at over 1000 of the 1689 NPL sites in 2007 [ATSDR 2007]. As the U.S. military has historically used large quantities of TCE and PCE for their operations and equipment maintenance, substantial contamination also exists in the soil and groundwater beneath military bases where the solvents were improperly stored or dumped after use and many closed and operating military installations are designated Superfund NPL sites. Additionally, the U.S. Air force has a history of conducting regular firefighter-training exercises on base as part of their emergency preparedness plans. Waste chlorinated solvents, such as TCE or PCE or jet fuel (3000 L/week), were ignited in un-lined flooded pits and subsequently extinguished with diluted AFFF solutions (1200-3200 L) [Moody and Field 2000]. Typically, after the training exercises were concluded, fuels and AFFF were left to dissipate on the ground, leading to TCE and AFFF infiltration into soil, sediments, and groundwater [Moody and Field 2000]. While the chlorinated solvent plumes at many contaminated military bases have been well characterized as part of the site's remediation efforts, less is known regarding the extent of AFFF and PFAS contamination. Increased monitoring at some sites has pointed to the potential for significant co-contamination of TCE and PFASs in groundwater and soil [McGuire *et al.* 2014].

1.4.4 Anaerobic Biodegradation by Dehalococcoides organisms

Several chemical and physical groundwater treatment strategies have been used for the remediation of chloroethenes. Conventional pump-and-treat technologies that employ ex situ air stripping or granular activated carbon (GAC) absorption are widely used to control plume migration [Stroo and Ward 2010, NRC 1994]. Similarly, in situ air sparging coupled to soil vapor extraction (SVE) has also been used to strip VOCs from groundwater into an extractable vapor phase [Pankow et al. 1993] that can be further treated with GAC. In situ chemical oxidation (ISCO) that relies on the activity of ozone [Glaze and Kang, 1988], permanganate [Yan and Schwartz 1999, Schnarr et al. 1998] or Fenton's reagent [Teel et al. 2001, Chen et al. 2001] is a contaminant destruction process often applied to DNAPL-containing aquifers. Alternativey, in situ abiotic reductive dehalogenation of TCE with zero valent iron [Farrell et al. 2000, Gillham et al. 1994, Wang et al. 1997], most commonly in permeable reactive barriers [Puls et al. 1999, Phillips et al. 2010], has demonstrated potential for effective plume remediation and control. Many of these abiotic and physical removal strategies have notable disadvantages and limitations in chloroethene removal, however. Conventional pump-and-treat systems are typically inadequate for remediating sites with neat TCE, as DNAPL dissolution commonly occurs on a significantly longer time scale than the pumping operation. Of 77 pumpand-treat operations reviewed by the National Research Council (NRC) in 1994, 69 had not met clean-up goals, with some facilities operating for more than two decades [NRC 1994]. In situ airsparging and in-well vapor stripping does not yield contaminant destruction, while chemical processes can be expensive and impractical for treating large, low-concentration plumes especially when the presence of non-target co-contaminants consumes oxidants or reductants.

In situ bioremediation through natural attenuation or engineered bioaugmentation and/or biostimulation can offer several operational advantages for the remediation of TCE, including reduced costs, enhanced site flexibility, minimized impact on existing site infrastructure, and the potential for complete chloroethene conversion to ethene [Stroo and Ward 2010]. Specifically, employing the anaerobic reductive dehalogenation of TCE by native or augmented microorganisms in anoxic aquifer systems has proven to be a cost efficient and sustainable remediation technology for the detoxification of chloroethenes to the innocuous end product ethene.

The biological reductive dechlorination of TCE to ethene occurs in a sequential reaction pathway whereby each chlorine atom is removed through a two-electron transfer and replaced with a hydrogen atom (Figure 1.7). This transformation pathway leads to the production of the lesser-chlorinated intermediate products DCE and VC prior to the formation of ethene. Although TCE dechlorination has been shown to occur under Fe(III)-reducing and SO_4^2 -reducing conditions, the dechlorination of DCE and VC to ethene appears to be associated with more highly-reducing and methanogen conditions [Ballapragada *et al.* 1997, Maymó-Gatell *et al.* 1995). *Dehalococcodies mccartyi* (Dhc) is currently the only species of microorganisms known to perform the complete reductive dechlorination of TCE to ethene [Löffler *et al.* 2013] (Figure 1.7). They catalyze these reactions with reductive dehalogenase enzymes (RDases) that require corrinoid co-factors for catalytic activity. While many other genera of bacteria, including *Dehalobacter* and *Dehalospirillum*, are capable of PCE and TCE dechlorination to *cis*DCE, they are unable to catalyze DCE dechlorination to VC and ethene [Smidt *et al.* 2004].

Dhc are obligate anaerobes and strict organohalide-respiring bacteria in the phylum Chloroflexi [Löffler et al. 2013]. They require hydrogen as an electron donor, acetate as a carbon source, an organohalide as an electron acceptor, and vitamin B_{12} (cobalamin) as an essential RDase co-factor in order to support their growth and metabolism. Various Dhc isolates representing distinct bacterial strains (16S rRNA gene sequence similarity > 98%) have been grown in pure culture and characterized; the most well-studied of these strains are 195, CBDB1, BAV1, VS, FL2, and GT [Löffler et al. 2013]. Chloroethene utilization appears to be unique to certain strains and likely results from the differing substrate ranges of the strains' RDase enyzmes (Figure 1.7). Most strains are known to possess one of three functionally confirmed RDases: TceA, VcrA, and BvcA [Löffler et al. 2013]. The RDases share structural similarity in that most of them contain two iron-sulfur clusters that are corrinoid dependent. Strain 195 harbors the TceA enzyme and is capable of the metabolic dechlorination of TCE, 1,1-DCE, and cisDCE, and slower, co-metabolic dechlorination of VC to ethene [Lee et al. 2006]. Strain BAV1 possesses the BvcA RDase and can dechlorinate 1,1-DCE, cis- and transDCE and VC, but not TCE, while strains VS and GT possess VcrA and can dechlorinate *cis*DCE and VC, but no other chloroethene [Krajmalnik-Brown et al. 2004, Müller et al. 2004, Sung et al. 2006]. However, chloroethene usage may also depend strictly on the strain: although strain FL2 possesses TceA, it cannot utilize 1,1-DCE as a metabolic electron acceptor [He et al. 2005]. It is also possible that the numerous other putative RDase-encoding genes held by many of the strains contribute to certain chloroethene degradation patterns through mechanisms not currently well understood.

Several Dhc-containing mixed microbial communities, such as "ANAS" [Holmes et al. 2006], "KB1" [Waller et al. 2005], and an enriched groundwater culture [Men *et al.* 2013], have also been characterized according to their metabolic dechlorination activity. Although the isolation of specific Dhc strains has enabled a detailed examination of the organisms' genomic content [Lovley *et al.* 2003, Brisson *et al.* 2012], carbon metabolism [Tang *et al.* 2009], physiology [Löffler *et al.* 2013], and nutritional requirements, the growth of Dhc in pure culture is generally slow, with cell doubling rates on the order of 20 to 60 hours [Cupples *et al.* 2003, Maymó-Gatell *et al.* 1997, Sung *et al.* 2006]. Conversely, Dhc growth in mixed microbial communities or defined consortia appears to be more robust with faster growth and dechlorination rates [Duhamel and Edwards 2006, Duhamel *et al.* 2002, Maymó-Gatell *et al.* 2013]. This suggests that co-existing microorganisms in the communities play

important roles in the growth and metabolism of Dhc. It is well established that Dhc's carbon source (acetate) and electron donor (hydrogen) are provided by fermenting bacteria that degrade labile carbon sources, such as lactate, methanol, or molasses [Duhamel and Edwards 2006, Freeborn et al. 2005, Lee et al. 2006, Holmes et al. 2006]. Recent studies have also elucidated syntrophic roles played by carbon monoxide (CO)-metabolizing bacteria growing with Dhc that produces CO as a by-product of acetyl-CoA cleavage in a modified Wood-Ljungdhal pathway [Zhuang et al. 2014]. CO accumulation inhibits Dhc growth in pure culture as Dhc lacks a CO dehydrogenase enzyme, however it is consumed in anaerobic mixed cultures by CO-degrading bacteria [Zhuang et al. 2014], facilitating more robust Dhc growth. Other studies have highlighted the important relationships established among Dhc and corrinoid-producing microorganisms [Yi et al. 2012, Men et al. 2014]. As Dhc is not capable of de novo corrinoid biosynthesis, they must obtain and/or remodel the co-factors from their environment from corrinoid-producing organisms [Yi et al. 2012, Men et al. 2014]. When grown in pure culture, cobalamin must be amended to Dhc's growth medium [Löffler et al. 2013]. The synergistic relationships that occur between Dhc and other microorganisms and play a controlling role in the TCE dechlorination rate are an area of active research.

In addition to these cross-species cooperative relationships, multiple Dhc strains have been shown to work in concert within a single community to achieve complete dechlorination of chloroethenes. Mixed communities frequently contain multiple Dhc strains that each possess different functional RDase enzymes and chloroethene utilization preferences. For instance, TCE to ethene dechlorination in the ANAS enrichment is likely catalyzed by both the TceA and VcrA RDases [Holmes et al. 2006], which are present in distinct Dhc strains (strains ANAS1 and ANAS2) [Brisson et al. 2012]. Additionally, a study examining the dechlorination and community structure of enriched subcultures derived from a PCE-to-ethene dechlorinating parent culture found that two of three subcultures lost the ability to dechlorinate PCE while retaining the ability to dechlorinate cisDCE and VC [Flynn et al. 2000]. Subsequent community structure analyses of the subcultures using 16S rDNA sequencing, denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) and terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism (T-RFLP) suggested that at least two microbial populations were responsible for the dechlorination of PCE to ethene in the parent culture [Flynn et al. 2000]. Investigating the factors that control TCE dechlorination within Dhccontaining communities will provide the most practical insights into field-relevant remediation processes.

In situ anaerobic bioremediation of TCE to ethene by natural attenuation, biostimulation of native Dhc populations (*i.e.* addition of fermentable organic carbon source), and/or bioaugmentation with laboratory-grown cultures has been successfully executed at contaminated field sites [MacBeth *et al.* 2004, Lee *et al.* 2008]. Biostimulation and bioaugmentation materials are often easily administered using on-site injection wells and can produce relatively quick dechlorination results. However, monitoring the long-term performance and quantifying the effectiveness of these systems can be a complicated task. Typically, chloroethene concentrations, are measured in groundwater samples and used to assess the occurrence of dechlorination and the establishment of the appropriate redox conditions. Varying groundwater flow paths, seasonal fluctuations, and hydrologic changes introduced by the remediation system can mask true concentration profiles of these analytes [Stroo and Ward 2010]. Additional lines of evidence for

successful bioremediation, like molecular-based diagnostic tools, such as Dhc 16S rRNA and RDase gene and transcript screening, may be required to monitor Dhc populations and activities [Lee *et al.* 2008]. Stable isotope analysis is another tool frequently utilized by practitioners seeking evidence of *in situ* TCE bioremediation [Morrill *et al.* 2005, Song *et al.* 2002].



Figure 1.7 TCE reductive dechlorination pathways in Dehalococcoides mccartyi

1.4.5 Stable Carbon Isotope Fractionation

Stable isotope fractionation, also known as compound-specific isotope analysis (CSIA), is a tool that has been used to provide evidence of a compound's physical or chemical transformation. Isotope fractionation refers to an observed difference in isotope distribution (*i.e.* ¹²C vs. ¹³C) in a compound before and after it undergoes a transformation. Biological and abiotic chemical reactions can cause significant shifts in the isotope distribution of a compound as the reaction rates slightly differ between heavy- and light isotope-containing compounds. The molecular bonds formed with heavier isotopes (¹³C or ²H) are stronger and less reactive than those formed with lighter isotopes (¹²C or ¹H), causing a dynamic accumulation of heavy isotopes in the reactant and lighter isotopes in the product [Galimov 1985]. Previous studies have shown that the physical processes acting on organic contaminants in groundwater systems, such as adsorption, volatilization, and dissolution, cause only small isotopic shifts that are typically within the analytical uncertainty of an isotope ratio measurement (± 0.5 % for carbon isotopes and $\pm 5 \%$ for hydrogen isotopes). However, biological oxidation and reduction reactions can produce shifts of one to two orders of magnitude larger [Galimov 1985]. Thus, detecting a shift in a contaminant's isotope ratio can provide evidence of its in situ biotransformation, which can be further quantified using laboratory relationships established between transformation pathways and fractionation patterns [Elsner et al. 2005, Liang et al. 1997, Hunkeler et al. 2005].
Kinetic isotope fractionation is modeled using the Rayleigh equation, which describes the relationship between a compound's isotope ratio and its concentration for a given reaction pathway [Mariotti *et al.* 1981]. The equation was originally developed to model the fractional distillation of mixed liquids, and in this application the principles are related: an exponential relationship describes the irreversible partitioning of a species (*i.e.* an isotope) between two reservoirs where one reservoir, a homogeneous mixture of the species, is decreasing in size.

The foundation of the isotope-applied Rayleigh model is the establishment of a fractionation factor, α , which describes the ratio of the reaction rate constants, k_h and k_l , for the transformation of the heavy and light isotope-containing compounds, respectively (Equation 1.1) [Mariotti *et al.* 1981, Elsner *et al.* 2005]. The fractionation factor can be alternatively expressed as an enrichment factor, ε , in units of per mil, as defined in Equation 1.2.

$$\alpha = \frac{k_h}{k_l}$$
Equation 1.1
$$\varepsilon \%_{00} = (\alpha - 1) * 1000$$
Equation 1.2

The changes in concentrations of the heavy and light isotopes (d[¹³C] and d[¹²C], for carbon isotope concentrations, respectively) can then be expressed according to the relationship in Equation 1.3. Integration of Equation 1.3 from time zero (subscript "0") to time *t* (subscript "t") then yields Equation 1.4, the most widely-utilized and simplest form of the Rayleigh equation (see supporting information of Elsner *et al.* 2005 for integration details), where $R = [{}^{13}C]/[{}^{12}C]$ and *f* describes the concentration fraction of compound remaining at time *t*.

$$\frac{d[{}^{13}C]}{d[{}^{12}C]} = \alpha \frac{[{}^{13}C]}{[{}^{12}C]} \qquad Equation \ 1.3$$

$$\frac{R_t}{R_0} = \left[f \cdot \frac{1+R_0}{1+R_t}\right]^{\alpha-1} \qquad Equation \ 1.4$$

After applying the ε and δ notations (Equations 1.3 and 1.5, respectively) and utilizing the assumption that $[^{13}C] \le [^{12}C]$ at natural isotopic abundances (Equation 1.6), Equation 1.4 can be rearranged into the isotope fractionation equations that are presented in Chapter 5 and used in the data analysis of that study. R_{standard} used for carbon isotopes is the Vienna Pee Dee Belemnite (VPDB) international standard.

$$\delta^{13}C(\%_0) = \left(\frac{R_{sample}}{R_{standard}} - 1\right) \cdot 1000 \qquad Equation \ 1.5$$
$$\frac{1+R_t}{1+R_0} \cong 1 \qquad Equation \ 1.6$$

The enrichment factors, ε , acquired from the application of the above equations and those in Chapter 5 to isotope ratios obtained from biological transformation reactions have been found to vary according to reaction pathways [Elsner et al. 2005], and microorganisms and enzymes [Fletcher et al. 2013, Lee et al. 2007, Nijenhuis et al. 2005] associated with the degradation of chlorinated solvents. Although the mechanisms that produce differences in ε due to varying transformation pathways have predominantly been established [Elsner et al. 2005], the factors that control differences in ε observed among microorganisms executing the same transformation pathway are not well understood. Kinetic processes associated with microbial metabolism, such as substrate transport across membranes or substrate-enzyme binding, are thought to contribute to differences in enrichment factors. These effects are usually recognized in studies that observe different isotope fractionations in cultures with varying cell integrities (*i.e.* growing cells, cell extracts, and purified enzymes) [Nijenhuis et al. 2005] However, the large range of enrichment factors that have been reported for reductive dechlorination of TCE, DCE, and VC by D. *mccartyi* (Table 1.4), including among physiologically similar strains harboring structurally homologous RDases, indicates that isotopic fractionation may be controlled by a multitude of subtle factors. The impact of varying organism growth conditions on TCE isotope fractionation by D. mccartvi strains has not been previously investigated and is the subject of Chapter 5.

Table 1.4 Compound-specific enrichment values (ϵ) for the reductive dechlorination of chlorinates ethenes by Dhc pure cultures and Dhc-containing mixed communities.

culture	TCE		1,1-DCE		cis-DCE		trans-DCE		vinyl chloride	
	E (‰)	R^2	E (‰)	R^2	E (‰)	R^2	E (‰)	R^2	E (‰)	R^2
Dhc pure cultures										
195 (tceA)	-13.7±1.8ª	0.95ª	NR		NR		NA		NA	
	-9.6±0.4 ^b	0.99 ^b	-5.8±0.5 ^b	0.97 ^b	-21.1±1.8 ^b	0.97 ^b				
BAV1 (bvcA)	NA		-8.4±0.3 ^b	0.99 ^b	-16.9±1.4 ^b	0.98 ^b	-21.4±0.9 ^b	0.99 ^b	-24.0±2.0 ^b	0.97 ^b
			-5.1±0.3 ^e	0.97 ^e	-14.9±0.5 ^e	0.99 ^e	-20.8±2.8 ^e	0.92 ^e	-23.2±1.8 ^e	0.96 ^e
FL2 (tceA)	-8.0±0.4 ^e	0.98 ^e	NA		-15.8±1.1 ^e	0.97 ^e	NR		NA	
GT (vcrA)	NR		NR		-21.6±1.3 ^e	0.97 ^e	NA		-23.8±1.1 ^e	0.99 ^e
VS (vcrA)	NR		NR		-17.6±2.7 ^e	0.89 ^e	NA		-22.1±1.2 ^e	0.97 ^e
Dhc containing consortia										
ANAS ^b	-16.0±0.6	0.99	-23.9±1.2	0.98	-29.7±1.6	0.99	-28.3±1.4	0.99	-22.7±0.8	0.99
BDI	-15.3±0.8 ^d	NR	NR		-25.3±1.0 ^e	0.99 ^e	NT		-19.9±1.6 ^e	0.96 ^e
KB-1°	-2.5 to -13.8	0.91	NR		-14.1 to -20.4	0.92	NA		-21.5 to -26.6	0.96

Table adapted from Fletcher et al. 2013.

^aData from Cichocka *et al.* 2008, ^bData from Lee *et al.* 2007, ^cData from Bloom *et al.* 2000, Duhamel *et al.* 2002, and Slater *et al.* 2003, ^dData from Liang *et al.* 2007, ^cData from Fletcher *et al.* 2013

NA indicates fractionation is not reported because the chloroethene does not support growth and respiration by tested culture

NR indicates fractionation is not reported however the chloroethene does support growth and respiration

CHAPTER 2: Aerobic biotransformation of fluorotelomer thioamido sulfonate in AFFF-amended microcosms

2.1 Introduction

Aqueous film-forming foams (AFFFs) are water-based chemical mixtures applied to liquid-fuel fires, such as ignited petroleum hydrocarbons or chlorinated solvents, in order to extinguish flames and prevent fuel re-ignition [Moody *et al.* 2000, Tuve *et al.* 1966]. Although AFFF is typically a proprietary mixture that varies according to manufacturer and year of production, most formulations consist of a glycol ether-based solvent, hydrocarbon surfactants, and various poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) [Moody *et al.* 2000]. AFFF use at military, industrial, and municipal sites has led to widespread groundwater contamination with PFASs, and as well as their occurrence in soils, surface waters, and aquatic organisms [Moody *et al.* 2002, Oakes *et al.* 2010, Awad *et al.* 2011, Karrman *et al.* 2011, Moody *et al.* 2003, Weiss *et al.* 2012, Schultz *et al.* 2004]. Repeated AFFF application at fire-training facilities where fire-fighting exercises were conducted in unlined pits has led to particularly high environmental contamination of PFASs [Karrman *et al.* 2011, Moody *et al.* 2003, Schultz *et al.* 2004, Houtz *et al.* 2013, Backe *et al.* 2013, McGuire *et al.* 2014].

Perfluorocarboxylates (PFCAs) and perfluorosulfonates (PFSAs) are persistent [Awad *et al.* 2011, Moody *et al.* 2003, Houtz *et al.* 2013], resistant to biodegradation [Liu *et al.* 2013], and cause adverse human health effects [Nelson *et al.* 2009, Lau *et al.* 2007, Fei *et al.* 2007, Sakr *et al.* 2007]. The 3M company manufactured AFFF with eight-carbon (C₈) perfluorosulfonamides, perfluorosulfonic acid (PFOS), and perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) until 2001 when rising concerns over their health and environmental effects led them to be phased out of production [Kissa *et al.* 2001, CMER 2011]. The PFASs in formulations manufactured by other companies, such as Ansul, Chemguard, National Foam, Angus, and Buckeye, consisted of fluorotelomerbased compounds containing C₄ to C₁₀ perfluorinated chains linked to an ionic alkyl group by two to three non-fluorinated carbons [Place *et al.* 2012]. The non-fluorinated alkyl groups may have carboxylic acid, tertiary amine, dimethyl quarternary amine, and/or sulfide moieties [Place *et al.* 2012, D'Agostino and Mabury 2014]. Despite growing knowledge of the composition of AFFF, little is known about the environmental fate of these PFASs, including their potential to biotransform under conditions representative of the soils, surface waters, and aquifer systems in which they are found.

Fluorotelomer thioamido sulfonate (FtTAoS, also sold under the trade name LodyneTM) is a PFAS present in several widely used AFFF formulations currently made by at least three manufacturers (*i.e.* Ansul, Chemguard, and Angus) and was used as early as 1984 [Place *et al.* 2012]. While the 6:2 fluorotelomer appears to be the most abundant FtTAoS homolog in many formulations, 4:2, 8:2, 10:2, 12:2, and 14:2 FtTAoS have also been detected in some AFFFs [Place *et al.* 2012, D'Agostino and Mabury 2014]. Although FtTAoS has been measured in groundwater and soil collected from a variety of firefighter-training sites [Houtz *et al.* 2013, Backe *et al.* 2013], and at one U.S. military base, FtTAoS was not detected in soil, despite extensive use of AFFF and detection of other PFASs [Houtz *et al.* 2013]. At two different sites where the application of FtTAoS-containing AFFF was known to occur, concentrations of 4:2 and 6:2 FtTAoS in groundwater were low relative to the measured concentrations of flurotelomer sulfonates (FtSs) and PFCAs [Backe *et al.* 2013]. Together, the FtS/FtTAoS and PFCA/FtTAoS ratios were much greater than the ratios measured in the AFFF formulations applied at the site, suggesting that FtTAoS may have been transformed to FtS and PFCAs after its release [Backe *et al.* 2013].

Although PFCAs and PFSAs have been shown to be completely resistant to microbial biotransformation under a variety of growth conditions [Liu et al. 2013], the larger nonfluorinated alkyl groups of the AFFF-derived PFASs, including FtTAoS, are likely amenable to biotransformation, especially by the diverse metabolic capacity of soil microbial communities. Some fluorotelomer compounds with more simple non-fluorinated functional groups, such as 4:2, 6:2, and 8:2 fluorotelomer alcohol (FtOH), 6:2 FtS, and 6:2 polyfluoroalkyl phosphate esters (mono- and di-PAP) undergo biotransformation to terminal C₄-C₉ PFCAs as well as a number of other products [Dinglasan et al. 2004, Wang et al. 2005, Lee et al. 2010a, Liu et al. 2010, Wang et al. 2011, Kim et al. 2012, Kim et al. 2014]. However, slow rates of transformation and poor mass recovery have made it difficult to differentiate PFAS loss due to physical mechanisms (e.g. sorption) [Rand et al. 2013] from loss due to biotransformation. Thus, given that the potential conversion of AFFF-derived PFASs, like FtTAoS, may constitute a significant future source of PFCAs in subsurface environments and that PFCAs have varying toxicities [Lau et al. 2007] and mobility [Guelfo et al. 2013], understanding the biotransformation potential of PFASs and their expected product formation under environmentally-relevant conditions is a topic of high importance.

Here the aerobic biotransformation of 4:2, 6:2, and 8:2 FtTAoS was investigated in soil microcosms constructed with AFFF-impacted topsoil and amended with an FtTAoS-containing Ansul AFFF formulation. Although 6:2 FtTAoS removal was previously observed in activated sludge [Weiner *et al.* 2013], it is unknown if other FtTAoS congeners are capable of transforming and whether their presence in an AFFF solution affects their transformation. Additionally, in the previous study, the disappearance of 6:2 FtTAoS was observed in autoclaved control cultures, indicating that sorption or abiotic transformation may have constituted a significant portion of the FtTAoS mass loss in the experiments. In this study, the transformation and sorption of three different FtTAoS congeners were examined and differentiated with live, sterile, and soil-free microcosms and quantitative mass balances of amended FtTAoS recovery were enabled using a newly developed assay. Two previously hypothesized biotransformation intermediate compounds were also confirmed in this study. By amending a native soil microbial community with a historically used AFFF formulation, FtTAoS transformation reactions can be described under conditions that represent contaminated soil and groundwater systems, and the fate of other AFFF organic solvents can be assessed.

2.2 Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Chemicals and Standards

Neat AFFF manufactured by Ansul, Inc. with an estimated 2008 manufacture date was obtained from a U.S. military base as previously described [Place *et al.* 2012]. It was stored in the laboratory in a sealed polyethylene tube at room temperature in the dark. The sample was previously confirmed to contain 4:2, 6:2, and 8:2 FtTAoS [Houtz *et al.* 2013], and the concentration of diethylene glycol butyl ether (DGBE) was 220 g/L, which constituted over 80% of the total organic carbon in the sample. A commercial source material containing 6:2 FtTAoS was provided by the Fire Fighting Foam Coalition, which served as a quantitative analytical standard [Backe *et al.* 2013]. C₄-C₁₀ perfluorocarboxylates, 4:2 FtS, 6:2 FtS, 8:2 FtS, 5:3 FtCA, 7:3 FtCA, 6:2 FtCA, 8:2 FtCA, 6:2 FtUCA, and 8:2 FtUCA for use as LC/MS-MS analytical

standards were purchased from Wellington Laboratories (Guelph, Ontario, CA). All isotopicallylabeled internal standards used for LC/MS-MS analysis were also purchased from Wellington as previously described [Houtz *et al.* 2013, Houtz *et al.* 2012] Oxygen (>99.5%) and DGBE were obtained from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO), while all other chemicals were purchased from either Fisher Scientific (Waltham, MA) or Sigma Aldrich at the highest purity possible.

2.2.2 Microcosm Set-up and Growth Conditions

The microcosms consisted of 250 mL glass bottles containing 60 mL of a 30 mM bicarbonate-buffered mineral medium [Lee et al. 2006], 60 µL of neat Ansul AFFF, and 5 grams of soil collected from a firefighter training area at the Ellsworth Air Force Base, South Dakota, U.S. The medium was modified from that described previously [Lee et al. 2006] by preparing aerobically and omitting cysteine sulfide, resazurin, and TES buffer, which is a potential microbial carbon source under oxic conditions. A set of sterile controls was prepared similarly, but with soils that were subjected to three cycles of autoclaving followed by overnight freezing at -20° C, and medium amended with 0.5 g/L sodium azide. Additionally, soil-free medium controls containing only sterile medium, sodium azide, and AFFF were also prepared to assess PFAS sorption as well as potential abiotic reactions. All experiments were performed with triplicate microcosms shaken at 100 rpm and incubated at 30° C for 60 days with samples periodically collected from the headspace or liquid slurry with syringes. Oxygen was measured by injecting 250 µL of microcosm headspace into a Hewlett Packard 5890 GC-TCD equipped with an Alltech HAYESEP Q column (80/100 mesh, 0.85" ID x 6') operated isothermally at 30°C. Headspace oxygen was maintained between 15 and 25% (v/v) in live microcosms by periodically amending the bottles with pure oxygen using a 0.2 µm-filtered gas-tight syringe and then depressurizing the bottles for several seconds with a sterile needle inserted into the cap valve. The oxygen concentrations in all microcosms are provided in the Supporting Information (SI), Figure A2.1. Two, 60-µL aliquots of AFFF were added to the live microcosms over the course of the experiment: on day 0 and again on day 18 after the 6:2 FtTAoS had been depleted, while only one aliquot of AFFF was added to autoclaved and medium controls (day 0). On day 40 approximately 300 mg/L DGBE was added to live microcosms to provide 175 mg/L of additional organic carbon. Dissolved organic carbon was measured in all bottles by diluting 200 µL of microcosm supernatant (slurry previously centrifuged at 15,000 x g for 10 minutes) in deionized water and analyzing on a Shimadzu TOC-V analyzer. A lack of microbial activity in the autoclaved and medium controls was confirmed when no significant oxygen or organic carbon consumption was observed after 60 days (Figures A2.1 and A2.2).

All microcosms were equilibrated with AFFF for 24 hours prior to collection of the first sample and after addition of AFFF. At each time point, between 0.5 and 1.5 mL of a well-mixed soil and media slurry was removed with a sterile syringe and stored in a 2-mL polypropylene centrifuge tube. Approximately 200 μ L of the slurry was immediately diluted in an equal volume of methanol and reserved for LC/MS-MS analysis, while 100 μ L was aliquoted into a 7-mL HDPE vial for the total oxidizable precursor assay. The remaining slurry was centrifuged at 15,000 x g for 10 minutes, aliquoted for dissolved organic carbon analysis, and subsequently stored at -20°C.

2.2.3 LC/MS-MS and HRMS Analyses

The 50:50 methanol:aqueous samples were vortexed for 30 minutes at room temperature and then centrifuged at 15,000 x g for 10 minutes. The supernatant was then amended with 50 μ L of an internal standard stock containing 20 to 40 μ g/L of mass-labeled internal standards [Houtz *et al.* 2013, Houtz *et al.* 2012] and diluted with HPLC-grade methanol and water to produce 500 μ L of a 50:50 methanol:aqueous mix containing a target analyte concentration in the range of the established calibration curves. FtTAoS, FtS, and PFCA compounds were quantified on an Agilent 6410 LC/MS-MS operating in negative electrospray ionization mode as described previously [Houtz *et al.* 2013, Houtz *et al.* 2012], except for the addition of 4:2 FtS. The MS parameters and monitored ion transitions for 4:2 FtS are provided in Table S1. Because a commercial source material was not available for 4:2 and 8:2 FtTAoS, the 6:2 FtTAoS calibration curve was used to estimate their respective concentrations after normalization to the mass-labeled 6:2 FtS internal standard (described in greater detail in the supporting information).

All fluorotelomer carboxylic acid (FtCA) compounds were measured on a Shimadzu Nexera X2 UHPLC /ABSciEX 5500 Triple Quad MS system operating in negative ionization mode. The same 50:50 methanol:sample mix was first spiked with 2 μ g/L of the internal standard stock and diluted with methanol and water to yield target analyte concentrations in the range of calibration curves. A gradient solvent program was operated with 2 mM ammonium acetate in water and 2 mM ammonium acetate in methanol and a flow rate of 0.5 mL/min (Table S3). Chromatographic separation was achieved on a Waters ACQUITY UPLC BEH C18 column, 130 Å, 1.7 μ m, 2.1 mm x 50 mm following a sample injection of 10 μ L. One or two MRM transitions were measured per FtCA compound and were quantified with isotope dilution (Table S2).

To identify biotransformation products of the polyfluorinated compounds in AFFF, the methanol:sample mix containing internal standard stock was analyzed on the Agilent 6410 LC/MS-MS operated in a molecular ion scanning mode (m/z 50 to 1000) in both positive and negative electrospray ionization modes. Prominent molecular ions were identified and their instrumental responses were normalized to the mass labeled-6:2 FtS internal standard response to evaluate their relative production and consumption in the microcosms. The LC/MS-MS product ion mass spectra of two of the prominent apparent biotransformation products were acquired to help elucidate their molecular structures. The compounds were also analyzed by high resolution mass spectrometry (HRMS) to confirm their molecular compositions. HRMS analysis was conducted on live-microcosm samples from day 38 of the incubation that had undergone solid phase extraction (SPE) using Oasis WAX SPE cartridges (6 cm³, 150 mg, 30 μ M; Waters, Milford, MA) with the conditioning and elution methods previously described [Houtz *et al.* 2013]. 50 μ L of the extracted sample was directly infused onto a Thermo Scientific Finnigan LTQ FT HRMS operating in negative electrospray ionization over a scan range of 150 to 850, and the exact masses of the ions were confirmed within 5 ppm accuracy.

2.2.4 Total Oxidizable Precursor Assay

To assess the PFAS mass balance in the microcosms before and after biotransformation and to ensure that observed FtTAoS disappearance was not due to physical losses (e.g. volatilization), an oxidative precursor assay [Houtz et al. 2012] was applied to microcosm samples. Briefly, the oxidative precursor assay employs the reaction of polyfluorinated compounds with hydroxyl radicals to generate corresponding PFCAs of related perfluorinated chain length through the chemical oxidation of the non-fluorinated functional group [Houtz et al. 2012]. The samples were exposed to an excess of hydroxyl radicals produced through persulfate thermolysis at pH >12 and the molar quantity of resultant PFCAs was then quantified. For C_6 fluorotelomer compounds, approximately 70-75% (mol/mol) of the compound was recovered as PFCAs, indicating that some of the C₆ telomer compounds were oxidized to C₂ and C₃ PFCA products which were not measured by the LC/MS-MS method used in this study [Houtz et al. 2012]. For C₈ fluorotelomers, greater than 90% of the initial mass is recoverable as PFCAs after oxidation [Houtz et al. 2012]. For the microcosm samples in this study, the reaction was conducted in 7-mL HDPE vials containing 100 µL of a soil-media slurry, 3 mL HPLC-grade water, and 3 mL of 120 mM potassium persulfate in 0.25 M NaOH. The vials were submerged in an 85°C water bath for approximately 12 hours. After cooling, the base was neutralized with HCl and amended with 1 mL methanol before LC/MS-MS analysis.

2.3 Results and Discussion

2.3.1 Organic Carbon Disappearance and FtTAoS Biotransformation

The amended AFFF and DGBE constituted the majority of the organic carbon present in live microcosms (Figure A2.2). The dissolved organic carbon disappeared within 3 to 5 days in live microcosms, while no change in concentration was observed in autoclaved or medium controls (Figure A2.2). Correspondingly, the headspace oxygen and carbon dioxide concentrations decreased and increased, respectively, in live microcosms (Figure A2.1), suggesting that the degradation of the AFFF organic solvents, including DGBE, occurred rapidly by the soil microbial community.

Complete disappearance and biotransformation of 4:2, 6:2, and 8:2 FtTAoS occurred in live microcosms when two aliquots of Ansul AFFF were added to the cultures (Figure 2.1). Approximately 45 µM of 6:2 FtTAoS, the most abundant FtTAoS congener, was biotransformed within 45 days (Figure 2.1A) in live microcosms, while concentrations in autoclaved cultures and medium controls remained nearly constant over the incubation period. Because analytical standards are not available for 4:2 and 8:2 FtTAoS, their concentrations were determined semi-quantitatively by calibrating their internal standard-normalized LC/MS-MS responses to the 6:2 FtTAoS calibration curve. Complete disappearance of these compounds was observed in live microcosms, while concentrations in control experiments remained nearly constant (Figure 2.1B and 2.1C). Approximately 80 nM of 8:2 FtTAoS and 10 nM of 4:2 FtTAoS were biotransformed in live microcosms after two AFFF doses (Figure 2.1B). The apparent lack of an observable increase in 4:2 FtTAoS concentrations following the second AFFF amendment (Figure 2.1C) is likely attributable to the very low concentration of the compound.

6:2 FtS was the most abundant biotransformation product detected in live cultures (Figure 2.2A), accounting for 8% of the total mass of FtTAoS biotransformed on day 60. 4:2 and 8:2 FtS were also detected in live cultures; however, together they accounted for less than 1% of total FtTAoS biotransformed (Figure A2.3). The production of 5:3 FtCA and 6:2 fluorotelomer unsaturated carboxylic acid (6:2 FtUCA) was also observed in live microcosms, accounting for approximately 0.5% and 0.18% of total FtTAoS biotransformed, respectively (Figure 2.2B). Some production of 8:2 FtUCA appeared to have occurred in live microcosms relative to autoclaved controls (Figure A2.5). No discernable trend was observed for 7:3 FtCA or 6:2 FtCA concentrations in live microcosms compared to autoclaved controls (Figures A2.5 and A2.6), while no 8:2 FtCA was detected in live or autoclaved microcosms (Figure A2.6). Production of several PFCAs was also observed in live microcosms. PFHxA, PFPeA, and PFBA (Figure 2.2C) accounted for the majority of PFCA products detected (48%, 40%, and 10% of total PFCAs quantified on day 60, respectively), while lesser amounts of PFHpA and PFOA were detected (Figure A2.4). PFCA products accounted for approximately 1.5% of the total FtTAoS biotransformed by day 60, while all produced FtS, FtCA, and PFCA compounds together accounted for just over 10% of total FtTAoS transformed. Biotransformation products were not detected in medium controls.



Figure 2.1. Biotransformation of 6:2 FtTAoS (A), 8:2 FtTAoS (B), and 4:2 FtTAoS (C) in live microcosms with two AFFF amendments. Note the y-axis scales in the B and C plots are significantly less than the scale in the A plot. The second AFFF dose and DGBE amendment were made to live microcosms only and not autoclaved or medium-control (MC) experiments. Error bars represent the standard deviation of triplicate experimental bottles.



Figure 2.2. Production of major transformation intermediates identified by direct LC/MS-MS measurement: 6:2 FtS (A), 6:2 FtUCA and 5:3 FtCA (B), and PFBA, PFPeA, PFHxA (C). Note the y-axis scales in the B and C plots are one tenth of the scale in the A plot.

2.3.2 Intermediate Product Identification

LC/MS-MS molecular ion scans indicated the presence of four polyfluorinated compounds in the microcosms for which no analytical standards were available: molecular ions 602, 618, 702, and 718. LC/MS-MS retention times and chromatograms for the ions are shown in Table A2.5 and Figures A2.11 and A2.12, respectively. Molecular ion 602 was observed in live, autoclaved, and medium-control microcosms (Figure 2.3A), indicating that it was present in the AFFF formulation. In contrast, molecular ions 618, 702, and 718 were observed only in live microcosms (Figures 2.3B, A2.9, and A2.10, respectively). The analyte response of ion 602 appeared to increase slightly in live microcosms over time and then decrease, consistent with a compound that is both produced and consumed. The response of the ion also increased slightly in autoclaved microcosms but not medium controls, suggesting that some of its production could have occurred through an abiotic reaction involving the solid phase. The instrumental analyte response of m/z 586 (6:2 FtTAoS) and m/z 686 (8:2 FtTAoS) obtained during the same MS analyses are plotted for comparison in Figures A2.7 and A2.8, respectively. If identical instrumental responses are assumed for 586, 602 and 618, approximately 50% of the loss of 6:2 FtTAoS can be explained by the production of 602 and 618. If the same assumption is made for ions 686, 702, and 718, approximately 70% of the loss of 8:2 FtTAoS can be explained by the production of 702 and 718.

The exact masses of 602 and 618 were determined from HRMS and indicated that the molecules had the same atomic composition as 6:2 FtTAoS plus the addition of one (602) or two (618) oxygen atoms (Table A2.5). Key structural features were then proposed based on an LC/MS-MS mass spectrum generated for each molecular ion under a selected ion mode (Figure A2.13). The product ion scans of both 602 and 618 showed fragments corresponding to the entire non-fluorinated part of 6:2 FtTAoS adjacent to the thioether moiety (m/z 205) as well as the terminal sulfonate moiety $(m/z \ 135)$ contained within $m/z \ 205$ (Figure A2.13). Since these two fragments were also observed in the mass spectrum of 6:2 FtTAoS, it is likely that the oxygen additions occurred on the part of the molecule containing the fluorotelomer thioether group. Thus, it is confirmed that the proposed structures for 602 and 618 possess one or two oxygens (respectively) on the thioether functional group of 6:2 FtTAoS. These compounds are designated 6:2 fluorotelomer sulfoxide amido sulfonate (6:2 FtSOAoS) and 6:2 fluorotelomer sulfone amido sulfonate (6:2 FtSO₂AoS), and their structures are shown in Figure 2.4. Although exact mass measurements for molecular ions 702 and 718 were not obtained due to their low relative abundance in live microcosm samples, the mass spectra generated from MS product ion scans on 686, 702, and 718 produced mass fragments m/z 205 and 135, suggesting oxygen addition on the 8:2 fluorotelomer thioether moiety. Molecular ions 702 and 718 were designated 8:2 FtSOAoS and 8:2 FtSO₂AoS, respectively (Figures A2.9 and A2.10). Molecular ions 502 and 518, which would correspond to the singly and doubly oxygenated species of 4:2 FtTAoS (4:2 FtSOAoS and 4:2 FtSO₂AoS, respectively), were not detected in these microcosms with either LC/MS-MS molecular ion scans or HRMS. This is likely due to the low initial abundance of 4:2 FtTAoS in the AFFF.

Although Weiner *et al.* 2013 proposed the occurrence of a sulfoxide and sulfone species as potential biotransformation products of 6:2 FtTAoS, it was not definitely determined whether 6:2 FtSOAoS was a biotransformation product as no production of the compound was observed in live microcosms. 6:2 FtSO₂AoS was also not detected in any culture. Here, their exact molecular masses were determined, evidence supporting their proposed molecular structures is provided, and time course trends confirming their role as FtTAoS biotransformation products were constructed. The identification of these species describes the mechanism through which multiple congeners of FtTAoS may aerobically biotransform to FtS compounds.



Figure 2.3. The average LC/MS-MS analyte response of molecular ions 602 (A) and 618 (B) normalized to the mass labeled-6:2 FtS internal standard in live, autoclaved, and medium control (MC) microcosms. The second AFFF and DGBE amendment were given to live microcosms only. Error bars represent the standard deviation of triplicate microcosms.

2.3.3 FtTAoS Biotransformation Pathways

The proposed biotransformation pathways for 4:2, 6:2, and 8:2 FtTAoS (Figure 2.4) were based on quantification of 4:2, 6:2, and 8:2 FtS, 5:3 FtCA, 6:2 and 8:2 FtUCA, and C₄-C₈ PFCAs with certified analytical standards, as well as the detection of intermediate compounds identified by HRMS and molecular fragmentation patterns. Because more 6:2 FtSOAoS was produced in live microcosms than in autoclaved controls in the 20 days following the first AFFF amendment, it is likely that this reaction was attributable to both microbial activity and an abiotic reaction. Thus, the first two steps in the biotransformation reactions of each FtTAoS compound are confirmed to be sequential oxygen additions on the thioether group to form FtSOAoS and FtSO₂AoS, which are then followed by the formation of FtS through a third oxygen addition and cleavage of a carbon-carbon bond, resulting in a fluorotelomer sulfonate and an alkyl amidosulfonate group. The oxidation of 6:2 FtS to 6:2 FtUCA, 5:3 FtCA, PFHxA and PFPeA in aerobic microcosms inoculated with activated sludge has been reported previously [Wang *et al.* 2011, Weiner *et al.* 2013]. In this study, the production of PFHpA, PFOA, and 8:2 FtUCA (Figures A2.4 and A2.5), which were the likely products of 8:2 FtS biotransformation (Figure A2.3), were consistent with those observations and formed an analogous oxidation pathway for 8:2 FtTAoS (Figure A2.15). Production of PFBA and some 4:2 FtS was also observed in live microcosms (Figures 2.1D and A2.3, respectively). Although PFBA is expected to be a terminal oxidation product of 4:2 FtS, its concentration in live microcosms at the end of the 60 day incubation period (0.5 μ M) was much greater than the total estimated 4:2 FtTAoS biotransformed (<0.01 μ M), suggesting that it also was a biotransformation product of 6:2 FtS produced from 6:2 FtTAoS.

Cleavage of the carbon-carbon bonds during the oxidation of fluorotelomer sulfonates and alcohols has been observed in previous studies. For example, Wang *et al.* 2011 detected PFBA formation (accounting for approximately 0.14% mol/mol) when 6:2 FtS was aerobically oxidized, while production of PFBA was also observed when 6:2 FtOH was biotransformed under aerobic conditions [Liu *et al.* 2010, Kim *et al.* 2012, Kim *et al.* 2014]. In this study, PFBA accounted for approximately 0.1% (mol/mol) of the total amended 6:2 FtTAoS at the end of the incubation. It is possible that 8:2 FtS biotransformation also produced the C_{n-2} PFCA product, PFHxA; aerobic 8:2 FtOH biotransformation to PFHxA has been previously observed [Kim *et al.* 2012]. Although approximately 0.3 μ M PFHxA was formed, it was likely that the majority of it was produced from 6:2 FtS oxidation as the concentration of 8:2 FtTAoS in the AFFF in this study is much lower than that of 6:2 FtTAoS. For both 6:2 and 8:2 FtTAoS biotransformation in these microcosms, the terminal C_n and C_{n-1} PFCA products (PFHxA/PFPeA and PFOA/PFHpA, respectively) were produced in approximately equimolar quantities. Similar findings were reported for the biotransformation of 6:2 FtS and 6:2 FtOH [Liu *et al.* 2010, Wang *et al.* 2011].



Figure 2.4. Proposed biotransformation pathways of 4:2, 6:2, and 8:2 FtTAoS by aerobic soil microcosms. Compounds in dashed boxes are proposed biotransformation intermediates and were not directly detected in microcosms. The double arrow indicates that the reaction occurs both biologically and abiotically.

Generally, the rate of FtTAoS disappearance observed in this study was faster than the rate of transformation of intermediate compounds, indicating that the rate-limiting step in PFCA production likely occurs after FtSOAoS production. It is unknown whether the observed FtTAoS biotransformation occurs metabolically or cometabolically by the soil microbial community in these microcosms. Three aliquots each of over 100 mg/L of organic carbon were supplied to the microcosms in the two AFFF amendments and the one DGBE amendment. The labile organic compounds were each mineralized within three days, as evidenced by the low organic carbon concentration measured in the live microcosms (Figure A2.1). Biotransformation of FtTAoS and production of FtS and PFCA products continued to occur after the labile organic carbon compounds disappeared, and no significant differences in PFAS transformation rates were observed in the presence of higher concentrations of labile organic carbon. Even after all of the FtTAoS had been biotransformed on day 40, when DGBE was added to the live microcosms, no significant change in the production rate of FtS or PFCA products was observed (Figure 2.1). Because the presence or absence of labile carbon did not appear to have a significant impact on PFCA production, it is likely some factor other than labile organic carbon controlled the rate of FtTAoS biotransformation.

2.3.4 Precursor Oxidation Assay and Mass Balance

The FtS and PFCA biotransformation products that could be quantified directly by LC/MS-MS (4:2, 6:2, 8:2 FtS, 6:2 FtUCA, 5:3 FtCA, and C₄-C₈ PFCAs) accounted for approximately 10% of the total FtTAoS transformed. The PFCA products alone accounted for approximately 1.5% of the FtTAoS transformed, a recovery within the range of those observed in other aerobic FtS and FtOH biotransformation studies (0.3-10% mol/mol) [Dinglasan *et al.* 2004, Wang *et al.* 2005, Liu *et al.* 2010, Wang *et al.* 2011, Kim *et al.* 2012, Kim *et al.* 2014].

Because a total mass recovery of FtTAoS was not observed, the total oxidizable precursor assay was employed on microcosm samples to check the material balance. Seven samples from live microcosms that were taken before, during, and after biotransformation of the two aliquots of FtTAoS were subjected to the assay. Of the 22 µM of 6:2 FtTAoS that disappeared during the first 20 days of incubation in live microcosms, the precursor assay recovered approximately 90% of the compound as C₄-C₈ PFCA products (Figure 2.5). After the second AFFF addition, the recovery ranged from 80-100%. Use of the precursor assay performed on samples from autoclaved and medium control microcosms yielded similar results (Figures A2.16 and A2.17). As described by Houtz et al. 2012, the medium control samples (Figure A2.17) also confirm that approximately 75% of a fluorotelomer PFAA precursor is recoverable in PFCA products using this assay. The incomplete recovery of the precursor in some samples may be due to the production of PFCAs with fewer than four carbons that are not quantified by this LC/MS-MS method [Houtz et al. 2012, Houtz et al. 2013]. Additionally, the concentration distribution of PFCA congeners ($C_4:C_5:C_6$) produced from the precursor assay is consistent with products of C_6 fluorotelomer precursor oxidation [Houtz et al. 2012], suggesting that 6:2 FtTAoS and its related C₆ transformation products were the primary oxidizable PFASs in these microcosms. Although the generation of PFNA can occur from the oxidation of an 8:2 fluorotelomer, it was not detected in this study, likely due to the low initial concentrations of 8:2 FtTAoS.



Figure 2.5. Concentrations of 6:2 FtTAoS and PFCA products generated in live microcosm samples after oxidation in the PFAA precursor assay. The dotted line represents the total amended FtTAoS and was obtained by summing the 4:2, 6:2, and 8:2 average FtTAoS concentrations measured in the medium controls.

Although the majority of the total amended FtTAoS was not accounted for as intermediates and terminal products, the precursor assay provided insight into the PFAS mass balance. The nearly complete recovery of amended FtTAoS as oxidized PFAA precursors before, during, and after biotransformation confirmed that all unidentified transformation compounds remained in the soil-media slurry. If cleavage of the fluoroalkyl tail to less than a C_4 perfluorinated chain or complete defluorination had occurred, the assay would have yielded lower recoveries. Although Weiner *et al.* 2013 identified 6:2 FtOH as a potential transformation product of 6:2 FtTAoS, the nearly complete recovery of PFAA precursors suggested that this pathway was not significant in these microcosms.

2.4 Environmental Implications

The results of this study may help to explain the occurrence of FtS and PFCA compounds in groundwater and soil at sites where AFFF was released [Moody *et al.* 2002, Awad *et al.* 2011, Moody *et al.* 2003, Schultz *et al.* 2004, Houtz *et al.* 2013, Backe *et al.* 2013]. As FtTAoS is present in AFFF from several manufacturers, its biotransformation to FtS and PFCAs under conditions representative of soil, groundwater, and surface water is important for understanding the present occurrence and potential PFCA generation in the environment. Although FtTAoS is biotransformed over a period of weeks, its conversion to PFCAs appears to be slow. Other intermediate biotransformation products (*e.g.* FtS and FtUCA) may constitute a significant source of PFASs in FtTAoS-contaminated environments. Furthermore, measuring only PFCAs and FtS in environmental samples may not completely characterize the potential for long-term release of PFCAs. The total oxidizable precursor assay can be used to obtain a more precise estimate of the concentration of intermediate products that are not quantifiable by direct analysis. Two of the identified intermediate compounds, 6:2 FtSOAoS and 6:2 FtSO₂AoS, appear to have slow transformation rates relative to 6:2 FtTAoS, indicating they may also occur in subsurface environments. CHAPTER 3: Effects of perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs) on TCE dechlorination by a *Dehalococcoides* enrichment culture

^{*}A modified version of this text is part of a prepared manuscript: Weathers, T.S.; Harding, K.C.; Alvarez-Cohen, L.; Higgins, C.P.; Sharp, J.O. "Perfluoroalkyl acids and soil microbes: potential impacts on biofilm formation and co-contaminant transformation" *August 2014*.

3.1 Introduction

Poly and perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) are emerging contaminants that are widespread in many facets of the environment: surface waters, soil, air, and groundwaters [Hansen *et al.* 2002]. Advances in detection and quantification have led to growing concerns of exposure. Within the broader class of PFASs, a subset of perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs) are environmentally persistent, toxic, and can bioaccumulate [Van de Vijver *et al.* 2003, Moody *et al.* 2002, Higgins *et al.* 2007, Blaine *et al.* 2014]. The compounds have been detected in human kidneys, livers, and blood serum [Van de Vijver *et al.* 2003, Key *et al.* 1997, Kuklenyik *et al.* 2004]. To mitigate exposure, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has set provisional drinking water health advisories for two common PFAAs: 0.4 µg/L for perfluorooctanoate (PFOA) and 0.2 µg/L for perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) [U.S. EPA 2012].

PFAAs have fully fluorinated carbon chains of varying lengths; molecules with a four carbon chain up to a thirteen carbon chain have been manufactured in two common classes: acids and sulfonates [Prevedouros *et al.* 2006]. These chemicals possess distinctive properties; they have hydrophobic and oleophobic tails, and tend to form micelles [La Mesa *et al.* 1987]. Due to these unique aspects, PFAAs are used in many industrial applications, such as non-stick coatings, fire retardants, and pesticides [Prevedouros *et al.* 2006]. They have also been a component of legacy aqueous film-forming foams (AFFF) used for fire suppression [Prevedouros *et al.* 2006, Moody and Field 1999, Moody and Field 2000, Moody *et al.* 2003]. Extensive use of AFFF for military firefighter training has lead to the significant introduction of PFAAs into groundwater in sites that are often contaminated with other chemicals, such as hydrocarbons or chlorinated solvents [Moody and Field 1999, Moody and Field 2000].

The biodegradation of hydrocarbons commonly found at AFFF-impacted sites (*i.e.*, BTEX: benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene), has been extensively documented [Deeb *et al.* 2002, Patterson *et al.* 1993]. Chlorinated solvents, such as trichloroethene (TCE) and its toxic daughter products *cis*-dichloroethene (cDCE) and vinyl chloride (VC), are also common at AFFF-impacted sites [Moody and Field 1999, Moody and Field 2000, Ballapragada *et al.* 1997]. Biological reductive dechlorination (also known as enhanced reductive dechlorination, or ERD) is a bioremediation process in which an electron donor, such as lactate, is applied to generate a reducing environment and stimulate the activities of reductive dechlorinating microbial communites. Microorganisms of the genus *Dehalococcoides* (Dhc) are known to completely degrade TCE to ethene, and are therefore targeted members of these dechlorinating enrichment cultures containing strains of *Dehalococcoides mccartyi* and capable of dechlorinating TCE to ethene have been developed as bioaugmentation cultures for addition to sites with insufficient indigenous *Dehalococcoides* strains [Ballapragada *et al.* 1997, Freedman *et al.* 1989, Men *et al.* 2013].

To date, it remains unclear to what extent PFAAs may impact microbes relevant to hydrocarbon and chlorinated solvent bioremediation. While biotransformation of PFAAs is not expected [Key *et al.* 1997], concerns regarding potential adverse effects from PFAA exposure on subsurface microbial populations and subsequent co-contaminant degradability have been expressed [Moody and Field 1999]. Unexplored microbe-PFAA interactions may lead to unintended impacts on PFAA, hydrocarbon, or chlorinated solvent levels in water sources. This study sought to examine the effects of PFAAs on *Dehalococcoides* organisms with and without the presence of soil.

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 PFAA Preparation and Aqueous Analysis

Purity-corrected stock solutions of an eleven-analyte mixture were made using salts from Sigma-Aldrich in a 70/30 v/v methanol/aqueous solution as discussed in Sepulvado and Higgins 2013. The components in this mixture were: perfluorobutanoate (PFBA), perfluoropentanoate (PFPeA), perfluorohexanoate (PFHxA), perfluoroheptanoate (PFHpA), PFOA, perfluorononanoate (PFNA), perfluorodecanoate (PFDA), perfluoroundecanoate (PFUnA), perfluorobutanesulfonate (PFBS), perfluorohexanesulfonate (PFHxS), and PFOS (Table S1). This mixture was used in the following experiments unless otherwise noted. To spike each experiment with the PFAA mixture, the appropriate volume of PFAAs in 70/30 (v/v) methanol/aqueous solution was added to every experimental vessel to achieve the target aqueous concentrations. The vessels were left unsealed overnight or until the methanol from the spiking solution had evaporated to limit residual methanol that could be utilized as a carbon source for the microbial populations. Initial control experiments indicated insignificant losses of PFAAs from this evaporation step, even at 1 and 0.1 mg/L (Figure A3.1). For PFAA analysis of aqueous suspensions, samples were centrifuged, sampled, and diluted as appropriate following the methods in Sepulvado and Higgins 2013 and measured via liquid chromatography tandem mass spectroscopy (LC/MS-MS) utilizing stable-isotope surrogate standards purchased from Wellington Laboratories. An Applied Biosystems 3200 mass spectrometer (MDS Sciex) was utilized with Analyst for quantitation. Control experiments were performed to ensure that PFAA losses due to experimental setup (i.e. evaporation procedure) were quantifiable and repeatable (Figure A3.1).

3.2.2 Reductive Dechlorination in the Presence of Soil

By simplifying batch systems to contain only one dechlorinating species, PFAA effects on metabolism (such as degradation, enzymatic induction, growth) can be clearly attributed to a single type of organism without concern for competition or mixed population dynamics. To extrapolate to increasingly environmentally relevant, anaerobic systems, reductive dechlorination by a mixed community in the presence of soil was assessed for deviations in chlorinated solvent degradation upon exposure to PFAAs. Batch systems containing TCE, lactate, soil, and a PFAA mixture were designed to evaluate the degradation rates of a *Dehalococcoides*-containing methanogenic enrichment culture. Reductive dechlorination experiments contained quadruplicate sets of 50 μ g/L of each PFAA (11 analytes) added as described above to sterile 60 mL serum bottles. Following PFAA addition and methanol evaporation, 5 g of a classified air-dried loam (foc = 4.5% described in Guelfo and Higgins 2013) was added to each bottle for a soil to liquid ratio of 0.1 g/mL. The PFAA and soil preparation was performed in an anaerobic chamber (90% nitrogen, 5% hydrogen, 5% carbon dioxide) to reduce losses of PFAAs and ensure anaerobic conditions. Next, 48.5 mL of an autoclaved mineral salts medium [Men et al. 2013] containing 20 mM lactate as electron donor and 100 μ g/L vitamin B₁₂ was added to stoppered bottles with a sterile syringe. During media addition, an exhaust needle was inserted into the stopper to avoid bottle pressurization. After media addition, the headspace was gently flushed with N₂/CO₂ (90:10) to remove residual hydrogen and oxygen. Each bottle was then amended with approximately 17 µmoles of TCE (Sigma Aldrich, 99.9%) and allowed to sit for at least 24 hours to facilitate chloroethene and PFAA equilibration. At time zero, the bottles were inoculated with 3% (v/v) of the previously-grown methanogenic mixed community stock culture [Men et al. 2013] and incubated in the dark at 34°C for the duration of the experiment. All bottles were inverted several times at each sampling point to promote PFAA mixing. Two control sets were also prepared using the method above: one set was not amended with the PFAA stock solution (-PFAA) and one was not amended with TCE (-TCE). Additionally, control bottles were established by pasteurizing un-inoculated bottles containing growth media without lactate or vitamin B_{12} in a heated water bath until the soil slurry reached approximately 80°C. The water bath pasteurization was conducted prior to TCE amendment.

3.2.3 Reductive Dechlorination without Soil

To evaluate growth effects of high concentrations of PFAAs on the dechlorinating community, batch bottles containing 1 mg/L, 10 mg/L of each PFAA (11 analytes), and a non-PFAA containing control were performed in triplicate without soil. Samples were prepared and inoculated as described previously for the dechlorinating microbial community. TCE, cDCE, VC, ethene, methane, and H₂ were measured as before as a proxy for growth. All bottles were incubated for approximately 1 week at 34°C with periodic mixing. Once near-complete TCE degradation occurred in the control and 1 mg/L PFAA conditions, a second dose of 17 µmoles of TCE was added. An additional 0.2 mM lactate was amended to the control, 1 mg/L and 10 mg/L PFAA bottles. The TCE and lactate were added to promote further biomass production. The cultures were incubated for several hours before being shipped overnight from UC Berkeley to Colorado School of Mines in an insulated container. Upon receipt, samples were incubated at room temperature for one week to maximize growth. To determine whether flocculation may have occurred at a microscopic scale, each bottle was destructively sampled for EPS analysis after a final optical density and ATP measurement. TCE dechlorination rates were determined by obtaining the slope of a time-course linear regression through days four through six.

3.2.4 Chloroethene, Hydrogen, and Methane Measurement

Chloroethenes, ethene, and methane were measured by injecting 100 μ L of culture headspace into an Agilent 7890A gas chromatograph equipped with a flame ionization detector (GC-FID) and 30 m x 0.32 mm J&W capillary column (Agilent Technologies). Hydrogen concentrations were measured by injecting diluted headspace samples into a gas chromatograph fitted with a reductive gas detector (RGD) (Trace Analytical) [Men *et al.* 2013]. Between 50 and 300 μ L of culture headspace was withdrawn for each hydrogen measurement and diluted in 17 mL glass vials purged with N₂ to generate concentrations within the linear calibration range of the instrument. The total volume of extracted headspace was tracked throughout the incubation to ensure that the same approximate volume was removed from all bottles (1.5 to 1.9 mL).

To normalize dechlorination rates, Dhc cell numbers were quantified by 16S rRNA genes from extracted DNA. Cells were collected by centrifuging 1.5 mL of culture slurry at 15,000 x g for 10 minutes. Total DNA was extracted using the PowerSoil DNA Isolation Kit (MO BIO Laboratories) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Dhc 16S rRNA genes were quantified using qPCR with the protocol, primers, and standards described in Men *et al.* 2013, and it was assumed that each Dhc cell carries one 16S rRNA gene. Dhc cell counts were quantified in both the stock inocula culture at time zero and duplicate samples extracted from one culture bottle in each experimental set on day 12.

3.2.5 Cellular Preparation, Harvest, and Protein Measurements

To quantify cellular protein, aliquots of 0.5 or 1 mL were centrifuged at 15,000 x g for 3 minutes, decanted, and stored at -80°C until analysis. Cellular protein was quantified using the colorimetric Coomassie Plus Assay Reagent (Bradford) with bovine serum albumin (BSA) as the standard (Thermo Scientific) as described previously [Sharp *et al.* 2007]. Measurement of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) as an indicator for microbial activity was performed [as in Eydal and Pedersen 2007] using ATP biomass kit HS for total ATP in living cells (Biothema AB). Samples were diluted up to ten-fold during extraction to ensure measurement within the standard range.

Optical density was measured using a Jenway 6505 UV/Vis Spectrophotometer. EPS production was quantified by using a modified anthrone reagent (Fisher Scientific) total sugar and polysaccharide assay with glucose (Sigma Aldrich) as a standard [Morris 1948]. Prior to polysaccharide analysis, samples were centrifuged at 15,000 x g for 3 minutes. The supernatant was decanted and stored at 4°C. The EPS was harvested by adapting two methods that both account for loosely and tightly bound EPS: a NaCl Method [Aguilera and Souza-Egipsy 2008] and an EDTA Method [Zhang *et al.* 1999]. Both methods resulted in an agreement of trends, however the NaCl Method will be discussed herein. The NaCl Method largely follows Aguilera and Souza-Egipsy 2008, with the following exceptions: initially, a cellular aliquot was weighed and transferred to a 15 mL polypropylene conical tube with 5 mL of MilliQTM water per 1.5 g cells, and only NaCl was used for the chemical extraction.

3.3 Results and Discussion

3.3.1 Effect of PFAAs on Reductive Dechlorination in the Presence of Soil.

Batch bottles containing a loamy soil, TCE, and 50 µg/L of each PFAA analyte (550 µg/L total) were amended with lactate and a dechlorinating culture to determine the effects of low concentration (*i.e.* environmentally relevant) PFAAs on chlorinated solvent degradation rates. Soil was added to experimental bottles to validate the ability of the enrichment culture to degrade TCE in the presence of PFAAs in a simulated aquifer system. The soil also provided sorption sites for PFAAs, resulting in slightly lower aqueous PFAA concentrations than the 50 µg/L target amendment concentration. Concentration-specific soil/aqueous distribution coefficients (K_D) were calculated for each PFAA in the bottles and then normalized to the soil's f_{oc} (4.5% as described in Guelfo and Higgins 2013) to obtain a Koc (Figure 3.1). The plotted Koc values represent the average obtained from biological quadruplicates. The mass balance-approximated K_{oc} values for target PFAAs are within the range of those reported previously [Higgins and Luthy 2006, Guelfo and Higgins 2013], including the anomalous higher sorption tendencies of the shorter-chained perfluorocarboxylic acids (C₄-C₇ PFCAs and C₄ PFSA) which do not follow the chain-length dependent trend of the longer-chained PFAAs. PFAA sorption does not appear to be significantly impacted by either the presence of TCE or the inoculated microbial community. Although Guelfo and Higgins 2013 found that the presence of NAPL generally increased the sorption of C_4 - C_6 PFCAs to soil, the aqueous concentrations of TCE in the these experiments (approximately 340 μ M) was well below solubility, and therefore may not have been high enough to significantly impact PFAA partitioning.



Figure 3.1. Mass balance approximated K_{oc} values for each PFAA (50 µg/L of each) in the cultures. "All" indicates experimental bottles that contain soil, media, TCE, and the microbial community, while "-TCE" and "-ERD" indicate conditions without TCE and the microbial community ("enhanced reductive dechlorination" community), respectively.

In the experimental bottles constructed with soil, biodegradation of TCE was observed in all biotic systems, while no significant dechlorination occurred in uninoculated bottles containing pasteurized soil (Figure 3.2). No significant difference in TCE degradation was observed between cultures with and without PFAAs (Figure 3.2). The initial TCE dechlorination rates were 17.2+-1.6 and $17.4+-1.7 \mu$ M TCE/day/10⁹ Dhc cells for bottles with PFAAs and without, respectively. The presence of 50 µg/L of each PFAA did not significantly affect TCE degradation, or cDCE and vinyl chloride production (Figures 3.3A and 3.3B, respectively). Complete dechlorination of TCE occurred in both live cultures by day seven. No significant ethene production was observed in these cultures by day seven, as expected. The Dhc strain in this community harbors the *tce*A RDase gene and only slowly, co-metabolically dechlorinates VC to ethene [Men *et al.* 2013].



Figure 3.2. TCE concentrations in soil-containing bottles with and without PFAAs (50 μ g/L each).



Figure 3.3. Concentrations of cDCE (A) and vinyl chloride (B) in soil-containing cultures with and without PFAAs (50 μ g/L each).

3.3.2 Effect of PFAAs on Reductive Dechlorination in Soil-Free Cultures.

In soil-free cultures amended with higher concentrations of PFAAs (1 and 10 mg/L of each PFAA), TCE dechlorination did not occur in the presence of 10 mg/L each PFAA; however it was unaffected by the presence of 1 mg/L of each PFAA (Figure 3.4). No cDCE or VC was generated in the 10 mg/L condition, while no difference in the production of these products was observed in the control and 1 mg/L condition (Figure 3.5 A and B). Similarly to the soil-containing cultures, no ethene production was observed by day 8 in any of the cultures.



Figure 3.4. TCE concentrations in soil-free dechlorinating cultures with 1 and 10 mg/L of each PFAA as well as a 0 mg/L PFAA control culture.



Figure 3.5. Concentrations of cDCE (A) and vinyl chloride (B) in soil-free dechlorinating cultures with 1 and 10 mg/L of each PFAA as well as a 0 mg/L PFAA control culture.

3.3.3 Effect of PFAAs on Enrichment Culture Growth.

Optical density (OD_{600}) measurements taken in the soil-free dechlorinating community at the conclusion of the experiment indicate that overall microbial growth occurs in the presence of high concentrations of PFAAs (10 mg/L each) relative to the non-amended control (Figure 3.6), even though dechlorination did not occur and presumably Dhc growth was inhibited. This finding is confirmed by slight increases in methane production observed in the 10 mg/Lamended condition (Figure A3.2). It is possible that Dhc inhibition allowed methanogenic organisms to compete for and utilize the available hydrogen, and that their growth was reflected in the increased OD measurements in the 10mg/L condition (Figure 3.6). It is unclear why the ATP appears to decrease in the bottles that show greater OD measurements (Figure 3.6). ATP can generally be used as an indicator of the active microbial biomass as it is usually not conserved in non-viable cells. Hence, it is expected that increasing ATP concentrations would be correlated to increasing biomass. It is possible that the presence of higher concentrations of PFAAs selected for the growth of organisms that produce lower ATP concentrations per cells. It could also be possible that while more rapid microbial growth occurred initially in the 10 mg/L condition, the higher concentration of PFAAs caused more members of the community to enter into a late-exponential or stationary growth phase by the time the ATP was extracted at the end of the experiment.

EPS measurements obtained from the soil-free cultures (Figure 3.7) indicate that no significant differences in polymeric substance production were observed according to the PFAA concentration. This suggests that the cultures had no bias towards flocculation or biofilm production in the presence of PFAAs. This is in contrast to results previously obtained from an aerobic hydrocarbon-degrading pure culture. The cellular growth of *Rhodococcus jostii* RHA1 changed in the presence of higher concentrations of PFAAs (10 mg/L each of 11 analytes), with increased EPS production facilitating the formation of large microbial flocs during the degradation of toluene, but resulting in no difference in toluene degradation rates (data not shown). It is hypothesized that the flocculation might have offered protection to RHA1 in the presence of the PFAAs, facilitating the continued degradation of toluene.



Figure 3.6. Optical density and ATP measurements in the soil-free dechlorinating cultures amended with 0, 1, and 10 mg/L of each PFAA.



Figure 3.7. EPS concentrations in the soil-free dechlorinating cultures amended with 0, 1, and 10 mg/L of each PFAA.

3.4 Environmental Implications

TCE dechlorination by an anaerobic microbial community was inhibited by high concentrations of PFAAs (10 mg/L each of 11 PFAAs). Changes in growth characteristics or indicators of flocculation were not observed within the community regardless of PFAA presence. It is possible that species within the community do not have protective mechanisms such as the ability to produce EPS that would ensure continued degradation of TCE. These findings may have impacts on co-contaminant degradability and PFAA transport, particularly in the source zones of PFAA contamination where their concentrations are high. Not only may reductive dechlorination be less effective than predicted, but the continued presence of chlorinated solvents, particularly as NAPLs, may provide additional sorption sites for PFAAs, thus retarding PFAA transport in the subsurface [Guelfo and Higgins 2013].

This study shows that there was no significant impact of low concentrations of PFAAs on TCE dechlorination in a Dhc-containing microbial community, both in the presence and absence of soil. However, Dhc was inhibited in soil-free cultures in the presence of high concentrations of PFAAs. It is unknown whether dechlorination would still be inhibited at high PFAA concentrations in the presence of soil. This study also indicates that the calculated organic-carbon distribution coefficients (K_{oc}) for the soil-containing dechlorinating communities were not significantly impacted by the presence of TCE (< 340 μ M) or the inoculated Dhc culture. This result lends more confidence to the use of these coefficients for predicting PFAA groundwater transport in NAPL-free subsurface areas where TCE reductive dechlorination is occurring by the native microbial community.

CHAPTER 4: Effects of aqueous film-forming foam (AFFF) on TCE dechlorination by a *Dehalococcoides* enrichment culture

4.1 Introduction

Aqueous-film forming foams (AFFFs) are used for the suppression of liquid-fueled fires from jet fuel or flammable solvents [Moody and Field 2000, Tuve and Jablonski 1966]. These water-based formulations typically consist of various fluorinated and hydrocarbon surfactants and one or more glycol ether-based solvents [Moody and Field 2000]. Most AFFFs are at least 8 to 20 percent (w/w) diethylene glycol butyl ether (DGBE). AFFF has been optimized for rapid fire suppression through the addition of poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS), key constituents that allow for a reduction in surface tension that facilitates foam spreading and fire smothering [Moody and Field 2000]. Studies that have characterized the PFASs present in various AFFF formulations indicate that PFAS composition varies significantly according to AFFF manufacturer and year of production [Place et al. 2012, D'Agostino and Mabury 2014]. AFFF produced by National Foam, Ansul, Chemguard, and Buckeye generally contain fluorotelomer-based PFASs, which are polyfluorinated compounds consisting of a perfluorinated chain adjacent to two to three nonfluorinated carbons connected to an jonic functional group of varying length and structure [Place et al. 2012]. AFFF produced by the 3M Company typically contains perfluorinated sulfonates (PFSAs) and a suite of perfluoroalkyl sulfonamide amino carboxylates (PFSaAmA) and perfluoroalkyl sulfonamido amines (PFSaAm) [Place et al. 2012].

Repeated use of AFFF at military, industrial, and municipal sites has led to widespread groundwater and soil contamination by multiple classes of PFASs [Moody *et al.* 2003, Weiss *et al.* 2012, Schultz *et al.* 2004, Houtz *et al.* 2013, Backe *et al.* 2013, McGuire *et al.* 2014]. Firefighter training exercises conducted regularly at Air Force bases historically released untreated AFFF wastewater and fuels into the environment [Moody and Field 2000, Houtz *et al.* 2013, Backe *et al.* 2013]. Because chlorinated ethenes were frequently ignited as the flammable component in the training exercises, the infiltrated wastewater often consisted of AFFF and solvents such as trichloroethene (TCE) [Moody and Field 2000, Moody and Field 1999, McGuire et al. 2014]. This has led to a number of waste sites containing both TCE and PFASs.

Reductive dechlorination of trichloroethene (TCE) by *Dehalococcoides mccartyi* (Dhc) is a frequently employed *in situ* remediation strategy at many TCE-contaminated sites [Stroo and Ward 2010, McCarty 1997]. The hydrogen, acetate, and vitamin B₁₂ required for Dhc growth and dechlorination are often generated by fermentation of labile reduced organics injected into the subsurface to stimulate the activity of microbial populations co-existing with Dhc in complex subsurface communities [Duhamel and Edwards 2006, He et al. 2007, Men et al. 2013, Lee et al. 2008]. Historic and repeated infiltration of reduced carbon sources in AFFF have the potential to create a reducing environment conducive to TCE bioremediation by Dhc. However, the effects of AFFF dechlorination by Dhc and the metabolism of microorganisms fermenting AFFF organics are not well described. Because AFFF is a complex mixture of chemicals, one or more of its components could adverseley impact dechlorination. Remediation at TCE and AFFF contaminated sites has so far focused largely on chlorinated solvent contamination with little regard to the effects of PFAS presence and concentration may have on performance outcomes. The recent development of advanced analytical techniques to detect and quantify more PFAS compounds specific to AFFF has also allowed for the enumeration of an increased number of environmentally-relevant PFASs [Place et al. 2012, Houtz et al. 2012]. Better characterization of co-contaminated aquifers coupled with an improved understanding of the effects of AFFF on in situ microbial communities will lead to more effective TCE bioremediation.

This study sought to determine the effects of various AFFF formulations on TCE dechlorination by exposing an enriched anaerobic microbial community containing a *Dehalococcoides mccartyi* strain to three different formulations: 3M Light Water (3%), National Foam Aer-O-Water 3EM (3%), and Ansul Ansulite (3%). These formulations represent AFFF products that were widely applied during fire-training exercises at various U.S. military bases beginning as early as 1976 [Place *et al.* 2012]. The goals of this study were to determine whether dechlorination can occur in the presence of high concentrations of AFFF and whether the microbial communities are capable of utilizing AFFF carbon solvents to produce the hydrogen and acetate necessary to drive TCE dechlorination by Dhc. The AFFF concentrations used in this study represent conditions relevant to the repeated exposure of some subsurface microbial communities to the foams and the cumulative impacts of certain persistent AFFF components, such as perfluorocarboxylates (PFCAs) and perfluorosulfonates (PFSAs), on the activity of Dhc. The effects of individual AFFF components on the communities, such as reduced organics and certain PFAS compounds, were then examined in an effort to explain differences in dechlorination observed among the amended AFFF formulations.

4.2 Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Chemicals

AFFF 3% formulations manufactured by Ansul (Ansulite), 3M (Light Water), and National Foam (Aer-O-Water 3EM) with estimated manufacture dates of 2008, 1998, and 2008, respectively, were obtained from a U.S. military base as previously described [Place *et al.* 2012, Houtz *et al.* 2013]. Each AFFF was stored in a sealed polyethylene tube at room temperature in the dark and the same stocks were used throughout the study to ensure consistency in PFAS and solvent composition. Commercial source materials containing fluorotelomer thioamido sulfonate (FtTAoS), fluorotelomer sulfonamido betaine (FtSaB), fluorotelomer sulfonamido amine (FtSaAm), perfluoroalkyl sulfonamido amine (PFSaAm), and perfluoroalkyl sulfonamide amino carboxylate (PFSaAmA) were obtained from the Fire Fighting Coalition, and the concentrations of 6:2 FtTAoS, 6:2 FtSaB, and 6:2 FtSaAm in various stock solutions were previously determined by Backe *et al.* 2013. All PFCAs, PFSAs, fluorotelomer sulfonates (FtSs) and isotopically-labeled standards used for PFAS quantification by LC/MS-MS were purchased from Wellington Laboratories (Guelph, Ontario, CA). TCE and diethylene glycol butyl ether (DGBE) were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO), while all other chemicals were purchased from either Fisher Scientific (Waltham, MA) or Sigma Aldrich at the highest purity possible.

4.2.2 Culture Growth Conditions

All experiments were conducted in either 60 or 160 mL glass serum bottles containing 50 to 100 mL of a reduced mineral salts medium [Lee et al. 2006], 10 to 60 mL of a N₂/CO₂ (90:10) headspace, 100 µg/L vitamin B₁₂ and 18 to 25 µmoles of neat TCE that had been equilibrated 24 hours prior to culture inoculation. Approximately 3 to 5% (vol/vol) of a previously-grown Dhccontaining mixed culture was inoculated at day zero into medium representing each of the tested growth conditions and then incubated at 34°C in the dark without shaking for the duration of the experiment. The Dhc enrichment culture used for this study has been maintained in batch culture in our laboratory for over five years as previously described [Men et al. 2013] and propagated through sequential subculture during this time. The culture is typically provided lactate as an electron donor, amended with low initial concentrations of TCE (0.2 mM) to promote methanogenic activity, and given 100 μ g/L vitamin B₁₂ as an exogenously-supplied co-factor necessary for reductive dehalogenase (RDase) activity [Men et al. 2013]. The culture contains a Dehalococcoides mccartyi strain similar to Dhc strain 195 in genomic content and function [Men et al. 2013]. The strain employs a tceA RDase for the metabolic dechlorination of TCE to cisdichloroethene (cDCE) and vinyl chloride (VC) and co-metabolic dechlorination of VC to ethene [Men et al. 2013].

AFFF amendment experiments. In experiments constructed to examine the effects of AFFF on TCE dechlorination and to test the ability of AFFF to support dechlorination as the sole carbon and energy source, 300 µL of Ansul, 3M, and National Foam AFFF were separately amended to 100 mL of growth medium containing 25 μ moles of TCE and 100 μ g/L vitamin B₁₂. The AFFF was added with a sterile polypropylene syringe and the growth medium, TCE, and AFFF were equilibrated for 24 hours before culture inoculation. 5 mL of Dhc enrichment culture was then inoculated into the medium, inverted several times to mix, and incubated at 34°C for 5 hours before the first sample was taken. A set of sterile controls was prepared by inoculating previously-autoclaved culture into the medium containing AFFF and TCE, while a set of culturefree medium controls was prepared by substituting 5 mL of sterile medium for inoculation culture. The autoclaved and medium controls were constructed to quantify any abiotic reactions occurring in the cultures as well as potential PFAS losses due to irreversible binding to biomass or bottle walls. In 3M AFFF-amended cultures, approximately 2.5 mM DGBE was amended to live bottles on day 13, while two additional 300-µL doses of 3M AFFF were amended to live bottles on days 18 and 40. Ansul and National Foam AFFF-amended live bottles both received a 300-µL dose of 3M AFFF on day 33. All bottles were inverted periodically throughout the incubation to promote PFAS mixing. At each sampling time point, between 1 and 1.5 mL of well-mixed culture was removed with a sterile syringe and stored in a 2-mL polypropylene centrifuge tube. Approximately 200 µL of the culture was immediately diluted in an equal volume of HPLC-grade methanol and reserved for LC/MS-MS analysis, while the remaining culture was centrifuged at 15,000 x g for 10 minutes and stored at -20°C for future analyses. All experiments were performed in triplicate.

DGBE amendment experiments. To determine the ability of DGBE to support TCE dechlorination as a fermentable carbon and energy source, 5 mL of Dhc enrichment culture was inoculated into triplicate experimental bottles containing 100 mL growth medium, 100 µg/L vitamin B₁₂, 2.5 mM DGBE, and 25 µmoles TCE. The DGBE concentration was chosen to approximate the concentration that would be expected with a 300-µL AFFF amendment that is approximately 20% (w/w) DGBE, according to reported MSDS information on AFFF foams [FC-203CF, MSDS No CKQCB, Ansulite 3% AFFF AFC-5-A, MSDS, Aer-O-Water 3EM, MSDS No. MNS210]. DGBE was amended as a sterile stock solution previously prepared in the same anaerobic growth medium. Two additional carbon amendment conditions were tested to determine the potential toxicity of DGBE to TCE dechlorination in the cultures: triplicate bottles containing only 20 mM lactate, and triplicate bottles containing 20 mM lactate and 2.5 mM DGBE. Bottles initially amended with DGBE-only received four additional 2.5 mM doses of DGBE on days 28, 36, 92, and 118, while bottles initially amended with lactate + DGBE received one additional 2.5 mM dose of DGBE on day 92. All bottles were incubated at 34°C for 200 days and re-amended with 25 µmoles of TCE on day 92. All DGBE experiments were sampled periodically by extracting 1 to 1.5 mL of well-mixed culture into a polypropylene centrifuge tube, centrifuging at 15,000 x g for 10 minutes, and storing at -20°C for future use. All experiments were performed in triplicate.

PFAS and AFFF component amendment experiments. To determine the specific impacts of certain AFFF components, including PFASs, on TCE dechlorination by Dhc, triplicate cultures were prepared with anaerobic growth medium containing 20 mM lactate, 25 µmoles TCE, and either 18 mg/L ethylene glycol, 12 mg/L 1-propanol, 45 mg/L FtTAoS, 16 mg/L 6:2 FtSaB, or 32 mg/L 6:2 FtSaB. Lactate-only controls containing no additional AFFF compounds was also constructed in parallel. The concentration of the various added components was intended to match the expected concentration of each component in the AFFF-amended experiments to facilitate comparison of observed TCE dechlorination effects among the experiments. The concentration of the various constituents in AFFF-amended experiments was determined by either measuring concentrations in the foams directly (6:2 FtTAoS and 6:2 FtSaB) or estimating concentrations from the closest published MSDS information for each foam type (ethylene glycol, 1-propanol), which typically provides a specific gravity of the AFFF and percent by weight of each foam constituent [FC-203CF, MSDS No CKQCB, Ansulite 3% AFFF AFC-5-A, MSDS, Aer-O-Water 3EM, MSDS No. MNS210]. All bottles were incubated for five days at 34°C and inverted periodically to promote mixing.

To further assess the impact of PFSAs and PFCAs on TCE dechlorination (collectively termed perfluoroalkyl acids or PFAAs), six different PFAA-amended conditions were tested with enrichment cultures amended with 20 mM lactate and 22 µmoles TCE. Three concentrations of a suite of 11 PFAAs were tested: 2, 6, and 10 mg/L of each PFAA. The suite of PFAAs consisted of PFBA, PFPeA, PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFBS, PFHxS, and PFOS. This amendment yielded three tested conditions with total PFAA concentrations of 22, 66, and 110 mg/L, respectively. Additionally, three concentrations of PFSAs were tested: 7.3, 22, and 36.7 mg/L of PFBS, PFHxS, and PFOS each, yielding three tested conditions with total PFSA concentrations of 22, 66, and 110 mg/L, respectively. A PFAA or PFSA methanol stock solution containing each respective set of tested compounds was first evaporated in triplicate 60 mL

serum bottles in an anaerobic chamber and then stoppered and amended with 48.5 mL anaerobic growth medium, 20 mM lactate, and 22 µmoles TCE. The medium was equilibrated with the lactate, PFAAs or PFSAs, and TCE for 48 hours before inoculating with 1.5 mL Dhc enrichment culture and incubating for seven days at 34°C. Bottles were inverted once a day for several times to promote mixing. Triplicate bottles containing no PFAAs were also constructed in parallel to serve as positive controls.

4.2.3 Analytical Methods

Chloroethene, methane, and hydrogen measurement. TCE, cDCE, VC, ethene, and methane were regularly measured in all experiments by injecting 100 μ L of culture headspace into an Agilent 7890A GC-FID equipped with a GS-GasPro capillary column (30 m x 0.32 mm; Agilent Technologies, Inc., Santa Clara, USA). The oven temperature was ramped up from 45 to 200°C in 4 minutes, with a 1 minute hold at 200°C. The injector and detector temperatures were maintained at 220 and 250°C, respectively. Hydrogen concentrations were measured by injecting diluted headspace samples into a GC fitted with a reductive gas dectector (Trace Analytical, Menlo Park, CA, USA) as previously described [Men *et al.* 2013, Freeborn *et al.* 2005]. Between 50 and 300 μ L of culture headspace was withdrawn for each hydrogen measurement and diluted in 17 mL glass vials purged with nitrogen to generate concentrations within the linear calibration range of the instrument.

PFAS measurement. PFAS compounds were quantified on an Agilent 6410 LC/MS-MS operating in both positive and negative electrospray ionization modes using the MS parameters, ion transitions, and internal standards as previously described [Houtz et al. 2013]. Diluted culture samples reserved for LC/MS-MS quantification were first vortexed for 30 minutes at room temperature and then centrifuged at 15,000 x g for 10 minutes. The supernatant was diluted with HPLC-grade methanol and water and then amended with 50 µL of an internal standard stock containing 20 to 40 µg/L of various internal standards [Houtz et al. 2013]. PFAS analytes for which a commercial analytical standard or quantified source material was available were directly quantified using isotope dilution. For the PFAS compounds in the 3M AFFF formulation used in this study: C4, C5, C6, and C8 perfluoroalkyl sulfonamide amino carboxylates (PFSaAmA) and C4, C5, C6, and C8 perfluoroalkyl sulfonamido amines (PFSaAm), the concentrations in the cultures were estimated according to the method described in the supporting information of Houtz et al. 2013, which first normalized the LC/MS-MS analyte responses of the sulfonamide compounds to the PFHxS internal standard response and then quantifies a concentration utilizing an empirically-generated relative response coefficient for each PFSaAmA and PFSaAm perfluorinated chain length.

Organic acid quantification. Acetate, lactate, propionate, and butyrate were quantified with on an HPLC equipped with an Aminex HPX-87H ion exclusion column (300 x 7.8mm, Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) and a photodiode array detector (PDA) set at 210 nm (Waters, Milford, MA). Solvent consisted of 5 mM H₂SO₄ and was provided at a constant flow rate of 0.6 mL/min. 200 μ L of centrifuged culture sample was acidified with H₂SO₄ in a 1 mL amber glass vial, and all organic acids were quantified using external calibration curves as previously described [He *et al.* 2007].

Dhc 16S rDNA quantification. Dhc cell numbers were determined by quantifying Dhc 16S rRNA gene copies in the AFFF-amended cultures. Cells were collected from 1.5 mL of centrifuged culture sample (15,000 x g for 10 minutes) taken from AFFF amended incubations on days 0, 12, 20, 31, 41, and 53. DNA was extracted from the cell pellets using the PowerSoil DNA Isolation Kit (MO BIO Laboratories, Inc, Carlsbad, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Dhc 16S rRNA gene copies were quantified with quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) using the protocol, primers, and standards described previously [Men *et al.* 2013]. DNA extraction and 16S qPCR enumeration conducted on non-AFFF controls (data not shown) indicates that the AFFF surfactants had no significant effect on extraction and qPCR efficiency. It is assumed the Dhc strain in this enrichment culture contains one 16S rRNA gene copy per cell [Men *et al.* 2013].

4.3 Results

4.3.1 AFFF Amendment Experiments

When 300 µL AFFF was amended to TCE dechlorinating communities as the sole carbon and energy source, active dechlorination was only observed with the 3M AFFF and was completely inhibited with the Ansul and National Foam formulations (Figure 4.1A-C). Aqueous hydrogen concentrations in the active 3M and inactive Ansul cultures were maintained below 0.12 µM, while the inactive National Foam-AFFF amended culture exhibited H₂ concentrations of 2 µM after 10 days and remained approximately constant for the duration of the incubation (Figure 4.2A). To determine whether the supplemental carbon in the 3M AFFF provided additional fermentable growth substrates to facilitate dechlorination. DGBE and/or 3M AFFF were amended to the cultures. For the cultures originally fed 3M AFFF, DGBE and 3M AFFF were added when dechlorination stalled, on days 12, 18, and 40 (Figure 4.1A). Approximately 10 umoles TCE were dechlorinated from days 12 to 30, while no further dechlorination was observed after day 30 (Figure 4.1A), yielding a total of 25 µmoles TCE that were dechlorinated to cDCE and vinyl chloride. Small amounts of aqueous hydrogen production were observed after each 3M AFFF amendment, but not following DGBE amendment (Figure A4.2). Increases in methane production similarly corresponded to AFFF amendment, yielding a total of 16 umoles methane production during the 60-day incubation, while no increase in methane concentration was observed in the 5 days following DGBE amendment (Figure 4.1D). For the National Foam- and Ansul-amended cultures, no dechlorination was observed even after the amendment of 3M AFFF, and no significant methane production was detected (Figure A4.1). No TCE dechlorination, methane, or hydrogen was detected in autoclaved cultures or medium control bottles under any AFFF amendment condition.

Acetate production was greatest in National Foam cultures (~2 mM), followed by 3M cultures (~1 mM) and Ansul cultures (~0.5 mM) (Figure 4.2B), while approximately 1 mM acetate was measured at time 0 in both live and autoclaved cultures due to carryover from the inoculated culture stock (Figure 4.2B). Lactate and butyrate were not detected in any of the live, autoclaved, or medium control cultures, while approximately 1 mM propionate was measured at time 0 in both live and autoclaved cultures due to organic acid carryover from the inoculated stock culture. The propionate concentration remained unchanged in all cultures throughout the incubation. No significant Dhc growth, as measured by 16S rRNA gene copy numbers, was detected in any of the AFFF amendment cultures (Figure A4.3).

The concentrations of all measured PFAS compounds remained unchanged during the incubation of each AFFF formulation, indicating that the compounds in the three tested foams wre persistent in these anaerobic cultures and likely did not transform abiotically or through microbial biotransformation (Figures A4.4-A4.7). PFOS was the most abundant PFAS in 3M amended cultures, while PFBS, PFHxS, PFHpS, C_4 - C_6 PFSaAm, and C_4 - C_6 PFSaAmA were also detected (Figure A4.4B). Each PFAS compound approximately doubled and then tripled following the second and third respective 3M AFFF doses to these cultures (Figure A4.4A-B). PFOS was present in 3M amended cultures at 25 mg/L after the first amendment and then increased to 40 and 60 mg/L following successive amendments (Figure A4.4A).

6:2 FtSaB, 6:2 FtSaAm, 6:2 FtS, and 8:2 FtS were detected in National Foam amended cultures and together yielded a total PFAS concentration of approximately 30 mg/L (Figure A4.6A). The total PFAS concentration increased to 70-80 mg/L after day 33 following 3M amendment to the National Foam-containing cultures, reflecting a 40 mg/L total PFAS contribution from the 3M dose (Figure A4.6A). 6:2 FtTAoS was the only PFAS detected in Ansul-containing cultures and was present at approximately 70 mg/L. This represented the total PFAS concentration in the cultures until 3M was amended on day 33, after which the PFAS concentration increased to 110-120 mg/L (Figure A4.7A). In each of the three AFFF conditions tested, the total PFAS concentrations in autoclaved and medium controls remained relatively constant throughout the incubation, indicating that no significant abiotic reactions or physical losses occurred in any of the experiments (Figure A4.5, A4.6B, A4.7B).


Figure 4.1. Concentrations of TCE (A) cDCE (B), vinyl chloride (C), and methane in cultures amended with 3M, National Foam or Ansul AFFF. Legend indicates the AFFF that was initially amended to the cultures at time 0. Arrows on A denote additional 3M AFFF (solid) and DGBE (dotted) amendments to cultures. Error bars represent the standard deviation of triplicate biological bottles.



Figure 4.2. Hydrogen production (A) and acetate production (B) in 3M-, Ansul- and National Foam-AFFF amended TCE-dechlorinating cultures.

4.3.2 DGBE Amendment Experiments

To confirm that DGBE can serve as a fermentable organic capable of driving TCE dechlorination, multiple amendments of 2.5 mM DGBE were made to Dhc enrichment cultures as sole organic carbon and energy source (amendments made on days 0, 28, 36, 92 and 118) (Figure 4.3A-D). Two doses of 25 μ moles TCE were dechlorinated to vinyl chloride and ethene with dechlorination rates that were slower than those for lactate-containing cultures. Interestingly, no difference was observed between cultures amended with lactate + DGBE and those amended with lactate only (Figure 4.3A), suggesting that lactate is more labile for fermentation. All conditions received a second dose of TCE on day 90, while only the lactate + DGBE and DGBE-only conditions received additional carbon at that time (2.5 mM DGBE). TCE dechlorination stalled in both the lactate + DGBE and lactate conditions after approximately 125 days (Figure 4.3A).

Approximately 15-20 μ moles methane were produced in the lactate and lactate + DGBE conditions during the first 25 days (Figure 4.4A), while no methane was initially produced in the DGBE-only condition. Methane was produced (2 µmoles) after day 60 in the DGBE only condition and again after day 150 when the TCE was completely removed (Figure 4.4A). Aqueous hydrogen concentrations in the lactate and lactate + DGBE conditions increased rapidly to 0.15 µM in the first two days (Figure 4.4B), after which the hydrogen was subsequently consumed, leaving a residual concentrations of 0.05 µM until the second TCE amendment when it decreased to nearly 0.0005 µM (Figure 4.4B and A4.8). In the DGBE-only condition, hydrogen remained just under 0.001 µM throughout most of the incubation (Figure A4.8), with slight increases after days 60 and 150 when the TCE was completely removed (Figure A4.8). No significant acetate production was measured in the DGBE-only condition, while approximately 7 mM acetate was produced in the lactate and lactate + DGBE conditions, as expected with the standard growth of this culture on lactate (Figure 4.4C). All conditions contained approximately 1 mM acetate and 1 mM proprionate at time 0 as the organic acids were present in the culture inoculum stock. Lactate, butyrate, and propionate production were not observed in DGBE-only amended cultures.



Figure 4.3. Concentrations of TCE (A), cDCE (B), VC (C), and ethene (D) cultures amended with lactate, lactate + DGBE, or DGBE-only as sole carbon and energy sources.



Figure 4.4. Concentrations of methane (A), aqueous hydrogen (B) and acetate (C) in cultures amended with either lactate, lactate + DGBE, or DGBE-only as a carbon and energy source. Inset on B shows reduced y-axis scale to show hydrogen concentrations.

4.3.3 PFAS and AFFF Component Amendment Experiments

To provide insight into which substances in National Foam and Ansul AFFFs may have inhibited TCE dechlorination, the principal fluorinated surfactants, 6:2 FtSaB and 6:2 FtTAoS, as well as two solvents, ethylene glycol and 1-propanol, that are reported to comprise the National Foam and Ansul AFFF formulations at 6 to 8% and 0.4%, respectively [Ansulite 3% AFFF AFC-5-A MSDS, Aer-O-Water 3EM MSDS No. MNS210], were amended to lactate-fermenting cultures. The tested concentrations of each of the compounds were intended to reproduce concentrations present in AFFF-amended experiments. TCE dechlorination was not affected by the presence of 18 mg/L ethylene glycol, 12 mg/L 1-propanol, or 45 mg/L 6:2 FtTAoS when compared to a non-amended control; however, dechlorination was slowed by the presence of 16 mg/L 6:2 FtSaB and stalled completely in the presence of 32 mg/L FtSaB (Figure 4.5). Production of dechlorination to vinyl chloride was significantly slower in the 16 mg/L FtSaB condition compared to the non-amended control (Figure A4.9A-B). No difference in

cDCE, vinyl chloride, and ethene production was observed between the control culture and the cultures amended with ethylene glycol, propanol, or FtTAoS (Figure A4.9A-C). Hydrogen production and consumption rates did not vary significantly among the conditions tested, although consumption after day 1 may have been slightly faster in the non-amended control (Figure A4.10B). The concentration of both FtSaB and FtTAoS were stable over the incubation period indicating the PFASs did not biotransform or bind to biomass.



Figure 4.5. TCE dechlorination in the presence of 16 and 32 mg/L 6:2 FtSaB, 18 mg/L ethylene glycol, 12 mg/L 1-propanol, and 45 mg/L 6:2 FtTAoS.

No TCE dechlorination occurred in the presence of 110 mg/L total PFAAs, while dechlorination rates were not significantly affected by the presence of 22, 66, and 110 mg/L total PFSAs and 22 mg/L total PFAAs (Figure 4.6). TCE dechlorination may have been slightly inhibited in the presence of 66 mg/L total PFAAs, however, there were larger standard deviations for the TCE concentrations of the triplicate culture bottles in this condition (Figure 4.6). No cDCE, vinyl chloride, or ethene was produced in cultures amended with 110 mg/L PFAAs, while the compounds' production in all other conditions remains identical to the no-PFAA control (Figure A4.11A-C). Slightly more methane and hydrogen are produced in the 110 mg/L PFAA-amendment condition than the no-PFAA control (Figure A4.12A-B), although very little methane is produced overall in all of the conditions (<5 μ moles), including the control (Figure A4.12A).



Figure 4.6. TCE dechlorination in the presence of various concentrations of PFAAs (PFCAs + PFSAs) or PFSAs.

4.4 Discussion

The carbon solvents in all three AFFF formulations were fermentable by the anaerobic microbial community used in this study, despite the fact that only one of the three (3M) was capable of supporting dechlorination. The varying concentrations of hydrogen and acetate produced from each AFFF likely reflect the foams' differing initial solvent compositions, the culture's ability to ferment the solvents, and any effects other foam constituents may have had on fermenting microbial populations.

Reported MSDS information indicates that although total carbon solvents typically constitute ~20% (w/w) of an AFFF formulation, foams contain varying concentrations of DGBE along with other solvents. National Foam AFFF typically contains 8-12% (w/w) ethylene glycol, a know microbial carbon and energy source that could be responsible for the higher concentrations of acetate and hydrogen observed in National Foam-amended cultures (Figure 4.2A-B). The anaerobic degradation of ethylene glycol to acetate, hydrogen, and ethanol by a variety of microorganisms has been observed previously [Gaston *et al.* 1962, Dwyer and Tiedje 1983, Dwyer and Tiedje 1986, Strab and Schink 1986], including its fermentation by a *Desulfovibrio* strain [Dwyer and Tiedje 1986], a genus commonly found in dechlorinating microbial communities and represented in the culture used in this study [Men *et al.* 2013]. Although the addition of 18 mg/L ethylene glycol to cultures fermenting lactate did not produce more hydrogen than cultures given only lactate in this study (Figure A4.10B), it is likely the microorganisms preferentially consumed the lactate over the ethylene glycol, as the cultures are regularly maintained in lactate-containing growth medium.

Although to our knowledge anaerobic microbial degradation of DGBE has not yet been reported, a variety of polyethylene glycol compounds (PEGs), including diethylene glycol (DEG) and triethylene glycol (TEG), have been shown to biodegrade under anaerobic conditions to acetate and hydrogen, and even to methane when degraded by methanogenic consortia [Dwyer and Tiedje 1983, Dwyer and Tiedje 1986]. However, in this study, the observed dechlorination coupled with the low hydrogen concentrations and absence of acetate accumulation observed in cultures provided DGBE as the sole carbon and energy source (Figure 4.4B-C) indicated that the fermentation of DGBE in these cultures was stoichiometrically able to support reductive dechlorination. Interestingly, the methane and hydrogen concentrations began to increase in these cultures immediately following the disappearance of each TCE dose – on day 50 and after day 150, suggesting that TCE may inhibit the complete fermentation of DGBE to hydrogen, methane, and acetate. This may also have been demonstrated in cultures initially amended with 3M AFFF as the methane concentrations appeared to inversely correlate with TCE concentrations. However, the inhibition appears to be unidirectional as 2.5 mM DGBE did not inhibit TCE dechlorination in the presence of 20 mM lactate (Figure 4.3A). Although DGBE fermentation appears to at least partially support TCE dechlorination by producing small amounts of hydrogen electron donor (Figures 4.3 and 4.4), all AFFF-amended experiments produced greater concentrations of both hydrogen and acetate, even though the initial supplied mass of organic carbon to DGBE-amended experiments was approximately the same. This suggests that lower concentrations of the other carbon sources in AFFF could be responsible for the hydrogen, acetate, and methane production in the AFFF-amended experiments (Figures 4.1 and 4.2). These organics may include ethylene glycol in the National Foam formulation, 1propanol and hexylene glycol in Ansul AFFF or hydrocarbon surfactants that are reported to be

present in all three AFFFs at 1-11% (w/w). However, due to the proprietary nature of AFFF foams, specific components are not well described in type and concentration.

TCE dechlorination occurred in the presence of 0.3% (v/v) 3M AFFF concentrate in water, but was inhibited in the presence of the same dilution of National Foam and Ansul AFFF formulations. The dechlorination in 3M-amended cultures appears to have been supported primarily by the fermentation of 3M AFFF carbon sources to hydrogen and acetate that promoted dechlorination activity of Dhc, although it is unclear why TCE stalled after 30 days. Although sufficient hydrogen and acetate were also produced in the Ansul and National Foam-amended cultures to support dechlorination (aqueous hydrogen concentration above the minimum threshold range for Dhc (1 - 2 nM) [Yang and McCarty 1998, Löffler *et al.* 2013]) no TCE degradation was observed, suggesting that chemical(s) unique to Ansul and National Foam formulations specifically inhibit Dhc dechlorination but not microbial fermention. As methane production was also not observed in Ansul and National Foam-amended cultures, the same chemicals inhibitory to TCE dechlorination might also suppress methanogenic activity. The lack of methane production following the amendment of 3M AFFF to Ansul- and National Foam-containing cultures confirms the presence of methanogenic inhibitory compounds in those formulations.

TCE dechlorination inhibition in National Foam amended cultures may have been due to the presence of its principal PFAS compound, 6:2 FtSaB. Interestingly, higher concentrations of the principle PFAS in Ansul AFFF, 6:2 FtTAoS had no effect on TCE dechlorination (Figure 4.5). Although the tested concentration of 6:2 FtTAoS in the PFAS-amended experiment was slightly lower (45 mg/L) than the measured concentration in the Ansul-amended experiment (60 mg/L), if dechlorination inhibition in the presence of Ansul AFFF was due primarily to the presence of this PFAS, it might be expected that at least some effect on TCE dechlorination would be observed at 45 mg/L 6:2 FtTAoS. It thus remains unclear why no TCE dechlorination was observed in Ansul AFFF-amended experiments. The total initial concentration of PFASs in cultures with 3M AFFF was 33% higher (by mass) than the concentration in cultures with National Foam AFFF (40 and 30 mg/L, Figures A4.4A and A4.6A, respectively), however, TCE dechlorination occurred even after two doses of 3M AFFF had been amended (Figure 4.1A). This suggests that dechlorination inhibition may not only be dependent on PFAS concentration, but on type and structure. Furthermore, 6:2 FtTAoS and 6:2 FtSaB both possess 6 perfluorinated carbons and have similar molecular weights (587 and 570 grams/mole for 6:2 FtTAoS and 6:2 FtSaB, respectively). If dechlorination inhibition was primarily due to the effects of the fluoroalkyl chains, it would be expected that 45 mg/L 6:2 FtTAoS would instead show greater inhibitory effects on TCE degradation than 32 mg/L 6:2 FtSaB due to the increased quantity of -CF₂ groups in the FtTAoS-amended cultures. This may indicate that dechlorination inhibition in these experiments is attributable to the effects of the PFASs' non-fluorinated functional groups.

The simplest PFAS functional group structures are represented in the PFSA and PFAA amendment experiments (Figure 4.6), where the effects of having a sulfonate or carboxylate group adjacent to the perfluoroalkyl chain are differentiated. Because the concentration of each PFSA in the 110 mg/L total PFSA condition is greater than the concentration of each PFSA in the 110 mg/L total PFAA condition (Figure 4.6), then either the PFCAs are singularly responsible for TCE dechlorination inhibition in this experiment, or the combination of PFCAs and PFSAs together cause inhibition. Yet, dechlorination activity still occurs with higher

concentrations of PFAAs than 6:2 FtSaB, suggesting that the inhibition in FtSaB-amended experiments is likely attributable to the PFAS's non-fluorinated functional group. FtSaB was the only tested PFAS in this study that contains a non-fluorinated betaine functional group, which could potentially aid in the binding of the compound to negatively charged biomolecules, such as proteins and nucleic acids. Such binding might interfere with normal cellular metabolic and replication processes.

Although the mode of dechlorination inhibition of Dhc is not clear, it is possible that the PFASs are directly interacting with Dhc cells to prevent dechlorination, *e.g.* by interacting specifically with RDases to prevent dechlorination or binding to Dhc's proteinaceous S-layer and preventing proper transport functions. A previous study found that the hydrocarbon surfactant Tween-80 specifically inhibited dechlorination by Dhc organisms, but not other gram-positive and gram-negative dechlorinating isolates [Amos *et al.* 2007]. Surfactant sorption or partial diffusion through Dhc's S-layer might prevent the cells' proper metabolism and replication, and could potentially explain the absence of observable Dhc growth in the 3M AFFF-amended experiments (Figure A4.3).

4.5 Environmental Implications

The results of this study suggest that there is a complex interplay between AFFF and TCE bioremediation communities dependent on the AFFF formulation and composition. The carbon solvents in the three tested AFFFs in this study were fermentable under anaerobic conditions and produced the hydrogen and acetate necessary to support dechlorination by *Dehalococcoides*. Although the biodegradation of DGBE appears to produce lower concentrations of hydrogen than other carbon constituents in the foams, such as ethylene glycol, organics in each of the AFFF formulations were capable of providing the hydrogen and acetate required for dechlorination by Dhc.

However, the type and quantity of PFAS compounds present may determine whether dechlorination will occur in the presence of AFFF, and the total mass concentration of PFAS compounds may be insufficient for predicting TCE degradation. Although the PFAS concentrations examined in this study are up to an order of magnitude higher than those found in the limited number of field studies that quantified known compounds in soil and groundwater at AFFF-impacted field sites, it has also been revealed that major fractions of PFASs in the field are currently unidentified and may constitute up to 30% of the total PFASs detected in the samples [Houtz *et al.* 2013, McGuire *et al.* 2014]. Additionally, there is increasing evidence that site remediation activities and *in situ* biotransformation may be responsible for the conversion of AFFF PFAS compounds, such as FtTAoS, into more water-soluble PFCAs [McGuire *et al.* 2014, results of Chapter 2], potentially increasing the load of PFAAs microbial communities are exposed to.

AFFF application at firefighter training sites was often heterogeneous with respect to time and formulation use. Foams from different manufacturers and production years were often used at the same site, leading to groundwater and soil contaminated with multiple classes of carbon solvents and PFASs. Additional research is needed to describe the effects of a range of AFFF concentrations on microbial communities in the presence of soil and the potential combinatorial effects of multiple formulations types. These experiments should be coupled to fundamental studies with Dhc isolates that examine the mechanisms of PFAS inhibition and seek to determine whether the inhibition is reversible. A holistic understanding of the effects of AFFF on TCE-dechlorinating microbial communities will lead to better sequential treatment operations at AFFF and chloroethene-contaminated sites.

CHAPTER 5: Effects of varying growth conditions on TCE stable carbon isotope fractionation by *Dehalococcoides* cultures

Reproduced with permission from Harding, K.C.; Lee, P.K.H.; Bill, M.; Buscheck, T.E.; Conrad, M.; Alvarez-Cohen, L. Effects of varying growth conditions on stable carbon isotope fractionation of trichloroethene (TCE) by *tce*A-containing *Dehalococcoides mccartyi* strains. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2013**, *47*, 12342-12350.

© 2013 American Chemical Society

5.1 Introduction

The chlorinated hydrocarbon and industrial solvent trichloroethene (TCE) is one of the most common groundwater contaminants in the United States [Westrick et al. 1984, NRC 1994, US DHHS 2005]. Past disposal and storage methods that resulted in the widespread contamination of groundwater aquifers pose a significant threat to human health due to the potential for transport to potable water and irrigation supplies. As aquifer depletion and overdrafting accelerate in the United States [Zekster et al. 2005], this threat continues to grow. The anaerobic dechlorination of TCE to non-toxic ethene by microorganisms of the widelyoccurring soil bacterium Dehalococcoides mccartyi (Dhc) makes in situ bioremediation with indigenous or augmented strains a cost-effective and less invasive remediation strategy at many contaminated sites [Lovley 2003, Lemming et al. 2010]. Confirming the transformation of chlorinated solvents in field environments that have complex stratigraphy and are often illcharacterized remains, however, a challenging task. Physical attenuation processes such as dilution, dispersion and sorption may dominate concentration profiles, and co-contamination or off-site sources of compounds resembling biological daughter products of TCE reduction, such as cis- and trans-dichloroethene (cDCE and tDCE) or vinyl chloride (VC), can complicate site degradation assessments.

Measuring a compound's stable isotope ratio has been used increasingly in recent years by practitioners aiming to confirm and quantify in situ contaminant transformation [Elsner et al. 2005, Bombach *et al.* 2010]. Because a detectable and unique shift in a compound's isotope composition accompanies an irreversible chemical or biological transformation, quantifying the kinetic isotope fractionation with compound-specific isotope analysis (CSIA) can provide evidence for the contaminant's degradation and elucidate potential transformation pathways [Meckenstock et al. 2004, Bloom et al. 2000]. This analysis relies on the slightly faster enzymatic reaction of lighter isotopes (e.g. ¹²C) over heavier isotopes (¹³C), leaving a dynamic enrichment of heavy isotopes in the residual substrate and an accumulation of lighter isotopes in the product. The kinetic isotope fractionation of chlorinated hydrocarbons follows a distribution described by the Rayleigh equation and is quantified in the laboratory for a given compound and reaction pathway by reporting an enrichment factor, e [Lollar et al. 1999, Lee et al. 2007]. Because biological and chemical transformations of chlorinated ethenes cause isotope shifts that are one to two orders of magnitude greater than those produced by physical processes, various co-occurring transport or phase-transfer processes have only a minor impact on the overall isotopic fractionation [Huang et al. 1999, Poulson and Drever 1999]. Coupling CSIA with measured geochemical parameters, contaminant site concentrations, and hydrogeological data may further inform site remediation decisions by confirming the occurrence and activity of reductive dechlorination.

Currently, quantifying the *in situ* bioremediation of organic compounds with CSIA requires the extrapolation of laboratory-acquired enrichment factors to field isotope data [Hunkeler *et al.* 2004, Morrill *et al.* 2005, Chartrand *et al.* 2005]. The application of a non-representative enrichment factor can lead to significant errors in estimated degradation rates [Nijenhuis *et al.* 2005]. Previous studies that have measured this shift during the reductive dechlorination of chlorinated ethenes showed that enrichment factors can be highly variable from site-to-site and culture-to-culture, and are not only a function of the degrading microorganisms and enzymes, but also vary according to independent experiments conducted by different

laboratories [Bloom et al. 2000, Lee et al. 2007, Fletcher et al. 2011, Cichocka et al. 2008, Slater et al. 2001, Duhamel et al. 2002, Liang et al. 2007]. Enrichment factors currently reported for TCE dechlorination range between -2.5 and -16‰ for pure cultures and enriched communities [Bloom et al. 2000, Lee et al. 2007, Fletcher et al. 2011, Cichocka et al. 2008, Liang et al. 2007] Dhc strains possessing the *tce*A reductive dehalogenase (RDase) gene were reported by different laboratories to have enrichment factors of -9.6±0.4 ‰ and -13.7±1.8 ‰ for strain 195 [Lee et al. 2007, Cichocka et al. 2008], and -8.0±0.4 ‰ for strain FL2 [Fletcher et al. 2011]. Significantly different enrichment factors (-8.4 ± 0.3 % and -5.1 ± 0.3 %) were also reported by two laboratories for the reductive dechlorination of 1,1-DCE by the bvcA RDase in Dhc strain BAV1 [Lee et al. 2007, Fletcher et al. 2011]. This suggests that the same enzyme may produce different isotopic fractionations, and that there is not always reproducibility between laboratories for a given organism, enzyme, or compound. This raises a question about whether specific growth and enrichment conditions or culture maintenance protocols could contribute to differences in the observed fractionation patterns. Additionally, the enrichment factors for most of these organisms were quantified under conditions designed to maximize cellular growth and dechlorination rates.

As *in situ* environmental conditions often differ significantly from those established for Dhc laboratory growth, it is important to explore the potential impacts of growth conditions on isotopic fractionation. This study sought to determine the effects of variable growth conditions on the stable carbon isotope fractionation of TCE by examining the fractionation produced by a single RDase (tceA) present in a variety of cultures. The growth conditions of tceA-containing Dhc were varied while the organisms were grown in pure culture, co-culture, and in enriched microbial communities, and their respective enrichment factors were quantified. Tested growth conditions were chosen on the basis of relevancy to field environments, potential differences in applied enrichment techniques, and achievability in the laboratory given Dhc's strict growth and nutritional requirements. Some tested conditions, such as limited vitamin B₁₂ in the growth medium and induced nitrogen fixation, are known to produce changes in Dhc195's physiological and dechlorination activity [Lee et al. 2009, He et al. 2007, Johnson et al. 2009, Lee et al. 2012]. Elevating aqueous vinyl chloride concentrations above 1.6 mM was previously shown in our laboratory to slow TCE dechlorination by Dhc195 (unpublished data). A reduced incubation temperature causes long dechlorination lag periods and slower TCE transformation rates to cDCE. Dhc growth in co-cultures and enriched mixed communities is generally more robust with greater cell yields and faster cell-normalized dechlorination rates [Duhamel et al. 2002, He et al. 2007, Men et al. 2011]. Here it is hypothesized that different physiological states which produce wide variations in enzymatic dechlorination rates may lead to changes in TCE isotope fractionation by altering the suite of cellular kinetic processes that control the observed fractionation, such as membrane transport and enzyme-substrate binding. Similarly, the growth of Dhc in varying enrichment environments which have different community structures and activities could produce changes in enzyme activity and associated kinetic processes, leading to changes in fractionation. To isolate the observed differences in fractionation produced by different RDases dechlorinating different chloroethenes, the isotope fractionation of one chloroethene (TCE) was quantified by one RDase (tceA) present in multiple cultures during reductive dechlorination to cDCE.

5.2 Materials and Methods

5.2.1 Chemicals

All chemicals used in the following experiments were obtained from Fisher Scientific (Houston, TX), or Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). The TCE amended to each culture (Sigma Aldrich, highest purity possible) was taken from the same stock bottle in order to minimize variation in the starting isotope composition.

5.2.2 Culture Growth Conditions

All experiments were conducted in 160 mL glass serum bottles containing 100 mL of liquid media and 50 to 80 µmoles of neat TCE that had been equilibrated 24 hours prior to inoculation using materials previously described [He et al. 2003]. Cultures were transferred at 3 to 10% (v/v) from maintenance bottles to fresh anaerobic medium representing their respective nutritional and growth conditions. Each experiment was constructed with triplicate bottles and autoclaved controls, except the standard growth control which was constructed using six biological replicates. For the standard growth control experiment, Dhc195 was grown in pure culture under conditions previously described [He et al. 2003]. This includes growth at 34 °C in 100 mL defined mineral medium with 5mM acetate as a carbon source, 60 mL H_2/CO_2 (80:20) headspace for electron donor, 5.6 mM NH₄Cl, 100 µg/L vitamin B₁₂ and approximately 78 µmoles of TCE. For the B₁₂ and VC stress experiments, a standard-grown Dhc195 culture was sub-cultured (3% v/v) in biological triplicates into medium containing no B_{12} or medium equilibrated with 300 µmoles of gaseous VC, with 78 µmoles of TCE in each condition. This provided experimental growth conditions with effective B_{12} concentrations less than 3 µg/L, a concentration similar to what was shown to limit TCE dechlorination and cellular growth rates in pure Dhc cultures [He et al. 2007], and with an elevated aqueous VC concentration of approximately 1.6 mM. This concentration of VC is nearly three times higher than the initial aqueous concentration of TCE and approximately four times higher than the aqueous VC concentration that results from the complete reduction of 78 µmoles TCE. Previous experiments in our laboratory indicated that amending media with 1.6 mM aqueous VC slowed dechlorination of TCE by Dhc195 relative to control cultures (unpublished data). Because the functional RDase of Dhc195 (tceA) can only co-metabolically catalyze VC reduction to ethene, VC accumulation could potentially occur in environments lacking organisms that possess vcrA, bvcA, or other functionally equivalent enzymes. A culture of Dhc195 capable of growth and dechlorination at the suboptimal temperature of 22°C was maintained over the course of a year and sub-cultured at 10% v/v multiple times in order to test decreased temperature affects on dechlorination rates. For isotope experiments, stock bottles were sub-cultured at 10% v/v into biological triplicates containing 78 µmoles of TCE and incubated at 22°C for the duration of the experiment. A serially-diluted culture of Dhc195 actively fixing atmospheric dinitrogen was also maintained in our laboratory for over 3.5 years and was sub-cultured and grown in a modified medium under a pressurized nitrogen headspace $(8.3 \cdot 10^4 \text{ N/m}^2)$ for these experiments, as previously described [Lee et al. 2009].

Co-cultures of Dhc195 and *Desulfovibrio vulgaris* Hildenborough (DVH) were maintained with 5 mM lactate as a carbon source as previously described [Men *et al.* 2011]. Stable co-cultures of Dhc195 and *Syntrophomonas wolfei* had also been maintained in the laboratory for over 2 years by sub-culturing 5% v/v into 100 mL medium with either 20 mM crotonate and 55 µmoles TCE or 5 mM lactate and 78 µmoles TCE. All co-cultures were maintained in the same mineral salts medium with a N₂/CO₂ headspace (90:10) and 100 µg/L amended B₁₂ at 34 °C.

The carbon isotope fractionation of TCE was also determined for a Dhc-containing mixed community before and after a two-year enrichment period under three defined growth conditions. The development of these communities is reported elsewhere [Men *et al.* 2013] and includes the following 3 enrichments that were all derived from the same parent culture, a methanogenic community amended with low initial TCE (55 µmoles) and 100 µg/L B₁₂ (LoTCEB12/Parent). The subsequent 3 enrichments included methanogen-inhibited cultures amended with high initial TCE (78 µmoles) and (1) no B₁₂ (HiTCE) or (2) 100 µg/L B₁₂ (HiTCEB12), and (3) a methanogenic culture amended with low TCE (55 µmoles) and 100 µg/L B₁₂ (LoTCEB12). The effects of carbon source limitation on TCE fractionation were also explored using the HiTCEB12 culture that was starved of lactate after 4 days (HiTCEB12/LowLac).

5.2.3 TCE Degradation Rate Calculation

An initial TCE degradation rate was quantified for each culture by assuming an insignificant cell growth rate and calculating the slope of a time-course linear regression through the first 3 to 5 measured TCE concentration points for each biological replicate. This typically represented the first 2 to 5 days of TCE degradation for Dhc pure and co-cultures, and 1 to 2 days for Dhc enrichment cultures. All numbers were normalized to the number of inoculated Dhc cells, determined from quantifying 16S rDNA copy numbers [Men *et al.* 2011, Men *et al.* 2013, Lee *et al.* 2012] and subsequently adjusting for the appropriate dilution. Average TCE degradation rates are reported along with their standard deviations, which represent all biological replicates quantified.

5.2.4 Experimental Methods and Isotopic Quantification

The concentrations of TCE and its transformation products cDCE, VC, and ethene were measured regularly by injecting 100 μ L of culture headspace into a GS-GasPro capillary column (30 m x 0.32 mm; Agilent Technologies, Inc., Santa Clara, USA) on an Agilent 7890A gas chromatograph equipped with a flame ionization detector (GC-FID). The applied GC temperature program ramped the oven from 45 to 200°C in 4 minutes, with a 1 minute hold at 200°C. Samples for isotope analysis were prepared by injecting 7 mL of liquid culture into a previously-evacuated and stoppered 10 mL glass vial containing NaCl and 1 M NaOH to facilitate chloroethene volatilization and cell death, respectively. Headspace samples (200-1000 μ L) were then taken from each 10 mL vial and injected into a cryogenic stainless steel loop mounted on a 6-port valve (Valco Instruments Co. Inc., Houston, USA). Samples were injected into the gas chromatograph by switching the 6-port valve and heating the loop with a heat gun. Gases were separated chromatographically on a DB-VRX fused silica capillary column (30 m x

0.25 mm Agilent Technologies, Inc., Santa Clara, USA). After GC separation, the chloroethenes were combusted to CO₂, water was removed, and the carbon isotope ratio was measured in a Micromass JA Series Isoprime Isotope ratio mass spectrometer (Micromass, Manchester, UK). Stable carbon isotope ratios are expressed in the conventional δ -notation in parts per mil (‰) relative to the Vienna-Peedee Belemnite (V-PDB) standard. Analytical replicates of samples were periodically conducted when two to three sampling points in each experiment were subjected to duplicate analysis. Repeated analysis of laboratory standards indicates that the uncertainty associated with each stable carbon isotope measurement is approximately ± 0.5 %. A time zero sample was collected shortly after culture inoculation to obtain a carbon isotope ratio representative of undegraded TCE, and subsequent samples were collected at regular time intervals thereafter to capture dynamic isotopic shifts over degradation time courses covering 60 to 95% of total initial TCE supplied, with 7 to 21 measured time points per fractionation curve. Because 7 mL of liquid culture was withdrawn for each time point, 49 to 147 mL was withdrawn from the triplicate set in total. A similar number of samples were taken from each bottle so that liquid volumes remained approximately equal between replicate cultures. Sample removal constituted 16 to 49% of initial culture volume, and was accounted for in all chloroethene concentration calculations.

5.2.5 Enrichment Factor Calculation

The TCE isotope fractionation for all experiments was quantified with the Rayleigh model (Equation 5.1) and described as an enrichment factor, ε , obtained from a linear regression of a rearranged form of the equation (Equation 5.2) [Mariotti *et al.* 1981].

$$\frac{R}{R_0} = f_R^{\epsilon/1000}$$
Equation 5.1
$$10^3 ln \frac{10^{-3} \delta^{13} C + 1}{10^{-3} \delta^{13} C_0 + 1} = \epsilon \ln(f_R)$$
Equation 5.2

 R_0 and R are the carbon isotope ratios of the initial and remaining reactant, respectively, $\delta^{13}C_0$ and $\delta^{13}C$ are the isotope ratios in their corresponding delta notation, and f_R is the molar fraction of substrate remaining, determined for each time point relative to the total mass measured at time zero. The calculated f_R used at every time point was corrected for cumulative sample removal. Each experiment showed a minimal spread in fractionation factors between duplicate and triplicate sets. Thus, the data was combined to produce an un-weighted average fractionation, which was reported as a single enrichment factor for each growth condition examined. The linear regression coefficient (r²) and 95% confidence interval (CI) calculated for each enrichment factor are also reported.

5.3 Results and Discussion

For all experiments in this study, the Rayleigh equation produced a good fit to the carbon isotope ratios collected in each tested condition ($r^2 > 0.87$). The quantified enrichment factors, r^2 values, and 95% CIs for the tested culture conditions are reported in Table 1, and these newly reported enrichment factors are plotted along with the previously reported minimum and maximum enrichment factors for the reductive dechlorination of TCE by Dhc in Figures 5.1 and 5.2 (dotted lines indicate TCE enrichment factors -2.5 and -16.0‰ previously reported for enrichment cultures KB-1 [Bloom et al. 2000] and ANAS [Lee et al. 2007], respectively). The individual Rayleigh plots and linear regressions for each experiment in this study are provided in the Appendix (Figures A5.1-A5.13), as well as time-course plots for measured TCE, cDCE, and VC (Figures A5.14-A5.16 for Dhc195 pure and co-cultures, and Figures A5.17-A5.19 for Dhc enrichment cultures). The initial TCE dechlorination rates for most tested culture conditions in this study are also listed in Table 5.1, normalized to the initial number of Dhc cells. In all cultures in this study, the sequential dechlorination of TCE to cDCE and then to VC was observed and most likely occurred via the *tceA* reductive dehalogenase enzyme. The step-wise dehalogenation of TCE to VC through a cDCE intermediate occurs metabolically in tceAcontaining organisms, while the reduction of VC to ethene occurs through a slower co-metabolic reaction [Mavmó-Gatell et al. 1997]. In these experiments, both cDCE and VC were produced by Dhc195 in pure and co-cultures as well as the Dhc in the enrichment communities (Figures A5.14-A5.16 and A5.17-A5.19). However, because the experiments ended immediately after TCE transformation, little to no ethene generation had yet been observed.

Table 5.1. Carbon isotope Rayleigh enrichment factors (ϵ) and initial reaction rates for the reductive dechlorination of TCE by *tce*A-containing Dhc under a variety of growth and enrichment conditions measured in this study or previously reported.

Culture ^a	Growth Condition	TCE ε (‰)	95% CI	r ²	Initial TCE degradation rate (µmoles TCE / day / 10 ⁹ cells)	Culture ^b	TCE ε (‰)	95% CI	r ²
Dhc195 pure cultu					Previously Reported	d			
Dhc195	Standard growth	-13.3	± 0.7	0.98	3.7 ± 2.8	Dhc195 ^c	-9.6	± 0.4	0.99
Dhc195	Decreased Vitamin B_{12} (3 µg/L)	-12.7	±1.0	0.97	1.9 ± 0.6	Dhc195 ^d	-13.7	±1.8	0.95
Dhc195	Elevated vinyl chloride (1.6 mM aq)	-12.5	±0.4	0.99	0.9 ± 0.5	Dhc FL2 ^e	-8.0	±0.4	0.98
Dhc195	Nitrogen fixing	-14.4	±0.8	0.99	6.0 ± 2.9	ANAS/Dhc enrichment ^c	-16.0	±0.6	0.99
Dhc195	22° C incubation	-13.3	±0.9	0.96	*NA	KB-1/Dhc enrichment ^f	-2.5	n/a	0.91
Dhc195 co-cultures						KB-1/Dhc enrichment ^f	-13.8	n/a	0.98
Dhc195/ D. vulgaris Hildenborough	5 mM lactate-fed co-culture	-13.0	±2.0	0.87	8.7 ± 0.4	KB-1/Dhc enrichment	-6.6	n/a	1.0
Dhc195/S. wolfei	5 mM lactate-fed co-culture	-10.4	±1.2	0.93	11.7 ± 2.4	BDI/Dhc enrichment ^g	-15.3	±0.6	n/a
Dhc195/S. wolfei	20 mM crotonate-fed co-culture	-13.3	±1.0	0.98	8.6 ± 1.1	Abiotic with cyanocobalamin ^h	-16.6	n/a	0.99
Dhc enrichment cultures									
Dhc enrichment	LoTCEB12/Parent	-8.9	±0.4	0.98	7.9 ± 0.4				
Dhc enrichment	LoTCEB12	-6.8	± 0.8	0.93	6.8 ± 0.5				
Dhc enrichment	HiTCEB12	-8.7	±1.3	0.90	4.0 ± 0.5				
Dhc enrichment	HiTCE	-9.4	±0.7	0.97	7.3 ± 1.2				
Dhc enrichment	HiTCEB12/LowLac	-7.2	±0.3	0.98	8.9 ± 0.7				

^{*a*}Data from this study. ^{*b*}Data previously reported. ^{*c*}Data from Lee *et al.* 2007. ^{*d*}Data from Cichocka *et al.* 2008. ^{*e*}Data from Fletcher *et al.* 2011. ^{*f*}Data from Bloom *et al.* 2000. ^{*g*}Data from Liang *et al.* 2007. ^{*h*}Data from Slater *et al.* 2001. *Dhc cell growth at 22°C was not determined for this study.



Figure 5.1. The Rayleigh equation linear regression plots for the carbon isotope fractionation of TCE during reductive dechlorination by strain 195 grown in pure and co-culture under a variety of growth conditions. Dotted lines represent the previously reported minimum and maximum TCE isotope fractionations by Dhc. Legend: (\diamond) Dhc195, standard growth; (\blacktriangle) Dhc195, nitrogen fixing; (\varkappa) Dhc195, decreased B₁₂; (\bigtriangleup) Dhc195, 22°C incubation; (\bigcirc) Dhc195, elevated VC; (+) Dhc195/DVH; (\diamond) Dhc195/*S. wolfei* w/ 20mM crotonate; (\Box) Dhc195/*S. wolfei* w/ 5mM lactate.



Figure 5.2. The Rayleigh equation linear regression plots for the carbon isotope fractionation of TCE during reductive dechlorination by Dhc-containing enrichments under a variety of growth conditions. Dotted lines represent the previously reported minimum and maximum TCE isotope fractionations by Dhc. Legend: (\blacklozenge) LoTCEB12/Parent; (\blacksquare) HiTCEB12; (\triangle) HiTCE; (\bigstar) HiTCEB12/LowLac; (\Box) LoTCEB12.

5.3.1 Effects of Growth Conditions on TCE Fractionation by Dhc195

To investigate the effects of growth conditions on the stable carbon isotope fractionation of TCE, experiments were performed to compare quantified fractionation factors during reductive dechlorination by Dhc195 grown under standard conditions to those subjected to four different growth conditions. These included: 1) trace amended B_{12} concentration (reduced from 100 µg/L to 3 µg/L), 2) forced dinitrogen fixation, 3) reduced incubation temperature (from 34°C to 22°C), and 4) exposure to 1.6 mM VC (a product of cDCE dechlorination that Dhc195 cannot metabolize for energy).

TCE degradation rates for each tested culture varied according to the applied growth condition (Table 5.1). Reducing the amended B_{12} concentration from 100 µg/L to less than 3 µg/L slowed the TCE degradation rate. Vitamin B_{12} is known to play an important role in the metabolism of Dhc as it serves as a corrinoid co-factor necessary for activity of the reductive dehalogenases, and must be obtained from the environment as Dhc cannot synthesize it *de novo* [Yi *et al.* 2012]. It was previously shown that Dhc195 cellular growth and TCE dechlorination rates significantly increased when the supplied B_{12} concentration was increased from 1 µg/L to 100 µg/L [He *et al.* 2007]. Because groundwater is often oligotrophic with low levels of nutrients, corrinoid co-factors may be growth-limiting substances in some subsurface environments.

Vinyl chloride exposure (1.6 mM) also slowed initial TCE degradation rates (Table 5.1) with 78 µmoles of TCE degraded in 24 days in the high VC condition versus 19 days in the standard condition. Due to the slower co-metabolic reduction of VC to ethene by the *tce*A RDase in strain 195, VC accumulation may occur in environments where contaminant transformation is catalyzed primarily by that enzyme and vinyl chloride reductive dehalogenases, such as *vcr*A or *bvc*A, are not present or active.

When forced to fix nitrogen, Dhc195 was previously shown to have significantly different metabolic and growth activities compared to ammonium-amended cultures, as observed by a decreased cell yield and VC production rate, earlier growth transition into stationary phase, and increased expression of the nitrogenase-encoding gene *nifD* [Lee *et al.* 2009]. Indeed, this is consistent with the known physiological stresses often induced by the energy-intensive nitrogen-fixation process, which potentially could occur in groundwater environments with limited aqueous fixed nitrogen. Finally, TCE dechlorination at 22°C was much slower than the 34°C standard condition, exhibiting a lag phase of approximately 16 days before degradation began and requiring over 40 days to transform 78 µmoles of TCE to VC and ethene. Because chloroethene-impacted groundwater in the United States is typically 10-20°C and may have substantial variations depending on depth and season, examining the impact of temperature variation on the kinetic isotope fractionation, particularly at a reduced growth temperature, is important for interpreting *in situ* isotope data.

The standard growth experiment generated an enrichment factor of $-13.3\pm0.7\%$, while the four tested growth conditions: decreased B₁₂, nitrogen fixation, 22°C incubation, and elevated VC produced enrichment factors of $-12.7\pm1.0\%$, $-14.4\pm0.8\%$, $-13.3\pm0.9\%$, and $-12.5\pm0.4\%$, respectively. All tested growth conditions of the Dhc195 culture yielded enrichment factors within the uppermost and lowermost bounds of the 95% CI of the standard condition,

indicating that the altered growth conditions produced little to no significant variation in the quantified isotope fractionation. Interestingly, however, the TCE enrichment factor for the Dhc195 standard condition in this study (-13.3±0.7‰) differed significantly from that quantified by our lab and reported in Lee et al. 2007 (-9.6±0.4‰). These values represent two different fractionations observed in the same culture in which the same growth conditions were applied for both experiments and the same analytical protocols and equipment were used. This raises the possibility that the isotope fractionation could reflect physiological and genetic changes occurring in the organism as it adapts to sequentially sub-cultured growth in the laboratory over time. Unknown factors attributed to sample handling by different experimenters also cannot be ruled out. After isolation Dhc195 was initially grown with tetrachloroethene (PCE) in an undefined medium containing filtered sludge extract [Maymó-Gatell et al. 1997]. The isolate was being grown in a defined mineral medium under TCE amendment when the Lee et al. 2007 study was conducted and further propagated under those conditions to the time of this study. Given this change in cultivation conditions during prolonged isolated growth, physiological adaptation over time that might result in slightly increased TCE transport rates or faster enzyme kinetic steps preceding bond cleavage is possible. The reported abiotic carbon isotope fractionation of TCE by cyanocobalamin is -16.6% [Slater et al. 2003], which represents the intrinsic isotope fractionation produced by the cleavage of a carbon-chlorine bond. Corrinoid-catalyzed biological TCE fractionations that are closest in magnitude to this abiotic fractionation, such as those observed in the enrichment culture ANAS (-16.0±0.6‰) and for Sulfurospirillum multivorans (-16.4±1.5‰) [Lee et al. 2007], suggest that the rate-limiting step in the enzyme-catalyzed degradation pathways of these organisms is likely the high-energy cleavage of the carbonchlorine bond. Smaller fractionations, such as those observed for Dhc195, may represent a masking of the intrinsic fractionation by one or more lower-energy kinetic steps that precede bond breakage. The increase in Dhc195 TCE fractionation from the 2007 study (Lee et al. 2007) to this one may indicate that rate changes have occurred in the degradation pathway whereby preceding kinetic steps have become faster relative to bond-breakage, shifting the rate-limitation onto the carbon-chlorine bond cleavage, and further revealing the intrinsic fractionation effect. Conformational movements in enzymes are often essential to their functions and can be slow relative to bond cleavage. It is possible these enzymatic motions have become faster in the *tceA* enzyme in Dhc195 relative to carbon-chlorine bond breakage, which would decrease their role in rate-limited catalytic throughput, and thus increase the observed isotopic fractionation. Increased rates of chloroethene transport through membrane structures and to catalytic sites might similarly increase the observed fractionation.

As temperature is known to affect a wide array of cellular processes and rate constants, enzymatic and other, it is somewhat surprising that the fractionation remained unchanged during dechlorination at a 12°C-lower (34°C versus 22°C) incubation temperature. A reduced incubation temperature could slow the rate of preceding kinetic processes relative to carbon-chlorine bond breakage, increasing the masking effect and yielding a lower overall fractionation (less negative enrichment factor). However, given the uniformity of the results between the two temperatures, masking effects do not appear to be significantly affected by this temperature reduction. Although this is the first report of a Dhc TCE fractionation factor measured at 22°C, Schmidt *et al.* 2010 found that the isotopic fractionation during aerobic cDCE degradation in groundwater microcosms were also consistent over two tested temperature incubations (23 and 13°C).

Limiting B_{12} in the growth medium of Dhc195 to 1 µg/L was previously shown to cause reductions in the TCE dechlorination rate and cell densities, and results suggested that the rate reduction was caused by decreased cell density rather than the weakening of individual cells [He *et al.* 2007]. However, microarray analyses showed that limited B_{12} caused differential regulation of a number of genes in Dhc195, including those encoding corrinoid transport and synthesisrelated proteins, as well as putative cobalamin riboswitches [Johnson *et al.* 2009]. Differences in co-factor transport and up-take could lead to changes in RDase activity rates, leading to differences in isotopic fractionation. However, quantified isotope fractionations were the same between high and low B_{12} concentrations, suggesting that differences in corrinoid salvaging efforts by Dhc195 do not cause enzymatic changes that lead to significant differences in the bulk isotopic fractionation.

Previous transcriptomic and proteomic analyses confirm that a wide array of strain 195's membrane-associated transporters and electron carriers are differentially regulated during nitrogen-fixation [Lee *et al.* 2012]. However, nitrogen fixation did not produce a change in the TCE isotope fractionation of Dhc195, indicating that the regulatory changes caused by N₂-fixation did not impact TCE fractionation. Finally, the TCE fractionation factor was also not affected by exposure to high VC concentrations, despite the significantly decreased TCE degradation rate observed in this study.

5.3.2 Effects of Co-Culture Growth on TCE Fractionation by Dhc195

TCE fractionation was also quantified during dechlorination by two syntrophic cocultures in order to understand potential impacts of interspecies substrate transfer on isotope fractionation when Dhc195 receives its hydrogen and carbon source from fermenting organisms. Initial dechlorination rates in the tested co-cultures were generally greater than that observed for the Dhc195 isolate in standard condition, consistent with previous observations that Dhc growth with fermenting organisms is more robust than growth alone [Men *et al.* 2011]. In this experiment, initial dechlorination rates for the Dhc195/*S. wolfei* and Dhc195/DVH co-cultures grown on 5mM lactate and the Dhc195/*S. wolfei* co-culture fed crotonate were higher than the Dhc195 isolate (Table 5.1).

TCE fractionation by Dhc195/DVH with 5 mM lactate generated an enrichment factor of $-12.6\pm2.0\%$, while Dhc195/S. *wolfei* produced enrichment factors of $-10.4\pm1.2\%$ and $-13.5\pm1.0\%$, when provided 5 mM lactate or 20 mM crotonate, respectively. Only the Dhc/S. *wolfei* co-culture with 5 mM lactate produced an enrichment factor ($-10.4\pm1.2\%$) slightly outside the range of the standard growth control ($-13.3\pm0.7\%$), however the difference is similar to the magnitude of the confidence interval for many tested cultures, suggesting that the presence of syntrophic organisms had little effect on the quantified fractionation in these experiments.

5.3.3 Effects of Growth Condition on TCE Fractionation by Enrichment Cultures

TCE fractionation was quantified in dechlorinating microbial communities before and after a two-year enrichment period performed with 3 different growth conditions: high TCE amendment (HiTCEB12), low TCE amendment (LoTCEB12), and no exogenous B₁₂ amendment (HiTCE). Determining whether fractionation values are affected by disparate growth conditions is important for the application of laboratory-generated values to field environments where varying conditions occur. In the Dhc-containing communities, the high and low TCE amendments were provided to inhibit or promote methanogenic activity, respectively [Men et al. 2013]. Accordingly, the abundance of total Archaea was two orders of magnitude lower in LoTCEB12 than HiTCE and HiTCEB12, and the abundance of microorganisms of the genera Pelosinus, Dendrosporobacter, and Sporotalea was greater in the LoTCEB12 condition [Men et al. 2013]. Microarray analysis and 16S rRNA sequencing of these cultures have confirmed the presence of a single dechlorinating Dhc strain which is closely related to Dhc195 in genetic composition and physiology [Men et al. 2013]. The cultures were shown to possess only one of the functionally-confirmed RDase genes, tceA, and its copy numbers correlate closely to Dhc 16S rDNA copy numbers in each enrichment [Men et al. 2013]. A previously-performed physiological characterization of these enrichments indicated that similar Dhc cell yields were achieved among all cultures. Although varying initial TCE dechlorination rates were observed for the Dhc enrichments in this study, they were similar to the rates observed in the co-cultures and generally greater than those of the isolates (Table 5.1). In a subsequent experiment, nonmethanogenic culture HiTCE was starved of lactate for approximately 20 days, generating HiTCELowLac, a culture with an initial TCE degradation rate similar to the other Dhc enrichments, but whose rate slowed significantly after approximately 4 days, and stalled at 90% TCE degradation after 20 days (Figure A5.17 in the Appendix), suggesting the dechlorination reaction was limited by the available hydrogen.

The isotope fractionations were $-8.9\pm0.4\%$, $-8.7\pm1.3\%$, $-9.4\pm0.7\%$, and $-6.8\pm0.8\%$ for the LoTCEB12/Parent, HiTCEB12, HiTCE, and LoTCEB12 conditions, respectively (Table 5.1, Figure 5.2). The fractionation factors for all enrichment community conditions are lower than those generated by the Dhc195 isolate and co-cultures. The enrichment factors of the LoTCEB12 and LoTCEB12/Parent cultures (-6.8±0.8‰ and -8.9±0.4‰) are outside of each other's CIs; however the difference in values (2.1‰) approaches the magnitude of the confidence interval found for some Dhc cultures (Table 5.1). The TCE fractionation also remained consistent despite the post-enrichment growth change applied to the non-methanogenic, B₁₂-amended culture (HiTCEB12/LowLac, -7.2±0.3‰). This suggests that even limiting Dhc-growth substrates enough to slow degradation does not produce differences in TCE fractionation. The largest difference between fractionation factors in the Dhc enrichments is a relatively small 2.4‰ (HiTCEB12/LowLac and HiTCE), indicating that both a post-enrichment applied growth stress and a long-term enrichment of this community under different culturing pressures only minimally affect the isotope fractionation. Enrichment factors remained consistent over a two year enrichment period despite active or inhibited methanogenesis and the absence of exogenously supplied vitamin B₁₂. Although fractionation differences were observed over time for the Dhc195 pure culture (this study and Lee et al. 2007), it is possible the adaptation response of Dhc in a community may be more muted than that in a pure culture due to the stabilization and optimization of its growth environment by supportive micoorganisms.



Figure 5.3. TCE enrichment factors plotted against the cell-normalized initial TCE degradation rate for each growth condition according to culture type (22°C condition not plotted). In this study there is no significant correlation between degradation rate and the TCE enrichment factor. Vertical error bars represent a 95% confidence interval, while horizontal error bars represent the degradation rate's standard deviation for biological triplicates.

Although TCE degradation rates varied significantly among the tested cultures (Table 5.1), the magnitude of the generated enrichment factors did not correlate with the magnitude of the dechlorination rates (Figure 5.3). This indicates that in the growth conditions tested, the quantified isotopic fractionation likely did not reflect a mass-transfer limited masking process. Although there are no significant differences in fractionation among the tested growth conditions of the isolate, co-cultures, or the enriched communities, there is a difference between the fractionation factors of Dhc195 and the enrichment communities. In fact, most Dhc195 and enriched culture enrichment factors were well outside of each other's 95% CIs, with differences of up to 7.6‰, suggesting that the fractionation is strain-specific. This is especially interesting given that both the Dhc195 and the enrichment cultures utilize tceA for dechlorination. In fact, the Dhc enrichment strain is closely related to Dhc195 in behavior and genomic content and shares over 80% percent of its genes with the isolate, including most genes related to corrinoid uptake and remodeling [Men et al. 2013]. Furthermore, cobalamin has been shown to be the preferred corrinoid form for TCE dechlorination by the Dhc enrichment strain. Excess cobalamin $(3-4 \mu g/L)$ has been detected in cultures without exogenous B₁₂ amendment (HiTCE) [Men *et al.* 2013], indicating that it is produced by other microorganisms in the community and utilized by Dhc for growth. Although Dhc195 can utilize alternative corrinoid forms [Yi et al. 2012], cobalamin appears to be the favored co-factor as cell yields and dechlorination rates are greatest relative to six other corrinoids when they are each provided separately in culture growth medium [Yi et al. 2012]. Yet, the difference between the strains' observed enrichment factors is sufficient to result in substantial variations in the calculated extent of biotransformation (overestimation by

up to 30% for an isotopic shift of 10‰) [Elsner *et al.* 2005]. This supports the notion that a compound's enrichment factor is difficult to predict for a given organism and enzyme based on genetic or physiological similarity to another organism [Lee *et al.* 2007, Fletcher *et al.* 2011, Cichocka *et al.* 2008]. Because the fractionation was shown to be consistent under a variety of environmental conditions, TCE degradation rates, and culture compositions, the variation in ε values between Dhc strains is likely caused by one or more unique structural features of the specific strains. These fractionation differences could represent small variations in cell membrane structure and composition which could lead to varying rates of TCE uptake and transport to enzymatic sites, or slight differences in RDase folding and structure which might lead to differences in enzyme-substrate binding configurations and access to catalytic sites. Variations in slower kinetic processes that precede carbon-chlorine bond cleavage could serve to decrease the overall extent of fractionation. The results of this study show that closely related organisms may possess cellular kinetic processes that are sufficiently different to produce distinct isotope fractionations.

5.4 Environmental Implications

In summary, the carbon isotope fractionation of TCE during reductive dechlorination by Dhc195 remained unchanged despite a variety of different growth conditions in both pure and co-cultures. The fractionation was also similar and reproducible for numerous tested growth conditions of a highly enriched Dhc-containing community. This study is the first to systematically investigate the effects of growth condition on the TCE isotope fractionation by Dhc and demonstrates the relative stability of enrichment factors under temperature variation, co-factor limitation, nitrogen fixation, elevated VC concentrations, and various enrichment strategies applied to mixed communities in the laboratory. These results suggest that although enrichment factors may depend on a site-specific Dhc strain, once the fractionation for that strain has been established for a given site it is unlikely to change under varying environmental conditions, such as nutrient depletion, product accumulation, or seasonal temperature fluctuations. This study allows for increased confidence in the coupling of isotope data to reactive transport models that may be applied at a given site under a variety of environmental conditions with a single enrichment factor. An enrichment factor that remains unchanged despite a variety of growth conditions leads to better predictive modeling under various potential environments and makes the application of these models to estimate field biodegradation from in situ isotope data more robust.

However, this study provides evidence that TCE fractionation can be strain-dependent and difficult to predict from knowledge of operating enzymes and physiologic or genetic similarity to other organisms. Dhc strains harboring the same functional dehalogenase may produce significantly different fractionations in closely related organisms. This study suggests that microcosm experiments constructed from site-specific soil or groundwater would be the most effective approach for predicting TCE dechlorination enrichment factors. Alternatively, the best state of practice may be in choosing an enrichment factor within the range of those published for a given chloroethene that most conservatively estimates the extent of *in situ* biotransformation.

CHAPTER 6: Summary and Conclusions

6.1 Summary

The research described in this dissertation investigated the fate and biotransformation of trichloroethene (TCE) and aqueous film-forming foams (AFFFs) under the aerobic and anaerobic conditions encountered at contaminated firefighter training sites. The results of these studies suggest that complex microbial interactions occur at AFFF-impacted sites and that the dynamic biotransformation of TCE and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) may be closely linked to not only the redox condition but also to the type and amound of AFFF. In Chapter 2 it was shown that 4:2, 6:2, and 8:2 fluorotelomer thioamido sulfonate (FtTAoS), present in several widely used AFFF formulations, aerobically biotransform to persistent perfluorinated carboxylic acids. The rate of perfluorocarboxylate (PFCA) formation was generally slow relative to FtTAoS disappearance, indicating that the accumulation and slow transformation of intermediate compounds occurred. In Chapters 3 and 4, the effects of various PFASs and AFFF formulations were tested with an anaerobic TCE-dechlorinating microbial community. In Chapter 3 it was shown that low concentrations of PFAAs had no impact on the TCE dechlorination rate in the presence of soil. However, in soil-free cultures, dechlorination was inhibited in the presence of high concentrations of PFAAs. In Chapter 4 it was shown that although the microbial communities were capable of fermenting AFFF carbon solvents to hydrogen and acetate to support Dhc, TCE dechlorination was inhibited in the presence of two of the three formulations. The effects of various PFASs and perfluroalkyl acids (PFAAs) on TCE dechlorination were further investigated in Chapter 4. Generally, dechlorination occurred in the presence of higher concentrations of PFCAs and perfluorosulfonic acids (PFSAs), while it was inhibited by lower concentrations of an AFFF-derived PFAS, 6:2 FtSaB. Finally, in Chapter 5, the stable carbon isotope fractionation of TCE was investigated under varying growth conditions of Dehalococcoides (Dhc). Although the fractionation did not change according to growth condition, the study provided evidence that the fractionation is Dhc-strain specific.

6.2 Biotransformation of Fluorotelomer Thioamido Sulfonate in AFFF

In Chapter 2, the aerobic biotransformation pathways of 4:2, 6:2, and 8:2 FtTAoS were characterized by determining the fate of the compounds in soil microcosms amended with an AFFF solution. FtTAoS is the principle PFAS in AFFF formulations made by at least three different manufacturers and was historically applied at firefighter-training areas on various U.S. military bases. The biotransformation of FtTAoS occurred in live culture microcosms and produced 4:2, 6:2, and 8:2 FtS, 6:2 FtUCA, 5:3 FtCA, and C₄ to C₈ PFCAs. Two additional biotransformation products corresponding to singly and doubly oxygenated forms of 6:2 FtTAoS, were also identified through mass spectra analysis and high resolution MS. An oxidative assay was used to quantify precursors of perfluoroalkyl acids in order to check the material balance by indirectly quantifying the total concentration of polyfluorinated compounds. The assay produced nearly complete mass recovery after FtTAoS biotransformation, with 10% (mol/mol) of the amended FtTAoS accounted for in FtS, FtCA, and PFCA products. The transformation rates of identified products appear to be slow relative to FtTAoS, indicating that some intermediates may persist in the environment. The results of this study help to explain the occurrence of FtS and PFCA compounds in groundwater and soil at AFFF-impacted sites, and suggest the potential for significant quantities of intermediate compounds that are not routinely analyzed to form during biotransformation of PFASs in AFFF.

6.3 Effects of AFFF and PFASs on TCE dechlorination

The application of AFFF to extinguish chlorinated solvent-fueled fires has led to the widespread co-contamination of PFASs and TCE in groundwater and soil. Reductive dechlorination of TCE to ethene by Dhc is a frequently used *in situ* remediation strategy at many contaminated sites; however, the effects of AFFF and PFASs on TCE dechlorination by anaerobic microbial communities have not been examined.

In the study presented in Chapter 3, varying concentrations of PFAAs were tested on a Dhc-containing enrichment community. In the presence of soil, 50 μ g/L each of a suite of 11 PFAAs had no impact on TCE dechlorination compared to a control culture containing no PFAAs. The cell-normalized TCE degradation rates were identical, and chloroethene product formation remained unchanged between the two culture conditions. In a soil-free planktonic culture, 1 mg/L each of the same suite of 11 PFAAs had no effect on TCE dechlorination, while 10 mg/L of each PFAA completely inhibited dechlorination. This study also indicated that the calculated organic-carbon distribution coefficients (K_{oc}) for the soil-containing dechlorination communities were not significantly impacted by the presence of 45 mg/L TCE or the inoculated Dhc culture. These results indicate that TCE dechlorination may only be impacted in highly-contaminated groundwater and soil sites, where the total concentration of PFAAs exceeds 100 mg/L. This also suggests that documented PFAA K_{oc} values can be used to predict PFAA groundwater transport in systems containing non-NAPL TCE undergoing bioremediation.

In the study presented in Chapter 4, three AFFF formulations were amended to the growth medium of a Dhc-containing enrichment community to determine their impacts on TCE dechlorination. The communities were capable of fermenting carbon solvents in all AFFFs to hydrogen and acetate when the foams were amended as the sole source of carbon and energy, but the product concentrations varied significantly according to formulation. The fermentation of diethylene glycol butyl ether (DGBE), the primary glycol ether solvent in most AFFFs, when amended alone produced less hydrogen and acetate than AFFF-amended experiments, suggesting that smaller quantities of other organic carbon substances in the foams may be more easily fermentable. TCE was dechlorinated in the presence of one AFFF formulation, while no dechlorination occurred in the presence of two other formulations. In PFAS-amended experiments, 16 mg/L 6:2 fluorotelomer sulfonamido betaine (6:2 FtSaB) slowed TCE dechlorination while 32 mg/L FtSaB completely inhibited dechlorination, suggesting dechlorination did not occur in one AFFF-amended experiment due to the presence of its most abundant PFAS. In cultures amended with PFAAs, 110 mg/L total PFSAs did not inhibit TCE dechlorination, while 110 mg/L total PFAAs did, suggesting that inhibition is dependent on PFAS structure as well as concentration. This study revealed a dynamic interplay between AFFF and TCE bioremediation communities that may be highly dependent on the AFFF formulation and composition.

6.4 Impact of Varying Growth Conditions on TCE Isotope Fractionation

To quantify *in situ* bioremediation using compound specific isotope analysis (CSIA), isotope fractionation data obtained from the field is interpreted according to laboratory-derived enrichment factors. Although previous studies that have quantified dynamic isotopic shifts during the reductive dechlorination of TCE indicate that fractionation factors can be highly variable from culture-to-culture and site-to-site, the effects of growth condition on the isotope fractionation during reductive dechlorination have not been previously examined. Here, carbon isotope fractionation by Dehalococcoides mccartyi 195 (Dhc195) maintained under a variety of growth conditions was examined. Enrichment factors quantified when Dhc195 was subjected to four sub-optimal growth conditions, including decreased temperature $(-13.3\pm0.9\%)$, trace vitamin B_{12} availability (-12.7±1.0%), limited fixed nitrogen (-14.4±0.8%), and elevated vinyl chloride exposure $(-12.5\pm0.4\%)$, indicate that the fractionation is similar across a range of tested conditions. The TCE enrichment factors for two syntrophic co-cultures, Dhc195 with Desulfovibrio vulgaris Hildenborough (-13.0±2.0‰) and Dhc195 with Syntrophomonas wolfei $(-10.4\pm1.2\%$ and $-13.3\pm1.0\%$), were also similar to a control experiment. In order to test the stability of enrichment factors in microbial communities, the isotope fractionation was quantified for Dhc-containing groundwater communities before and after two-year enrichment periods under different growth conditions. Although these enrichment factors ($-8.9\pm0.4\%$, $-6.8\pm0.8\%$, - $8.7\pm1.3\%$, $-9.4\pm0.7\%$, and $-7.2\pm0.3\%$) were predominantly outside the range of values quantified for the isolate and co-cultures, all tested enrichment conditions within the communities produced nearly similar fractionations. Enrichment factors were not significantly affected by changes in any of the tested growth conditions for the pure cultures, co-cultures or the mixed communities, indicating that despite a variety of temperature, nutrient, and co-factorlimiting conditions, stable carbon isotope fractionations remain consistent for given *Dehalococcoides* cultures.

6.5 Future Research Recommendations

Thus far, relatively few studies have examined the biotransformation of PFASs in AFFF. With the exception of 6:2 FtSaB biotransformation observed in aquatic organisms [Moe *et al.* 2003] and the FtTAoS biotransformation characterized in microbial cultures in this study and briefly in Weiner *et al.* 2013, no other biotransformation pathways for the AFFF PFASs shown in Figure 1.5 have been reported. Elucidating the transformation pathways for the perfluorosulfonamide compounds in 3M AFFF is particularly important as 3M AFFF accounts for up to 75% of the AFFF stored on U.S. military bases, and there are currently no restrictions on the future use of stockpiled AFFF [Place *et al.* 2012, Darwin 2004]. The low concentrations of perfluorsulfonamides compounds detected in contaminated groundwater and sediments where the historical application of 3M AFFF occurred [Houtz *et al.* 2013, Backe *et al.* 2013] suggest that these compounds may undergo *in situ* abiotic or biological transformation.

The environmental and growth factors that control the rate of PFAS biotransformation must also be investigated in order to develop reactive transport models that can predict *in situ* PFCA production rates. Although Kim *et al.* [2012 and 2013] found that certain FtOH pathways in pure cultures are preferred depending on the presence of an enzyme-inducing substrate or reducing agent, similar conditions should also be tested on mixed cultures to simulate the synergistic activities among organisms in a community. Preliminary data obtained from microcosms amended separately with FtTAoS, DGBE, and AFFF suggest that while a labile carbon source enhances the biotransformation rate of FtTAoS, transformation still occurs in the absence of an exogenous carbon source in the microbial community. This result is consistent with the study presented in Chapter 2 where FtTAoS transformation continued to occur for more than 15 days after all AFFF-carbon sources had been depleted. However, if complete FtTAoS biotransformation to PFCAs represents the diverse activities of multiple groups of microorganisms in a soil community, certain carbon and nutritional requirements may be needed by microorganisms executing one or more steps in the transformation pathway. Thus, the factors controlling individual FtTAoS transformation steps could be determined by adding certain intermediates, such as 6:2 FtS and 6:2 FtUCA, as the initial amended substrate to soil communities cultured under varying growth conditions.

Finally, the search for an organism or culture that can metabolically detoxify perfluoroalkyl compounds through reductive defluorination should be continued and expanded. Prior to the 1980s, PCE and TCE were largely considered to be recalcitrant in the environment and toxic to microorganisms, especially in anoxic environments; however, following the discovery and characterization of chloroethene-degrading cultures, including those that respire the compounds and link the degradation to their growth, PCE and TCE are now considered to be readily biodegradable in groundwater given the appropriate redox conditions. As pointed out in Parsons *et al.* 2008, thermodynamic estimations suggest that energy yield following reductive defluorination of a perfluorinated compound is achievable, and thus theoretically possible. The enrichment of aquifer sediments and groundwater from contaminated sites possessing a long history of AFFF application likely would yield the best chances for obtaining a culture capable of PFAS reductive defluorination. The development of a robust bioaugmentation culture capable of PFOS or PFOA degradation would be a significant advance for the remediation of fluorochemicals in contaminated groundwater.

References

- *Aer-O-Water 3EM, Fire Fighting Foam Concentrate*. MSDS No. NMS210; National Foam, Inc: Exton, PA, Nov 22, 2010.
- Aguilera, A.; Souza-Egipsy, V.; San Martín-Úriz, P.; Amils, R. Extraction of extracellular polymeric substances from extreme acidic microbial biofilms. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 2008, 78, 1079–1088.
- Amos, B.K.; Daprato, R.C.; Hughes, J.B.; Pennell, K.D.; Loeffler, F.E. Effects of the nonionic surfactant Tween 80 on microbial reductive dechlorination of chlorinated ethenes. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2007, *41*, 1710–1716.
- Ansulite 3 % AFFF AFC-5-A Foam Concentrate. MSDS prepared by Wormald/Tyco International, Rydalmere, Australia, April 2008.
- Armitage, J.M.; MacLeod, M.; Cousins, I.T. Comparative assessment of the global fate and transport pathways of long-chain perfluorocarboxylic acids (PFCAs) and perfluorcarboxylates (PFCs) emitted from direct sources. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2009, 43, 5830-5836.
- Armitage, J.M.; Schenkler, U.; Scheringer, M.; Martin, J.W.; MacLeod, M.; Cousins, I.T. Modeling the global fate and transport of perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) and precursor compounds in relation to temporal trends in wildlife exposure. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2009, 43, 9247-9280.
- ATSDR Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. 2007 CERCLA Priority List of Hazardous Substances that will be the Subject of Toxicological Profiles and Support Document. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 2007. http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/spl/resources/ATSDR_2013_SPL_Detailed_Data_Table.pdf [Accessed August 30, 2014].
- ATSDR Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. Toxicological profile for trichloroethylene (TCE). Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 1997 http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxprofiles/tp.asp?id=173&tid=30 [Accessed August 30, 2014].
- Awad, E.; Zhang, X.; Bhavsar, S.P.; Petro, S.; Crozier, P.W.; Reiner, E.J.; Fletcher, R.; Tittlemier, S.A.; Brawkevelt, E. Long-term environmental fate of perfluorinated compounds after accidental release at Toronto airport. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, **2011**, *45*, 8081-8089.
- Backe, W.J.; Christensen, K.E.; Field, J.A. Newly-identified cationic, anionic, and zwitterionic fluorinated chemicals in groundwater at U.S. Military bases by non-aqueous large-volume injection HPLC-MS/MS. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, **2013**, *47*, 5226-5234.
- Ballapragada, B. S.; Stensel, H. D.; Puhakka, J. A.; Ferguson, J. F. Effect of Hydrogen on Reductive Dechlorination of Chlorinated Ethenes. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 1997, 31, 1728– 1734.
- *BFC-3MS*. Buckeye 3% MIL SPEC AFFF. MSDS prepared by Buckeye Fire Equipment Company, Kings Mountain, NC, November 20, 2008.

- Blaine, A. C.; Rich, C. D.; Sedlacko, E. M.; Hundal, L. S.; Kumar, K.; Lau, C.; Mills, M. A.; Harris, K.M.; Higgins, C.P. Perfluoroalkyl acid distribution in various plant compartments of edible crops grown in biosolids-amended soils. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2014, 48, 7858-7865.
- Bloom, Y.; Aravena, R.; Hunkeler, D.; Edwards, E.; Frape, S.K. Carbon isotope fractionation during microbial dechlorination of trichloroethene, cis-1,2-dichloroethene, and vinyl chloride: Implications for assessment of natural attenuation. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2000, 34, 2768-2772.
- Bombach, P.; Richnow, H.H.; Kastner, M.; Fischer, A. Current approaches for the assessment of in situ biodegradation. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* **2010**, *86*, 839-852.
- Borsa, A.A.; Agnew, D.C.; Cayan, D.R. Ongoing drought-induced uplift in the western United States. *Science*. **2014**, DOI: 10.1126/science.1260279.
- Boulanger, B.; Vargo, J.D.; Schnoor, J.L.; Hornbuckle, K.C. Evaluation of perfluorooctane surfactants in a wastewater treatment system and in a commercial surface protection product. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2005, 39, 5524-5530.
- Brandsma, S.H.; Smithwick, M.; Solomon, K.; Small, J.; de Boer, J.; Muir, D.C.G. Dietary exposure of rainbow trout to 8:2 and 10:2 fluorotelomer alcohols and perfluoroctanesulfonamide: uptake, transformation and elimination. *Chemosphere*. **2011**, *82*, 253-258.
- Brauch, H.; Weirich, G.; Hornauer, M.A.; Storkel, S.; Wohl, T.; Bruning, T. Trichloroethylene exposure and specific somatic mutations in patients with renal cell carcinoma. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 1999, 91, 854-861.
- Brisson, V. L.; West, K. A.; Lee, P. K.; Tringe, S. G.; Brodie, E. L.; Alvarez-Cohen, L. Metagenomic analysis of a stable trichloroethene-degrading microbial community. *ISME J.* 2012, 6, 1702–1714.
- Buck, R.C.; Franklin, J; Berger, U.; Conder, J.M.; Cousins, I.T.; de Voogt, P.; Jensen, A.A.; Kannan, K.; Mabury, S.A; Van Leeuwen, S. Perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances in the environment: terminology, classifications, and origins. *Integ. Environ. Manag. Assess.* 2011, 7, 513-541.
- CA SWRCB / California State Water Resources Control Board, GAMA program. April 17, **2009**. http://www.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/docs/coc_tce.pdf [Accessed August 30, 2014].
- CDHS / California Department of Health Services. Organic chemical contamination of large public water systems in California. (86870001977) Sacramento, CA, **1986**.
- CEPA /Canadian Environmental Protection Act **1999**. Perfluorooctane Sulfonate Virtual Elimination Act. (S.C. 2008, c.13).
- Chartrand, M. M. G.; Morrill, P.; Lacrampe-Couloume, G.; Sherwood Lollar, B. Stable isotope evidence for biodegradation of chlorinated ethenes at a fractured bedrock site. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2005**, *39*, 4848-4856.

- *Chemguard 3% AFFF C-301MS.* MSDS prepared by Chemguard, Inc.: Mansfield, TX, January, 25, 2006.
- Chemical & Material Emerging Risk Alert: Aqueous Film Forming Foam (AFFF); Department of Defense, Chemical and Risk Management Directorate: July 2011.
- Chen, G.; Hoag, G. E.; Chedda, P.; Nadim, F.; Woody, B. A.; Dobbs, G. M. The mechanism and applicability of in situ oxidation of trichloroethylene with Fenton's reagent. J. Hazard. Mater. 2001, 87, 171–186.
- Chiu, W.A.; Caldwell, J.C.; Keshava, N.; Scott, C.S. Key scientific issues in the health risk assessment of trichloroethylene. *Environ. Health Perspect.* **2006**, *114*, 1445-1449.
- Chiu, W.A.; Jinot, J.; Scott, C.S.; Makris, S.L.; Cooper, G.S.; Dzubow, R.C.; Bale, A.S.; Evans, M.V.; Guyton, K.Z.; Keshava, N.; Lipscomb, J.C.; Barone, S. Jr.; Fox, J.F.; Gwinn, M.R.; Schaum, J.; Caldwell, J.C. *Environ. Health Perspect.* **2013**, *121*, 303-311.
- Cichocka, D.; Imfeld, G.; Richnow, H.H.; Nijenhuis, I. Variability in microbial carbon isotope fractionation of tetra- and trichloroethene upon reductive dechlorination. *Chemosphere*. 2008, *71*, 639-648.
- Colosi, L.M.; Pinto, R.A.; Huang, Q.; Weber, W.J. Peroxidase-mediated degradation of perfluorooctanoic acid. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.*, **2009**, *28*, 264-271.
- Conder, J.M.; Hoke, R.A.; De Wolf, W.; Russell, M.H.; Buck, R.C. Are PFCAs bioaccumulative? A critical review and comparison with regulatory criteria and persistent lipophilic compounds. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2008**, *42*, 995-1003.
- Costa, G.; Sartori, S.; Consonni, D. Thirty years of medical surveillance in perfluorooctanoic acid production workers. J. Occup. Environ. Med. 2009, 51, 364-372.
- Cupples, A. M.; Spormann, A. M.; McCarty, P. L. Growth of a Dehalococcoides-Like Microorganism on Vinyl Chloride and cis-Dichloroethene as Electron Acceptors as Determined by Competitive PCR. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **2003**, *69*, 953–959.
- D'Agostino, L.A.; Mabury, S.A. Identification of Novel Fluorinated Surfactants in Aqueous Film Forming Foams and Commercial Surfactant Concentrates. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, **2014**, *48*, 121-129.
- D'Eon, J.; Mabury, S.A. Production of perfluorinated carboxylic acids (PFCAs) from biotransformation of polyfluoroalkyl phosphate surfactants (PAPs): Exploring routes of human contamination. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2007**, *41*, 4799-4805.
- Darwin, R. L. Estimated Quantities of Aqueous Film Forming Foam (AFFF) in the United States; Baltimore, MD, August, **2004**.
- Deeb, R. A.; Sharp, J. O.; Stocking, A.; McDonald, S.; West, K. A.; Laugier, M.; Alvarez, P. J. J.; Kavanaugh, M. C.; Alvarez-Cohen, L. Impact of Ethanol on Benzene Plume Lengths: Microbial and Modeling Studies. *Journal of Environmental Engineering* **2002**, *128*, 868–875.

- Dinglasan, M.J.A.; Ye, Y.; Edwards, E.A.; Mabury, S.A. Fluorotelomer alcohol biodegradation yields poly- and perfluorinated acids. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2004**, *38*, 2857-2864.
- Doherty, R.E.; A history of the production and use of carbon tetrachloride, tetrachloroethylene, trichloroethylene and 1,1,1-trichloroethane in the United States: Part 1. Historical background; carbon tetrachloride and tetrachloroethylene. *J. Environ. Foren.* **2000a**, *1*, 69-81.
- Doherty, R.E.; A history of the production and use of carbon tetrachloride, tetrachloroethylene, trichloroethylene and 1,1,1-trichloroethane in the United States: Part 2 Trichloroethylene and 1,1,1-trichloroethane. *J. Environ. Foren.* **2000b**, *1*, 83-93.
- Dolfing J. *et al.* Thermodynamic considerations for dehalogenation. In: *Environmental Dehalogenation.* Häggblom M.M., Bossert, I.D. Eds; Kluwer: Dordrecht 2003; pp 89–114.
- Duhamel M.; Edwards, E.A. Microbial composition of chlorinated ethene-degrading cultures dominated by *Dehalococcoides*. FEMS *Microbiol*. **2006**, *Ecol*. *58*, 538-549.
- Duhamel, M.; Wehr, S.D.; Yu, L.; Rizvi, H.; Seepersad, D.; Dworatzek, S.; Cox, E.E.; Edwards, E.A. Comparison of anaerobic dechlorinating enrichment cultures maintained on tetrachloroethene, trichloroethene, cis-dichloroethene and vinyl chloride. *Water Res.* 2002, 36, 4193-4202.
- Dwyer, D.F.; Tiedje, J.M.; Degradation of ethylene glycol and polyethylene glycols by methanogenic consortia. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **1983**, *46*, 85-90.
- Dwyer, D.F.; Tiedje, J.M.; Metabolism of polyethylene glycol by two anaerobic bacteria Desulfovibrio desulfuricans and a Bacteroides sp. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **1986**, *52*, 852-856.
- Ellis, D.A.; Martin, J.W.; DeSilva, A.O.; Mabury, S.A.; Hurley, M.D.; Andersen, M.P.S.; Wallington, T.J. Degradation of fluorotelomer alcohols: a likely atmospheric source of perfluorinated carboxylic acids. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2004**, *38*, 3316-3321.
- Elsner, M.; Zwank, L.; Hunkeler, D.; Schwarzenbach, R.P. A new concept linking observable stable isotope fractionation to transformation pathways of organic pollutants. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2005**, *39*, 6896-6916.
- Emmett, E.A.; Shofer, F.S.; Zhang, H.; Freeman, D.; Desai, C.; Shaw, L.M. Community exposure to perfluorooctanoate: relationships between serum concentrations and exposure sources. J. Occup. Environ. Med. 2006, 48, 759-770.
- Environment Canada. Perfluorooctane Sulfonate (PFOS), Its Salts and Its Precursors. https://www.ec.gc.ca/toxiques-toxics/Default.asp?lang=En&n=98E80CC6-1&xml=ECD5A576-CEE5-49C7-B26A-88007131860D (accessed April 16, 2014)
- Eydal, H. S. C.; Pedersen, K. Use of an ATP assay to determine viable microbial biomass in Fennoscandian Shield groundwater from depths of 3–1000 m. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* 2007, 70, 363–373.

- Farrell, J.; Kason, M.; Melitas, N.; Li, T. Investigation of the Long-Term Performance of Zero-Valent Iron for Reductive Dechlorination of Trichloroethylene. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2000, 34, 514–521.
- FC-203CF Lightwater (TM) AFFF 3%. MSDS No. CKQCB; 3M Company: St. Paul, MN, Dec 17, 1999.
- Fei, C.; McLaughlin, J.K.; Lipworth, L.; Olsen, J.; Maternal levels of perfluorinated chemicals and subfecundity. Human Reproduction. **2009**, *1*, 1-6.
- Fei, C.; McLaughlin, J.K.; Tarone, R.E.; Olsen, J. Perfluorinated chemicals and fetal growth: a study within the Danish National Birth Cohort. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 2007, 115, 1677-1682.
- Fisher, J.; Whittacker, T.A.; Taylor, D.H.; Clewell, H.J. III; Andersen, M.E. Physiologically based pharmacokinetic modeling of the pregnant rat: A multiroute exposure model for trichloroethylene and its metabolite, trichloroacetic acid. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* **1989**, *3*, 395-414.
- Fletcher, K.E.; Nijenhuis, I.; Richnow, H.H.; Loffler, F.E. Stable carbon isotope enrichment factors for cis-1,2-dichloroethene and vinyl chloride reductive dechlorination by *Dehalococcoides. Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2011**, *45*, 2951-2957.
- Flynn, S. J.; Löffler, F. E.; Tiedje, J. M. Microbial Community Changes Associated with a Shift from Reductive Dechlorination of PCE to Reductive Dechlorination of cis-DCE and VC. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2000, 34, 1056–1061.
- Freeborn, R.A.; West, K.A.; Bhupathiraju, V.K.; Chauhan, S.; Rahm, B.G.; Richardson, R.E.; Alvarez-Cohen, L. 2005. Phylogenetic analysis of TCE-dechlorinating consortia enriched on a variety of electron donors. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2005, 39, 8358-8368.
- Freedman, D. L.; Gossett, J. M. Biological reductive dechlorination of tetrachloroethylene and trichloroethylene to ethylene under methanogenic conditions. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 1989, 55, 2144–2151.
- Galimov, E.M. The Biological Fractionation of Isotopes; Academic Press: Orlando, FL, 1985.
- Gallo, V.; Leonardi, G.; Genser, B.; Lopez-Espinosa, M.; Frisbee, S.J.; Karlsson, L.; Ducatman, A.M.; Fletcher, T. Serum perfluorooctanoate (PFOA) and perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) concentrations and liver function biomarkers in a population with elevated PFOA exposure. *Environ. Health Perspect.*, 2012, 120, 655-660.
- Gaston, L.W.; Stadtman, E.R.; Fermentation of ethylene glycol by clostridium glycolicum, sp. n. *Jour. of Bacteriol.***1962**, *85*, 356-362
- Giesy, J.P.; Kannan, K. Global distribution of perfluorooctane sulfonate in wildlife. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2001**, *35*, 1339-1342.
- Gillham, R. W.; O'Hannesin, S. F. Enhanced Degradation of Halogenated Aliphatics by Zero-Valent Iron. *Ground Water* **1994**, *32*, 958–967.

- Glaze, W.H.; Kang, J.W. Advanced oxidation processes for treating groundwater contaminated with TCE and PCE: laboratory studies. *J. Ameri. Water Works Assoc.* **1988**, *80*, 57-63.
- Glynn, A.; Berger, U.; Bignert, A.; Ullah, S.; Aune, M.; Lignell, S.; Darnerud, P. O. Perfluorinated alkyl acids in blood serum from primiparous women in Sweden: serial sampling during pregnancy and nursing, and temporal trends 1996–2010. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2012, 46, 9071–9079.
- Guelfo, J. L.; Higgins, C. P. Subsurface Transport Potential of Perfluoroalkyl Acids at Aqueous Film-Forming Foam (AFFF)-Impacted Sites. *Environmental Science & Technology* 2013, 47, 4164–4171.
- Guelfo, J.L.; Higgins, C.P. Subsurface transport potential of perfluoroalkyl acids at aqueous filmforming foam (AFFF)-impacted sites. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2013**, *47*, 4164-4171.
- Hansen, K. J.; Johnson, H. O.; Eldridge, J. S.; Butenhoff, J. L.; Dick, L. A. Quantitative Characterization of Trace Levels of PFOS and PFOA in the Tennessee River. *Environmental Science & Technology* 2002, *36*, 1681–1685.
- Harris, K. M.; Higgins, C. P. Perfluoroalkyl Acid Distribution in Various Plant Compartments of Edible Crops Grown in Biosolids-Amended soils. *Environmental Science & Technology* 2014,
- He, J.; Ritalahti, K.M.; Aiello, M.R.; Loffler, F.E. Complete detoxification of vinyl chloride by an anaerobic enrichment culture and identification of the reductively dechlorinating population as a *Dehalococcoides* species. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **2003**, *69*, 996-1003.
- He, J.; Sung, Y.; Krajmalnik-Brown, R.; Ritalahti, K. M.; Löffler, F. E. Isolation and characterization of Dehalococcoides sp. strain FL2, a trichloroethene (TCE)- and 1,2-dichloroethene-respiring anaerobe. *Environ. Microbiol.* **2005**, *7*, 1442–1450.
- He, J.; Robrock, K.R.; Alvarez-Cohen, L. Microbial reductive debromination of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs). *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2006**, *40*, 4429-4434.
- He, J.; Holmes, V.F.; Lee, P.K.H.; Alvarez-Cohen, L. Influence of vitamin B12 and cocultures on the growth of *Dehalococcoides* isolates in defined medium. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 2007, 73, 2847-2853.
- Herren-Freund, S.L.; Pereira, M.A.; Khoury, M.D.; Olson, G. The carcinogenicity of trichloroethylene and its metabolites, trichloroacetic acid and dichloroacetic acid, in mouse liver. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* **1987**, *90*, 183-189.
- Higgins, C.P.; Luthy, R.G. Sorption of perfluorinated surfactants on sediments. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2006**, *40*, 7251-7256.
- Higgins, C. P.; McLeod, P. B.; Macmanus, L. A.; Luthy, R. G. Bioaccumulation of perfluorochemicals in sediments by the aquatic oligochaete Lumbriculus variegatus. *Environmental Science & Technology* **2007**, *41*, 4600–4606.
- Holmes, V. F.; He, J.; Lee, P. K. H.; Alvarez-Cohen, L. Discrimination of Multiple Dehalococcoides Strains in a Trichloroethene Enrichment by Quantification of Their Reductive Dehalogenase Genes. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 2006, *72*, 5877–5883.
- Hori, H.; Nagaoka, Y.; Yamamoto, A.; Sano, T.; Yamashita, M.; Taniyasu, S.; Kutsuna, S. Efficient decomposition of environmentally persistent perfluorooctanesulfonate and related fluorochemicals using zero valent iron in subcritical water. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2006, 40, 1049-1054.
- Houde, M.; Martin, J.W.; Letcher, R.J.; Solomon, K.R.; Muir, D.C.G. Biological monitoring of polyfluoroalkyl substances: a review. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2006**, *40*, 3463-3473.
- Houtz, E.F.; Higgins, C.P.; Field, J.A.; Sedlak, D.L. Persistence of Perfluoroalkyl acid precursors in AFFF-impacted groundwater and soil. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2013**, *47*, 8187-8195.
- Houtz, E.F.; Sedlak, D.L. Oxidative conversion as a means of detecting precursors to perfluoroalkyl acids in urban runoff. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2012**, *46*, 9342-9349.
- Huang, L.; Sturchio, N.C.; Abrajano, T., Jr.; Heraty, L.J.; Holt, B.D. Carbon and chlorine isotope fractionation of chlorinated aliphatic hydrocarbons by evaporation. *Org. Geochem.* 1999, 30, 777-785.
- Hunkeler, D.; Aravena, R.; Berry-Spark, K.; Cox, E. Assessment of degradation pathways in an aquifer with mixed chlorinated hydrocarbon contamination using stable isotope analysis. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2005, *39*, 5975-5981.
- Hunkeler, D.; Chollet, N.; Pittet, X.; Aravena, R.; Cherry, J. A.; Parker, B. L. Effect of source variability and transport processes on carbon isotope ratios of TCE and PCE in two sandy aquifers. J. Contam. Hydrol. 2004, 74, 265-282.
- Johnson, D.R.; Nemir, A.; Andersen, G.L.; Zinder, S.H.; Alvarez-Cohen, L. Transcriptomic microarray analysis of corrinoid responsive genes in Dehalococcoides ethenogenes strain 195. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 2009, 294, 198-206.
- Kannan, K.; Corsolini, S.; Falandysz, J.; Fillmann, G.; Kumar, K.S.; Loganathan, B.G.; Mohd, M.A.; Olivero, J.; Van Wouwe, N.; Yang, J.H.; Aldous, K.M. Perfluorooctanesulfonate and related fluorochemicals in human blood from several countries. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2004, *38*, 4489-4495.
- Karrman, A.; Elgh-Dalgren, K.; Lafossas, C.; Moskeland, T. Environmental levels and distribution of structural isomers of perfluoroalkyl acids after aqueous fire-fighting foam (AFFF) contamination. *Environ. Chem.* **2011**, *8*, 372-380.
- Kato, K.; Wong, L.-Y.; Jia, L.T.; Kuklenyik, Z.; Calafat, A.M. Trends in exposure to polyfluoroalkyl chemicals in the U.S. population: 1999-2008. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2011, 45, 8037-8045.
- Key, B. D.; Howell, R., D.; Criddle, C. S. Fluorinated Organics in the Biosphere. *Environmental Science & Technology* 1997, 31, 2445–2454.

- Key, B.D.; Howell, R.D.; Criddle, C.S. Defluorination of organofluorine sulfur compounds by *Pseudomonas* sp. strain D2. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2014, *32*, 2283-2287.
- Kim, M.H.; Wang, N.; Chu, K.H. 6:2 Fluorotelomer alcohol (6:2 FTOH) biodegradation by multiple microbial species under different physiological conditions. *Environ. Biotechnol.* 2014, 98, 1831-1840.
- Kim, M.H.; Wang, N.; McDonald, T.; Chu, K.H. Biodefluorination and biotransformation of fluorotelomer alcohols by two alkane-degrading pseudomonas strains. *Biotechnol. and Bioeng.* 2012, 109, 12.
- Kissa, E. Fluorinated Surfactants and Repellents, 2nd ed.; Marcel Dekker, Inc.: New York, NY, 2001.
- Krajmalnik-Brown, R.; Hölscher, T.; Thomson, I. N.; Saunders, F. M.; Ritalahti, K. M.; Löffler, F. E. Genetic Identification of a Putative Vinyl Chloride Reductase in Dehalococcoides sp. Strain BAV1. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **2004**, *70*, 6347–6351.
- Kuklenyik, Z.; Reich, J. A.; Tully, J. S.; Needham, L. L.; Calafat, A. M. Automated Solid-Phase Extraction and Measurement of Perfluorinated Organic Acids and Amides in Human Serum and Milk. *Environmental Science & Technology* 2004, *38*, 3698–3704.
- La Mesa, C.; Sesta, B. Micelles in perfluorinated surfactant solutions. J. Phys. Chem. 1987, 91, 1450–1454.
- Lau, C.; Anitole, K.; Hodes, C.; Lai, D.; Pfahles-Hutchens, A.; Seed, J. Perfluoroalkyl acids: a review of monitoring and toxicological findings. *Toxicol. Sciences* **2007**, *99*, 366-394.
- Lee, H.; D'Eon, J.; Mabury, S.A. Biodegradation of polyfluoroalkyl phosphates as a source of perfluorinated acids to the environment. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2010a**, *47*, 3305-3310.
- Lee, H.; Mabury, S.A. A pilot survey of legacy and current commercial fluorinated chemicals in human sera from United States donors in 2009. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2011**, *45*, 8067-8074.
- Lee, P.K.H.; Johnson, D.R.; Holmes, V.F.; He, J.Z.; Alvarez-Cohen, L. Reductive dehalogenase gene expression as a biomarker for physiological activity of *Dehalococcoides* spp. *Appl. and Environ. Microb.* **2006**, *72*, 6161-6168.
- Lee, P.K.H.; Conrad, M.E.; Alvarez-Cohen, L. Stable carbon isotope fractionation of chloroethenes by dehalorespiring isolates. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2007**, *41*, 4277-4285.
- Lee, P.K.H.; Macbeth, T.W.; Sorenson, K.S.; Deeb, R.A.; Alvarez-Cohen, L. Quantifying genes and transcripts to assess the in situ physiology of "Dehalococcoides" spp. in a trichloroethene-contaminated groundwater site. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 2008, 74, 2728-2739.
- Lee, P.K.H.; He, J.; Zinder, S.H.; Alvarez-Cohen, L. Evidence for nitrogen fixation by *Dehalococcoides ethenogenes* strain 195. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **2009**, *75*, 7551-7555.

- Lee, L.K.; He, J.; Reductive debromination of polybrominated diphenyl ethers by anaerobic bacteria from soils and sediments. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **2010b**, *76*, 794-802.
- Lee, P.K.H.; Dill, B.D.; Louie, T.S.; Shah, M.; VerBerkmoes, N.C.; Andersen, G.L.; Zinder, S.H.; Alvarez-Cohen, L. Global transcriptomic and proteomic responses of Dehalococcoides ethenogenes strain 195 to fixed nitrogen limitation. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 2012, 1424-1436.
- Lemming, G.; Hauschild, M.Z.; Chambon, J.; Binning, P.J.; Bulle, C.; Margni, M.; Bjerg, P.L. Environmental impacts of remediation of a trichloroethene-contaminated site: life cycle assessment of remediation alternatives. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2010**, *44*, 9163-9169.
- Liang, X.; Dong, Y.; Kuder, T.; Krumholz, L.R.; Philp, R.P.; Butler, E.C. Distinguishing abiotic and biotic transformation of tetrachloroethylene and trichloroethylene by stable carbon isotope fractionation. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2007**, *41*, 7094-7100.
- Lide, D.R., Ed. Handbook of chemistry and physics (79th ed.) CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, 1998
- Lin C.Y.; Chen, P.C.; Lin, Y.C.; Lin, L.Y. Association among serum perfluoroalkyl chemicals, glucose homeostasis, and metabolic syndrome in adolescents and adults. *Diabetes Care*. 2009, 32, 702-707.
- Liu, J.; Wang, N.; Buck, R.C.; Wolstenholme, B.W.; Folsom, P.W.; Sulecki, L.M.; Bellin, C.A. Aerobic biodegradation of [14C] 6:2 fluorotelomer alcohol in a flow-through soil incubation system. *Chemosphere* **2010**, *80*, 716-723.
- Löffler, F.E.; Yan, J.; Ritalahti, K.M.; Adrian, L.; Edwards, E.A.; Konstantinidis, K.T.; Muller, J.A.; Fullerton, H.; Zinder, S.H.; Spormann, A.M. Dehalococcoides mccartyi gen. nov., sp nov., obligately organohalide-respiring anaerobic bacteria relevant to halogen cycling and bioremediating, belong to a novel bacterial class, Dehalococcoidia classis nov., order Dehalococcoidales ord. nov and family Dehalococcoidaceae fam. nov., within the phylum Chloroflexi. *Int. Jour. of Syst. and Evol. Microbiol.* 2013, *63*, 624-635.
- Lollar, B.S.; Slater, G.F.; Ahad, J.; Sleep, B.; Spivack, J.; Bennan, M.; Mackenzie, P. Contrasting carbon isotope fractionation during biodegradation of trichloroethylene and toluene: Implications for intrinsic bioremediation. *Org. Geochem.* **1999**, *30*, 813-820.
- Lou, J.S.C.; Szostek, B.; DeRito, C.M.; Madsen, E.L. Investigating the biodegradability of perfluorooctanoic acid. *Chemosphere*. **2010**, *80*, 176-183.
- Lovley, D.R. Cleaning up with genomics: applying molecular biology to bioremediation. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* **2003**, *1*, 35-44.
- Lui, J.; Avendaño, S.M. Microbial degradation of polyfluoroalkyl chemicals in the environment. *Environ. Internat.* **2013**, *61*, 98-114.
- Macbeth, T. W.; Cummings, D. E.; Spring, S.; Petzke, L. M.; Sorenson, K. S. Molecular Characterization of a Dechlorinating Community Resulting from In Situ Biostimulation in a Trichloroethene-Contaminated Deep, Fractured Basalt Aquifer and Comparison to a Derivative Laboratory Culture. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 2004, 70, 7329–7341.

- Mackay, D.S.; Shiu, W.Y.; Ma, K.C. Illustrated Handbook of Physical-Chemical Properties and Environmental Fate for Organic Chemicals; Lewis Publishers, Chelsea, MI, **1993**.
- Marco-Urrea, E.; Nijenhuis, I.; Adrian, L. Transformation and carbon isotope fractionation of tetra- and trichloroethene to trans-dichloroethene by *Dehalococcoides* sp. strain CBDB1. *Environ. Sci. Technol*, **2011**, *45*, 1555-1562.
- Mariotti, A.; Germon, J.; Hubert, P.; Kaiser, P.; Letolle, R.; Tardieux, A.; Tardieux, P.
 Experimental determination of nitrogen kinetic isotope fractionation: Some principles.
 Illustration for the denitrification and nitrification processes. *Plant Soil*, **1981**, *62*, 413-430.
- Martin, J.W.; Asher, B.J.; Beesoon, S.; Benskin, J.P.; Ross, M.S. PFOS or PreFOS? Are perfluorooctane sulfonate precursors (PreFOS) important determinants of human and environmental perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) exposure? *J. Environ. Monitor.* 2010, *12*, 1979-2004.
- Maymó-Gatell, X.; Chien, Y.T.; Gossett, J.M.; Zinder, S.H. Isolation of a bacterium that reductively dechlorinates tetrachloroethene to ethene. *Science*. **1997**, *276*, 1568-1571.
- Maymó-Gatell, X.; Tandoi, V.; Gossett, J. M.; Zinder, S. H. Characterization of an H2-utilizing enrichment culture that reductively dechlorinates tetrachloroethene to vinyl chloride and ethene in the absence of methanogenesis and acetogenesis. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **1995**, *61*, 3928–3933.
- McCarty, P. Breathing with chlorinated solvents. Science. 1997a, 276, 1521-1522.
- McGuire, M.E.; Schaefer, C.; Richards, T.; Backe, W.J.; Field, J.A.; Houtz, E.F.; Sedlak, D.L., Guelfo, J.L., Wunsch, A.; Higgins, C.P. Evidence of remediation-induced alteration of subsurface poly- and perfluoroalkyl substance distribution at a former firefighter training area. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 2014, 48, 6644-6652.
- McLaughlin, J.K.; Blot, W.J. A critical review of epidemiology studies of trichloroethylene and perchloroethylene and risk of renal-cell carcinoma. *Int. Arch. Occup. Environ. Health.* **1997**, 70, 222-231.
- Meckenstock, R.U.; Morasch, B.; Griebler, C.; Richnow, H.H. Stable isotope fractionation analysis as a tool to monitor biodegradation in contaminated acquifers. J. Contam. Hydrol. 2004, 75, 215-255.
- Men Y.; Feil H.; VerBerkmoes N.C.; Shah M.B.; Johnson D.R.; Lee P.K.H.; Alvarez-Cohen, L. Sustainable syntrophic growth of *Dehalococcoides ethenogenes* strain 195 with *Desulfovibrio vulgaris* Hildenborough and *Methanobacterium congolense*: global transcriptomic and proteomic analyses. *ISME J.* 2011, 6, 410-421.
- Men, Y.; Lee, P. K. H.; Harding, K. C.; Alvarez-Cohen, L. Characterization of four TCEdechlorinating microbial enrichments grown with different cobalamin stress and methanogenic conditions. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* **2013**, *97*, 6439–6450.

- Men, Y.; Seth, E. C.; Yi, S.; Allen, R. H.; Taga, M. E.; Alvarez-Cohen, L. Sustainable Growth of Dehalococcoides mccartyi 195 by Corrinoid Salvaging and Remodeling in Defined Lactate-Fermenting Consortia. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 2014, 80, 2133–2141.
- MIL-F-24385F Military Specifications: Fire Extinguishing Agents, Aqueous Film-forming Foam (AFFF) Liquid Concentrate, for Fresh and Seawater; US Naval Research Laboratory: 1994.
- Moe, M.K.; Huber, S.; Svenson, J.; Hagenaars, A.; Pabon, M.; Trümper, M.; Berger, U.; Knapen, D.; Herzke, D. The structure of the fire fighting foam surfactant Forafac® 1157 and its biological and photolytic transformation products. *Chemosphere* 2012, *89*, 869-875.
- Moody, C. A.; Field, J. A. Determination of perfluorocarboxylates in groundwater impacted by fire-fighting activity. *Environmental Science & Technology* **1999**, *33*, 2800–2806.
- Moody, C. A.; Field, J. A. Perfluorinated Surfactants and the Environmental Implications of Their Use in Fire-Fighting Foams. *Environmental Science & Technology* **2000**, *34*, 3864–3870.
- Moody, C. A.; Hebert, G. N.; Strauss, S. H.; Field, J. A. Occurrence and persistence of perfluorooctanesulfonate and other perfluorinated surfactants in groundwater at a firetraining area at Wurtsmith Air Force Base, Michigan, USA. J. Environ. Monit. 2003, 5, 341–345.
- Moody, C. A.; Martin, J. W.; Kwan, W. C.; Muir, D. C. G.; Mabury, S. A. Monitoring perfluorinated surfactants in biota and surface water samples following an accidental release of fire-fighting foam into Etobicoke Creek. *Environmental Science & Technology* **2002**, *36*, 545-551.
- Morrill, P.; Lacrampe-Couloume, G.; Slater, G. F.; Sleep, B. E.; Edwards, E. A.; McMaster, M. L.; Major, D. W.; Sherwood Lollar, B. Quantifying chlorinated ethane degradation during reductive dechlorination at Kelly AFB using stable carbon isotopes. *J. Contam. Hydrol.* 2005, *76*, 279-293.
- Morrill, P.L.; Sleep, B.E.; Slater, G.F.; Edwards, E.A.; Lollar, B.S. Evaluation of isotopic enrichment factors for the biodegradation of chlorinated ethenes using a parameter estimation model: toward an improved quantification of biodegradation. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2006, 40, 3886-3892.
- Morris, D. L. Quantitative Determination of Carbohydrates with Dreywood's Anthrone Reagent. *Science* **1948**, *107*, 254–255.
- MPCA /Minnesota Pollution Control Agency. **2008.** *PFCs in Minnesota's Ambient Environment:* 2008 Progress Report. http://www.pca.state.mn.us/index.php/view-document.html?gid=2855 [Accessed August 29, 2014].
- Müller, J. A.; Rosner, B. M.; Abendroth, G. von; Meshulam-Simon, G.; McCarty, P. L.; Spormann, A. M. Molecular Identification of the Catabolic Vinyl Chloride Reductase from Dehalococcoides sp. Strain VS and Its Environmental Distribution. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 2004, 70, 4880–4888.

- Murakami, M.; Kuroda, K.; Sato, N.; Fukushi, T.; Takizawa, S.; Takada, H. Groundwater pollution by perfluorinated surfactants in Tokyo. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2009a**, *43*, 3480-3486.
- Murakami, M.; Shinohara, H.; Takada, H. Evaluation of wastewater and street runoff as sources of perfluorinated surfactants (PFSs). *Chemosphere* **2009b**, *74*, 487-493.
- NRC / National Research Council. *Alternatives for Groundwater Cleanup*; National Academy Press: U.S.A., **1994**.
- Nelson, J.W.; Hatch, E.E.; Webster, T.F. Exposure to polyfluoroalkyl chemicals and cholesterol, body weight, and insulin resistance in the general U.S. population. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 2009, 118, 197-202.
- Nijenhuis, I.; Andert, J.; Beck, K.; Ka[°]stner, M.; Diekert, G.; Richnow, H.-H. Stable isotope fractionation of tetrachloroethene during reductive dechlorination by Sulfurospirillum multivorans and Desulfitobacterium sp. strain PCE-S and abiotic reactions with cyanocobalamin. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **2005**, *71*, 3413-3419.
- Nilsson, H.; Karrman, A.; Rotander, A.; van Bavel, B.; Lindstrom, G.; Westberg, H. Biotransformation of fluorotelomer compound to perfluorocarboxylates in humans. *Environ. Int.* **2013**, *51*, 8-12.
- Niu, J.; Lin, H.; Xu, J.; Wu, H.; Li, Y. Electrochemical mineralization of perfluorocarboxylic acids (PFCAs) by Ce-doped modified porous nanocrystalline PbO2 film electrode. *Environ. Sci. & Technol.* **2012**, *46*, 10191-10198.
- Oakes, K.D.; Benskin, J.P.; Martin, J.W.; Ings, J.S.; Heinrichs, J.Y.; Dixon, D.G.; Servos, M.R. Biomonitoring of perfluorochemicals and toxicity to the downstream fish community of Etobicoke Creek following deployment of aqueous film-forming foam. *Aquatic Toxicol.*, 2010, 98, 120-129.
- Ochoa-Herrera, V.; Sierra-Alvarez, R.; Somogyi, A.; Jacobsen, N.E.; Wysocki, V.H.; Field, J.A. Reductive defluorination of perfluorooctane sulfonate. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2008**, *42*, 3260-3264.
- Olsen, G. W.; Lange, C. C.; Ellefson, M. E.; Mair, D. C.; Church, T. R.; Goldberg, C. L.;
 Herron, R. M.; Medhdizadehkashi, Z.; Nobiletti, J. B.; Rios, J. A.; Reagen, W. K.; Zobel, L.
 R. Temporal trends of perfluoroalkyl concentrations in American Red Cross adult blood donors, 2000–2010. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2012, *46*, 6330–6338.
- Olsen, G.W.; Burris, J.M.; Ehresman, D.J.; Froehlich, J.W.; Seacat, A.M.; Butenhoff, J.L.; Zobel, L.R. Half-life of serum elimination of perfluorooctanesulfonate, perfluorohexanesulfonate, and perfluorooctanoate in retired fluorochemical production workers. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 2007, 115, 1298-1305.
- Olsen, G.W.; Huang, H.Y.; Helzlsouer, K.J.; Hansen, K.J.; Butenhoff, J.L.; Mandel, J.H. Historical comparison of perfluorooctanesulfonate, perfuorooctanoate and other fluorochemicals in human blood. *Environ. Health Perspect.* **2005**. *113*, 539-545.

- Pankow, J.F.; Johnson, R.L.; Cherry, J.A. Air sparging in gate wells in cutoff wells and trenches for control of plumes of volatile organic compounds (VOCs). Groundwater. **1993**, *31*, 654-663.
- Parsons, J.R.; Saez, M.; Dolfing, J. de Voogt, P. Biodegradation of perfluorinated compounds. *Rev. Environ. Contam. and Toxicol.* **2008**, *196*, 53-71.
- Patterson, B. M.; Pribac, F.; Barber, C.; Davis, G. B.; Gibbs, R. Biodegradation and Retardation of PCE and BTEX Compounds in Aquifer Material from Western Australia Using Large-Scale Columns. *Journal of Contaminant Hydrology* 1993, 14, 261–278.
- Paul, A.G.; Jones, K.C.; Sweetman, A.J. A first global production, emission, and environmental inventory for perfluorooctane sulfonate. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2009**, *43*, 386-392.
- Phillips, D. H.; Nooten, T. V.; Bastiaens, L.; Russell, M. I.; Dickson, K.; Plant, S.; Ahad, J. M. E.; Newton, T.; Elliot, T.; Kalin, R. M. Ten Year Performance Evaluation of a Field-Scale Zero-Valent Iron Permeable Reactive Barrier Installed to Remediate Trichloroethene Contaminated Groundwater. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2010, 44, 3861–3869.
- Place, B.J.; Field, J.A. Identification of novel fluorochemicals in aqueous film-forming foams used by the U.S. military. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, **2012**, *46*, 7120-7127.
- Poulson, S.R.; Drever, J.I. Stable isotope (C, Cl, and H) fractionation during vaporization of trichloroethylene. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **1999**, *33*, 3689-3694.
- Prevedouros, K.; Cousins, I.T.; Buck, R.C.; Korzeniowski, S.H. Sources, fate and transport of perfluorocarboxylates. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2006**, *40*, 32-44.
- Puls, R. W.; Paul, C. J.; Powell, R. M. The application of in situ permeable reactive (zero-valent iron) barrier technology for the remediation of chromate-contaminated groundwater: a field test. *Appl. Geochem.* **1999**, *14*, 989–1000.
- Quensen, J.F. III; Tiedje, J.M.; Boyd, S.A. Reductive dechlorination of polychlorinated biphenyls by anaerobic microorganisms from sediments. *Science*. **1988**, *242*, 752-754.
- Rand, A.A.; Mabury, S.A. Covalent binding of fluorotelomer unsaturated aldehydes (FTUALs) and carboxylic Acids (FTUCAs) to proteins. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2013**, *47*, 1655-1663.
- Rand, A.A.; Mabury, S.A.; Protein binding associated with exposure to fluorotelomer alcohols (FTOHs) and polyfluoroalkyl phosphate esters (PAPs) in rats. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2014, 48, 2421-2429.
- Rayne, S.; Forest, K. Perfluoroalkyl sulfonic and carboxylic acids: a critical review of physicochemical properties, levels and patterns in waters and wastewaters, and treatment methods. J. Environ. Sci. Health A Tox. Hazard Subst. Environ. Eng. 2009, 44, 1145-1199.
- Remde, A.; Debus, R. Biodegradability of fluorinated surfactants under aerobic and anaerobic conditions. *Chemosphere*. **1996**, *32*, 1563-1574.

- Renner, R. EPA finds records levels of PFOS, PFOA levels in Alabama grazing fields. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2009**, *43*, 1245-1246.
- Sakr, C.J.; Kreckmann, K.H.; Green, J.W./ Gillies, P.J.; Reynolds, J.L.; Leondard, R.C. Crosssectional study of lipids and liver enzymes related to a serum biomarker of exposure (ammonium perfluorooctanoate or APFO) as part of a general health survey in a cohort of occupationally exposed workers. J. Occup. Environ. Med. 2007, 49, 1086-1096.
- Scheffey, J. L.; Wright, J. A. Analysis of test criteria for specifying foam fire-fighting agents for aircraft rescue and fire-fighting; Report No. DOT/FAA/CT-94-04; Hughes Associates, Inc.: Columbia, MD, 1994.
- Schmidt, K.R.; Augenstein, T.; Heidinger, M.; Ertl, S.; Tiehm, A. Aerobic biodegradation of cis-1,2-dichloroethene as sole carbon source: Stable carbon isotope fractionation and growth characteristics. *Chemosphere*. **2010**, *78*, 527-532.
- Schnarr, M.; Truax, C.; Farquhar, G.; Hood, E.; Gonullu, T.; Stickney, B. Laboratory and controlled field experiments using potassium permanganate to remediate trichloroethylene and perchloroethylene DNAPLs in porous media. *J. Contam. Hydrol.* **1998**, *29*, 205-224.
- Schröder, H.F.; Meesters, R.J.W. Stability of fluorinated surfactants in advanced oxidation processes A follow up of degradation products using flow injection mass spectrometry, liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry and liquid chromatography-multiple stage mass spectrometry. *J. Chromatogr. A* **2005**, *1082*, 110-119.
- Schultz, M. M.; Barofsky, D. F.; Field, J. A. Quantitative Determination of Fluorotelomer Sulfonates in Groundwater by LC MS/MS. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2004**, *38*, 1828–1835.
- Schultz, M.M.; Barofsky, D.F.; Field, J.A. Fluorinated alkyl surfactants. *Environ. Engin. Sci.* **2003**, *20*, 487-501.
- Schultz, M.M.; Higgins, C.P.; Huset, C.A.; Luthy, R.G.; Barofsky, D.F.; Field, J.A. Fluorochemical mass flows in a municipal wastewater treatment facility. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2006, 40, 7350-7357.
- Sepulvado, J. G.; Higgins, C. P. Groundwater transport potential of perfluoroalkyl substances at aqueous film-forming foam (AFFF)-impacted sites. *Environmental Science & Technology* 2013.
- Seshadri, R.; Adrian, L.; Fouts, D. E.; Eisen, J. A.; Phillippy, A.M.; Methe, B. A.; Ward, N. L.; Nelson, W. C.; Deboy, R. T.; Khouri, H. M.; Kolonay, J. F.; Dodson, R. J.; Daugherty, S. C.; Brinkac, L. M.; Sullivan, S. A.; Madupu, R.; Nelson, K. E.; Kang, K. H.; Impraim, M.; Tran, K.; Robinson, J. M.; Forberger, H. A.; Fraser, C. M.; Zinder, S. H.; Heidelberg, J. F. Genome sequence of the PCE-dechlorinating bacterium Dehalococcoides ethenogenes. *Science*, 2005, 307, 105-108.

- Sharp, J. O.; Sales, C. M.; LeBlanc, J. C.; Liu, J.; Wood, T. K.; Eltis, L. D.; Mohn, W. W.; Alvarez-Cohen, L. An Inducible Propane Monooxygenase Is Responsible for N-Nitrosodimethylamine Degradation by Rhodococcus sp. Strain RHA1. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 2007, 73, 6930–6938.
- Slater, G. F.; Sherwood Lollar, B.; Lesage, S.; Brown, S. Carbon isotope fractionation of PCE and TCE during dechlorination by vitamin B12. *Ground Water Monit. Rem.* 2003, *23*, 59-67.
- Slater, G.F.; Lollar, B.S.; Sleep, B.E.; Edwards, E.A. Variability in carbon isotopic fractionation during biodegradation of chlorinated ethenes: Implications for field applications. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2001, *35*, 901-907.
- Smidt, H.; de Vos, W.M.; Anaerobic microbial dehalogenation. *Ann. Review Microbiol.* **2004**, *58*, 43-73.
- Song, D. L.; Conrad, M. E.; Sorenson, K. S.; Alvarez-Cohen, L. Stable Carbon Isotope Fractionation during Enhanced In Situ Bioremediation of Trichloroethene. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2002, *36*, 2262–2268.
- Stott, W.T.; Quast, J.F.; Watanabe, P.G. The pharmacokinetics and macromolecular interactions of trichloroethylene in rats and mice. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 1982, 62, 137-151.
- Strab, A; Schink, B.; Fermentation of polyethylene glycol via acetaldehyde in Pelobacter venetianus. Appl. Microbiol.and Biotechnol. 1986, 42, 25-37.
- Stroo, H.F., Ward, E.H., Eds. In Situ Remediation of Chlorinated Solvent Plumes; Springer: New York, 2010.
- Stroo, H.F.; Leeson, A.; Shepard, A.J.; Koenigsberg, S.S.; Casey, C.C. Environmental remediation applications of molecular biological tools. Remediation J. 2006, 16, 125-136.
- Sung, Y.; Ritalahti, K. M.; Apkarian, R. P.; Löffler, F. E. Quantitative PCR Confirms Purity of Strain GT, a Novel Trichloroethene-to-Ethene-Respiring Dehalococcoides Isolate. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 2006, 72, 1980–1987.
- Tang, C.Y.; Fu, Q.S.; Robertson, A.P.; Criddle, C.S.; Leckie, J.O. Use of reverse osmosis membranes to remove perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) from semiconductor wastewater. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2006, 40, 7343-7349.
- Tang, Y. J.; Yi, S.; Zhuang, W.Q.; Zinder, S. H.; Keasling, J. D.; Alvarez-Cohen, L. Investigation of Carbon Metabolism in "Dehalococcoides ethenogenes" Strain 195 by Use of Isotopomer and Transcriptomic Analyses. J. Bacteriol. 2009, 191, 5224–5231.
- Teel, A. L.; Warberg, C. R.; Atkinson, D. A.; Watts, R. J. Comparison of mineral and soluble iron Fenton's catalysts for the treatment of trichloroethylene. Water Res. 2001, 35, 977–984.
- Tuve, R.L.; Jablonski, J.E. Method of extinguishing liquid hydrocarbon fires. U.S. Patent 3,258,423, June 28, 1966.

- U.S. DHHS / U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Report on Carcinogens, 11th ed.; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services: Research Triangle Park, NC, 2005; http://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/INDEX7372_2.HTM
- U.S. EPA. Framework for cumulative risk assessment. (EPA/630/P-02/001F). pp. 129. Washington, DC: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Risk Assessment Forum. 2003, http://nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyPURL.cgi?Dockey=30004TJH.txt [Accessed August 30, 2014].
- U.S. EPA. Maximum Contaminant Levels for Organic Chemicals: 40 CFR 141.61. July 7, 1987.
- U.S. EPA. National primary drinking water regulations; announcement of the results of EPA's review of existing drinking water standards and request for public comments and/or information on related issues. Federal Register. 2010, 75, 15500-15572. http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2010-03-29/pdf/2010-6624.pdf [Accessed August 30, 2014].
- U.S. EPA. Provisional Health Advisories for Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA) and Perfluorooctane Sulfonate (PFOS). 2009.
- U.S. EPA. Sources, emission, and exposure for trichloroethylene (TCE) and related chemicals; U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Office of Research and Development, Washington, D.C.; EPA/600/R-00/099; March 2001.
- U.S. EPA. Toxicological Review of trichloroethylene; U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Washington, D.C.; EPA/635/R-09/011F; September 2011.
- US Environmental Protection Agency. 2010/2015 PFOA Stewardship Program. http://www.epa.gov/oppt/pfoa/pubs/stewardship/ (accessed April 16, 2014).
- USGS / U.S. Geological Survey. Volatile organic compounds in the nation's ground water and drinking-water supply wells. Reston, VA: U.S. Department of the Interior, U.S. Geological Survey. 2006 http://pubs.usgs.gov/circ/circ1292/pdf/circular1292.pdf [Accessed August 30, 2014]
- Van Breukelen, B.M.; Hunkeler, D.; Volkering, F. Quantification of sequential chlorinated ethene degradation by use of a reactive transport model incorporating isotope fractionation. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2005, 39, 4189-4197.
- Van de Vijver, K. I.; Hoff, P. T.; Das, K.; Van Dongen, W.; Esmans, E. L.; Jauniaux, T.; Bouquegneau, J.-M.; Blust, R.; De Coen, W. Perfluorinated Chemicals Infiltrate Ocean Waters: Link between Exposure Levels and Stable Isotope Ratios in Marine Mammals. Environmental Science & Technology 2003, 37, 5545–5550.
- Vecitis, C.; Park, H.; Cheng, J.; Mader, B.T.; Hoffman, M.R. Treatment technologies for aqueous perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) and perfluorooctanoate (PFOA). Front. Environ. Sci. Engin. in China, 2009, 3, 129-151.
- Vieira, V.M.; Hoffman, K.; Shin, H.M.; Weinberg, J.M.; Webster, T.F.; Fletcher, T. Perfluorooctanoic acid exposure and cancer outcomes in a contaminated community: A geographic analysis. Environ. Health Perspect. 2013, 121, 318-323.

- Waller, A. S.; Krajmalnik-Brown, R.; Löffler, F. E.; Edwards, E. A. Multiple reductivedehalogenase-homologous genes are simultaneously transcribed during dechlorination by Dehalococcoides-containing cultures. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 2005, 71, 8257–8264.
- Wang, C.B.; Zhang, W. Synthesizing Nanoscale Iron Particles for Rapid and Complete Dechlorination of TCE and PCBs. Environ. Sci. Technol. 1997, 31, 2154–2156.
- Wang, N.; Liu, J. Buck, R.C.; Korzeniowski, S.H.; Wolstenholme, B.W.; Folsom, P.W.; Sulecki, L. M. 6:2 Fluorotelomer sulfonate aerobic biotransformation in activated sludge of waste water treatment plants. Chemosphere 2011, 82, 853-858.
- Wang, N.; Szostek, B.; Buck, R.C.; Folsom, P.W.; Sulecki, L.M.; Capka, V.; Berti, W.R.; Gannon, J.T. Fluorotelomer alcohol biodegradation – direct evidence that perfluorinated chains breakdown. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2005, 39, 7516-7528.
- Wartenberg, D.; Reyner, D.; Scott, C.S. Trichloroethylene and cancer: epidemiologic evidence. Environ. Health Perspect. 2000, 108, 161-176.
- Washington, J.W.; Yoo, H.Y.; Jackson Ellington, J.; Jenkins, T.M.; Libelo, E.L. Concentrations, distribution, and persistence of perfluoroalkylates in sludge-applied soils near Decatur, Alabama, USA. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2010b, 44, 8390-8396.
- Weiner, B.; Yeung, L.W.Y.; Marchington, E.B.; D'Agostino, L.A.; Mabury, S.A. Organic fluorine content in aqueous film forming foams (AFFFs) and biodegradation of the foam component 6:2 fluorotelomermercaptoalkylamido sulfonate (6:2 FTSAS). Environ. Chem., 2013, 10, 486-493.
- Weisel, C.P.; Jo, W.K.; Ingestion, inhalation, and dermal exposures to chloroform and trichloroethene from tap water. Environ. Health Perspect. 1996, 104, 48-54.
- Weiss, O.; Wiesmüller, G.A.; Bunte, A.; Göen, T.; Schmidt, C.K.; Wilhelm, M.; Hölzer, J. Perfluorinated compounds in the vicinity of a fire training area – Human biomonitoring among 10 persons drinking water from contaminated private wells in Cologne, Germany. Int. J. Hyg. Environ. Health, 2012, 215, 212-215.
- Westerick, J.; Mello, J.W.; Thomas, R.G. The ground-water supply survey. J. Am. Water Works Assoc. 1984, 76, 52-59.
- Williams, P; Benton, L; Warmerdam, J; Sheehans, P. Comparative risk analysis of six volatile organic compounds in California drinking water. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2002, 36, 4721-4728.
- Yamada T.; Bozzelli, J.W.; Berry, R.J. Thermodynamic properties of fluorinated propanes. J Phys. Chem. A. 1999, 103, 5602–5610.
- Yan, Y.E.; Schwartz, F.W. Oxidation degradation kinetics of chlorinated ethylenes by potassium permanganate. J. Contam. Hydrol. 1999, 37, 343-365.
- Yang, Y.R.; McCarty, P.L. Competition for hydrogen within a chlorinated solvent dehalogenating anaerobic mixed culture. Environ. Sci. Technol. 1998, 32, 3591–3597.

Yaws, C.L. Chemical Properties Handbook; McGraw-Hill: New York, 1999.

- Yi, S.; Seth, E.C.; Men, Y.J.; Stabler, S.P.; Allen, R.H.; Alvarez-Cohen, L.; Taga, M.E. Versatility in corrinoid salvaging and remodeling pathways supports corrinoid-dependent metabolism in Dehalococcoides mccartyi. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 2012, 78, 7745-7752.
- Yu, Q.; Zhang, R.; Deng, S.; Huang, J.; Yu, G. Sorption of perfluorooctane sulfonate and perfluorooctanoate on activated carbons and resin: Kinetic and isotherm study. Water Res. 2009, 43, 1150-1158.
- Zekster, S.; Loaiciga, H.A.; Wolf, J.T. Environmental impacts of groundwater overdraft: selected case studies in the southwestern United States. J. Environ. Geo. 2005, 47, 396-404.
- Zhang, X.; Bishop, P. L.; Kinkle, B. K. Comparison of Extraction Methods for Quantifying Extracellular Polymers in Biofilm. Wat. Sci. Tech. 1999, 39, 211–218.
- Zhuang, W.Q.; Yi, S.; Bill, M.; Brisson, V. L.; Feng, X.; Men, Y.; Conrad, M. E.; Tang, Y. J.; Alvarez-Cohen, L. Incomplete Wood–Ljungdahl pathway facilitates one-carbon metabolism in organohalide-respiring Dehalococcoides mccartyi. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 2014, 111, 6419– 6424.

Appendix: Chapter 2



Figure A2.1. Oxygen concentrations in microcosm bottles. Oxygen amendments denoted by the arrows occurred in live microcosms only. Error bars represent the standard deviation of triplicate microcosm bottles.



Figure A2.2. Dissolved organic carbon concentrations in microcosms. AFFF and DGBE amendments denoted by the arrows occurred in live microcosms only. Error bars represent the standard deviation of triplicate microcosm bottles. MC = medium control.

			Fragmentor		Collision	Qualifier	Collision	
	Internal	Molecular	Voltage	Quantifier	Energy	Ion	Energy	
Compound	Standard	Ion	(V)	Ion (m/z)	(V)	(m/z)	(V)	Polarity
4:2 FtS	$[^{13}C_2]$ 6:2 FtS	327	135	307	20	81	20	Negative

Table A2.1. Monitored ion transitions, MS conditions, and internal standard for 4:2 FtS on Agilent LC-MS/MS.

Table A2.2. Monitored ion transitions, MS conditions, and internal standards for Shimadzu Nexera X2 UHPLC / ABSciEX 5500 Triple Quad MS system.

	Internal	Molecular	Decluster Potential	Quantifier	Collision Energy	Collision Cell Exit Potential	Qualifier	Collision Energy	Collision Cell Exit Potential	
Compound	Standard	lon	(V)	lon (m/z)	(V)	(V)	lon (m/z)	(V)	(V)	Polarity
5:3 FtCA (FPePA)	[¹³ C ₂] 6:2 FtS	341	50	237	20	15				Negative
7:3 FtCA (FHpPA)	[¹³ C ₄] PFOA	441	55	337	30	25	317	18	13	Negative
6:2 FtCA (FHEA)	[¹³ C ₂] 6:2 FtS	377	35	293	22	25	137	12	15	Negative
8:2 FtCA (FOEA)	[¹³ C ₅] PFNA	477	60	393	20	15	217	28	15	Negative
6:2 FtUCA (FHUEA)	[¹³ C ₂] 6:2 FtS	357	40	293	16	11	121	50	13	Negative
8:2 FtUCA (FOUEA)	[¹³ C ₅] PFNA	457	40	393	20	15	343	52	31	Negative

Table A2.3. Solvent gradient program used for FtCA quantification on Simadzu Nexera X2 UHPLC / ABSciEX 5500 Triple Quad MS system.

Time	
(min)	% MeOH
0.1	30
1	50
3.5	80
4	90
5	90
6	30
7	30

Quantification of 4:2 and 8:2 FtTAoS for which authentic standards were not available: For the quantification of 6:2 FtTAoS, a commercial source material was available. To quantify 4:2 and 8:2 FtTAoS, the raw instrument responses for the compounds were first normalized to the instrument response of the mass labeled-6:2 FtS internal standard. This response ratio was then applied to the calibration curve obtained for 6:2 FtTAoS. This is delineated in Table S4.

	_			
Analyte	Calibration Range $\mu g/L$	Number of calibration point	\mathbb{R}^2	Internal Standard
4:2 FtTAoS	calculated u	$[^{13}C_2]$ 6:2 FtS		
6:2 FtTAoS	0.5 - 10	5	>0.95	$[^{13}C_2]$ 6:2 FtS
8:2 FtTAoS	calculated u	$[^{13}C_2]$ 6:2 FtS		

Table A2.4. Calibration parameters and quantification of FtTAoS on Agilent LC-MS/M	MS.
--	-----



Figure A2.3. 4:2 and 8:2 FtS concentrations in microcosms. Error bars represent the standard deviation of triplicate microcosm bottles.



Figure A2.4. PFHpA and PFOA concentrations in microcosms. Note y-axis scale on this plot is one-tenth that of Figure S3. Error bars represent the standard deviation of triplicate microcosm bottles.



Figure A2.5. Concentrations of 7:3 FtCA and 8:2 FtUCA in microcosms. Error bars represent the standard deviation of triplicate microcosm bottles.



Figure A2.6. Concentrations of 6:2 FtCA and 8:2 FtCA in microcosms. . Error bars represent the standard deviation of triplicate microcosm bottles.



Figure A2.7. Average LC/MS-MS response of molecular ion 586 (6:2 FtTAoS) at a retention time of 8.0 minutes, normalized to the response for the mass labeled-6:2 FtS internal standard. Error bars represent the standard deviation of triplicate bottles. MC is medium control.



Figure A2.8. Average LC/MS-MS response of molecular ion 686 (8:2 FtTAoS) at a retention time of 8.1 minutes, normalized to the response of the mass labeled-6:2 FtS internal standard. Error bars represent the standard deviation of triplicate bottles. MC is medium control.



Figure A2.9. Average LC/MS-MS analyte response of molecular ion 702 at a retention time of 8.5 minutes, normalized to the response of the mass labeled-6:2 FtS internal standard. Error bars represent the standard deviation of triplicate bottles. MC is medium control.



Figure A2.10. Average LC/MS-MS response of molecular ion 718 at a retention time of 8.6 minutes, normalized to the response of the mass labeled-6:2 FtS internal standard. Error bars represent the standard deviation of triplicate bottles. MC is medium control.

Table A2.5. Measured mass, theoretical mass, and mass accuracy of intermediate products identified by high resolution mass spectrometry. Retention time of compounds refers to LC/MS-MS elution time.

		Retention Time,		Measured	Theoretical	Mass Accuracy,
Compound	m/z	minutes	Composition	Mass	Mass	ppm
6:2 FtSO ₂ AoS	618	8.1	$C_{15}H_{17}O_6NF_{13}S_2$	618.0276	618.0295	-3.11
6:2 FtSOAoS	602	8.0	$C_{15}H_{17}O_5NF_{13}S_2$	602.0329	602.0346	-2.84
8:2 FtSO ₂ AoS	718	8.6		NA		
8:2 FtSOAoS	702	8.5		NA		

NA: Masses could not be confirmed with HRMS.



Figure A2.11. Chromatogram of 6:2 FtTAoS (m/z 586), 6:2 FtSOAoS (m/z 602), and 6:2 FtSO₂AoS (m/z 618) molecular ions in a live microcosm on day 29 of incubation.



Figure A2.12. Chromatogram of 8:2 FtSOAoS (m/z 702), and 8:2 FtSO₂AoS (m/z 718) molecular ions in a live microcosm on day 60 (8:2 FtTAoS, m/z 686, was not detected at the end of the incubation).



Figure A2.13. Product ion scans of m/z 602 (6:2 FtSOAoS) and 618 (6:2 FtSO₂AoS) and proposed structures of daughter ions.



Figure A2.14. Proposed 4:2 FtTAoS biotransformation pathway. Compounds in dotted boxes are proposed biotransformation products that were not detected in microcosms.



Figure A2.15. Proposed 8:2 FtTAoS biotransformation pathway. Compounds in dotted boxes are proposed biotransformation products that were not detected in microcosms.



Figure A2.16. Concentration of 6:2 FtTAoS measured in the autoclaved microcosms and concentration of PFCA products measured in autoclaved microcosm samples after they were subjected to the total oxidizable precursor assay.



Figure A2.17. Concentration of 6:2 FtTAoS measured in the medium controls and concentration of PFCA products measured in medium control samples after they were subjected to the total oxidizable precursor assay.

Appendix: Chapter 3

Compound	Abbreviation	Structure ¹	Purity	
Perfluorobutanoic acid	PFBA		n = 2	98%
Perfluoropentanoic acid	PFPeA		n = 3	97%
Perfluorohexanoic acid	PFHxA	F/F	n = 4	97%
Perfluoroheptanoic acid	PFHpA	F - + + + + + C	n = 5	100%
Perfluorooctanoic acid	PFOA	· / `o-	n = 6	96%
Perfluorononanoic acid	PFNA	F \F/	n = 7	97%
Perfluorodecanoic acid	PFDA		n = 8	98%
Perfluoroundecanoic acid	PFUnA		n = 9	95%
Perfluorobutane sulfonate	PFBS	F /F/ 0	m = 3	98%
Perfluorohexane sulfonate	PFHxS	F	m = 5	98%
Perfluorooctane sulfonate	PFOS	Ė ∖Ė∕mÖ	m = 7	98%

Table A3.1. PFAA analytes used in this study and corresponding characteristics

PFAA preparation: Purity-corrected stock solutions of an eleven-analyte mixture were made using salts from Sigma-Aldrich in a 70/30 v/v methanol/aqueous solution as discussed previously [Sepulvado and Higgins 2013]. To achieve a stock solution of 50, 30, or 20 g/L of pure analytes. The components in this mixture were: perfluorobutanoate (PFBA), perfluoropentanoate (PFPeA), perfluorohexanoate (PFHxA), perfluoroheptanoate (PFHpA), PFOA, perfluorononanoate (PFNA), perfluorodecanoate (PFDA), perfluoroundecanoate (PFUnA), perfluorobutanesulfonate (PFBS), perfluorohexanesulfonate (PFHxS), and PFOS (Table S1). These stock solutions were then combined at the appropriate volumes and diluted with additional 70/30 v/v methanol/MilliQ[™] water to create spiking solutions.

Experimental aqueous loss control. To assess whether there are aqueous PFAA losses due to evaporation of methanol during PFAA amendment, the concentrations of each PFAA were measured before and after evaporation. Two different target concentrations were assessed (0.1 mg/L and 1 mg/L of each PFAA) to determine if losses may be concentration dependent (Figure S1).



Figure A3.1. PFAA concentrations before and after evaporation step (cross-hatches) for two different concentrations: 0.1 mg/L (white bars) and 1 mg/L (grey bars) in glass bottles sealed with butyl rubber stoppers.

Recovery after evaporation increased for shorter chain acids, and slightly decreased for most sulfonates. Because the final PFAA concentrations remain quantifiable, we are able to utilize the evaporation step in future experiments. Additionally, though we may get some loss to the airwater interface when using glass bottles, the final aqueous concentration is still quantifiable, even at concentrations lower than those utilized for the 10 mg/L-each PFAA experiments.



Figure A3.2. Methane concentrations in dechlorinating microbial communities amended with 0, 1, or 10 mg/L of each PFAA (11 analytes total).

Appendix: Chapter 4



Figure A4.1. No ethene production occurs when cultures are amended with a 3M, Ansul or National Foam AFFF after 60 days. Error bars represent the standard deviation of triplicate biological bottles.



Figure A4.2. Hydrogen production and consumption in 3M and Ansul AFFF-amended cultures. This figure is related to text Figure 2A: the y-axis scale has been decreased in order to zoom in on the measured hydrogen concentrations in these conditions.



Figure A4.3. *Dehalococcoides* 16S rDNA copies in 3M, Ansul, and National Foam-amended TCE-dechlorinating cultures. No significant Dhc growth is detected in any of the AFFF amendment conditions. Error bars represent the standard deviation of triplicate biological bottles.



Figure A4.4. Concentrations of all measured PFAS compounds in live TCE-dechlorinating cultures initially amended with 3M AFFF (A, upper). The arrows denote two additional 3M AFFF amendments that were made to the live cultures. The "Total PFAS" concentration (A) represents the sum of all PFAS compounds plotted in A and B. Plot B (lower) is related to plot A: the y-axis scale has been decreased to zoom in on measured PFAS compounds. Error bars represent the standard deviation of triplicate biological bottles.



Figure A4.5. The total PFAS concentrations measured in live cultures, autoclaved cultures, and medium controls initially amended with 3M AFFF. The two additional 3M AFFF amendments were made to the live cultures only.



Figure A4.6. Concentrations of all measured PFAS compounds in live cultures initially amended with National Foam AFFF (A, upper). The arrow denotes a 3M AFFF amendment that was made to live cultures only. The "Total PFAS" concentration in A represents the sum of all PFAS compounds measured in the live cultures, while plot B (lower) shows the total PFAS concentration measured in the autoclaved cultures and medium control.



Figure A4.7. Concentrations of all measured PFAS compounds in live cultures initially amended with Ansul AFFF (A, upper). The arrow denotes a 3M AFFF amendment that was made to live cultures only. The "Total PFAS" concentration in A represents the sum of all PFAS compounds measured in the live cultures, while plot B (lower) shows the total PFAS concentration measured in the autoclaved cultures and medium control.


Figure A4.8. Hydrogen production and consumption in lactate, lactate + DGBE, and DGBEonly amended conditions. This figure is related to text Figure 4B: the y-axis scale has been decreased in order to zoom in on the measured hydrogen concentrations in these experiments.



Figure A4.9. Production of cDCE (A), vinyl chloride (B), and ethene (C) following TCE dechlorination in a *Dehalococcoides* enrichment culture amended with various concentrations of AFFF constituents.



Figure A4.10 Methane production (A) and hydrogen production and consumption (B) during TCE dechlorination in a *Dehalococcoides* enrichment culture amended with various concentrations of AFFF constituents.



Figure A4.11. Production of cDCE (A), vinyl chloride (B), and ethene (C) following TCE dechlorination in a *Dehalococcoides* enrichment culture amended with various concentrations of PFAAs (PFSAs and PFCAs) and PFSA



Figure A4.12. Methane production (A) and hydrogen production and consumption (B) during TCE dechlorination in a *Dehalococcoides* enrichment culture amended with various concentrations of PFAAs (PFSAs and PFCAs) and PFSAs.

Appendix: Chapter 5

Figures A5.1-A5.13. Stable carbon isotope fractionation of TCE during different culture growth conditions (A), and the linear regression plot of the Rayleigh equation used to calculate the enrichment factor, ε (B). Symbols collectively represent measurements from triplicate bottles.



Fig. A5.1. Dhc strain 195 – standard growth

Fig. A5.3. Dhc strain $195 - 3 \mu g/L$ vitamin B_{12}





Fig. A5.4. Dhc strain 195 – 22°C incubation

Fig. A5.5. Dhc strain 195 – 1.6 mM aqueous vinyl chloride



Fig. A5.6. Dhc strain 195 + Desulfovibrio vulgaris Hildenborough - 5mM lactate



Fig. A5.7. Dhc strain 195 + Syntrophomonas wolfei – 5 mM lactate





Fig. A5.8. Dhc strain 195 + Syntrophomonas wolfei – 20 mM crotonate



Fig. A5.12. Dhc enrichment - HiTCE



y = -7.1948x

, R² = 0.9821

-3.0

141

Figures A5.14-A5.16. Time course plots for TCE degradation (A5.14), cDCE production (A5.15) and VC production (A5.16) in Dhc195 pure and co-cultures. Error bars, where shown, represent the standard deviation for biological triplicates. The calculated fraction of each chloroethene was corrected for sample removal. The vinyl chloride fraction plotted for "Dhc195, elevated VC" includes biologically produced VC only.



Fig. A5.14. TCE degradation in Dhc195 pure and co-cultures.

Fig. A5.15. cDCE production in Dhc195 pure and co-cultures.





Fig. A5.16. VC production in Dhc195 pure and co-cultures.

Figures A5.17- A5.19. Time course plots for TCE degradation (A5.17), cDCE production (A5.18) and VC production (A5.19) in Dhc enrichment cultures. Error bars, where shown, represent the standard deviation for biological triplicates. The calculated fraction of each chloroethene was corrected for sample removal.



Fig. A5.17. TCE degradation in Dhc enrichment cultures

Fig. A5.18. cDCE production in Dhc enrichment cultures.



Fig. A5.19. VC production in Dhc enrichment cultures.



Figure A5.20. Product isotope ratios during reductive dechlorination of TCE to cDCE and VC by Dhc enrichment culture LoTCEB12/Parent. The dotted line indicates the isotope mass balance calculated at each time point by summing the product of each chloroethene molar ratio (corrected for sample removal) and its associated isotope ratio.

